 WILEY | }
GAAP for

Governments

2017




Subscriber
Update
Service

BECOME A SUBSCRIBER!

Did you purchase this product from a bookstore?

If you did, it's important for you to become a subscriber. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. may
publish, on a periodic basis, supplements and new editions to reflect the latest changes in
the subject matter that you need to know in order stay competitive in this everchanging
industry. By contacting the Wiley office nearest you, you'll receive any current update at
no additional charge. In addition, you’ll receive future updates and revised or related
volumes on a thirty-day examination review.

If you purchased this product directly from John Wiley & Sons, Inc., we have already
recorded your subscription for this update service.

To become a subscriber, please call 1-877-762-2974 or send your name, company hame
(if applicable), address, and the title of the product to

mailing address: Supplement Department
John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
One Wiley Drive
Somerset, NJ 08875

e-mail: subscriber@wiley.com
fax: 1-732-302-2300
online: www.wiley.com

For customers outside the United States, please contact the Wiley office nearest you:

Professional & Reference Division John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

John Wiley & Sons Canada, Ltd. The Atrium

22 Worcester Road Southern Gate, Chichester
Etobicoke, Ontario MOW 1L1 West Sussex, PO19 8SQ
CANADA ENGLAND

416-236-4433 Phone: 44-1243-779777

Phone: 1-800-567-4797 Fax: 44-1243-775878

Fax: 416-236-4447 Email: customer@wiley.co.uk
Email: canada @jwiley.com

John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd. John Wiley & Sons (Asia) Pte. Ltd.
33 Park Road 2 Clementi Loop #02-01

P.O. Box 1226 SINGAPORE 129809

Milton, Queensland 4064 Phone: 65-64632400
AUSTRALIA Fax: 65-64634604/5/6

Phone: 61-7-3859-9755 Customer Service: 65-64604280
Fax: 61-7-3859-9715 Email: enquiry @wiley.com.sg

Email: brisbane @ johnwiley.com.au


http://www.wiley.com
mailto:subscriber@wiley.com
mailto:canada@jwiley.com
mailto:enquiry@wiley.com.sg
mailto:brisbane@johnwiley.com.au
mailto:customer@wiley.co.uk

~ WILEY
GAAP for

Governments

2017

Interpretation and Application of
GENERALLY ACCEPTED
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

for State and Local Governments

Warren Ruppel

WILEY



This edition first published 2017
@ 2017 John Wiley & Sons Ltd

Registered office
John Wiley & Sons Ltd, The Atrium, Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex, PO19 8SQ, United Kingdom.

For details of our global editorial offices, for customer services and for information about how to apply for
permission to reuse the copyright material in this book please visit our website at www.wiley.com.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any
form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, except as permitted by the UK
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, without the prior permission of the publisher.

Wiley publishes in a variety of print and electronic formats and by print-on-demand. Some material included with
standard print versions of this book may not be included in e-books or in print-on-demand. If this book refers to
media such as a CD or DVD that is not included in the version you purchased, you may download this material at
http://booksupport.wiley.com. For more information about Wiley products, visit www.wiley.com.

Designations used by companies to distinguish their products are often claimed as trademarks. All brand names and
product names used in this book are trade names, service marks, trademarks or registered trademarks of their
respective owners. The publisher is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

Limit of Liability/Disclaimer of Warranty: While the publisher and author have used their best efforts in preparing
this book, they make no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of
this book and specifically disclaim any implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. It is
sold on the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering professional services and neither the
publisher nor the author shall be liable for damages arising herefrom. If professional advice or other expert
assistance is required, the services of a competent professional should be sought.

ISBN 978-1-119-38146-4 (pbk) ISBN 978-1-119-38147-1 (ebk)
ISBN 978-1-119-38148-8 (ebk) ISBN 978-1-119-38149-5 (ebk)

Set in 10/12pt TimesLTStd by Thomson Digital, Noida, India
Printed in the United States of America by Bind Rite


http://www.wiley.com
http://booksupport.wiley.com
http://www.wiley.com

CONTENTS

O 0 N AN U B WD =

[\ T NO N O B (O R T e e T e e e e
W NN = O O 0NN N R WD = O

Preface

About the Author

New Developments

Foundations of Governmental Accounting
Fund Accounting Fundamentals

General Fund and Special Revenue Funds
Capital Projects Funds

Debt Service Funds

Proprietary Funds

Fiduciary Funds

Financial Statements Prepared by Governments
The Importance of Budgets to Governments
Definition of the Reporting Entity

Cash and Investments—Valuation and Disclosures
Derivative Instruments

Capital Assets

Debt and Other Obligations

Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs
Postemployment Benefits—Pension and Other
Compensated Absences

Accounting for Leases

Nonexchange Transactions

Risk Financing and Insurance-Related Activities/Public Entity Risk Pools

Pension and OPEB Plan Financial Statements

Educational and Other Governmental Entities

Appendix: Disclosure Checklist

Index

vii

ix

29
49
61
73
81
93

103

169

181

225

283

309

341

379

389

443

453

473

487

513

589

603

645






PREFACE

Governmental accounting is a specialized area that has undergone significant changes over
the past few decades. As governmental accounting standards have developed, the complexities of
preparing financial statements for governmental entities have greatly increased. Providing
meaningful financial information to a wide range of users is not an easy task. Adding to these
challenges, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) brought sweeping changes to
the governmental financial reporting model and is now continuing the process of addressing many
important accounting areas related to that model.

Given this rapidly changing environment, the financial statement preparer needs a technical
resource that provides more than accurate, competent technical information. The resource needs to
be written to fit today’s governmental accounting environment. It needs to take a fresh look at
some of the long-standing accounting questions faced by governments and to provide meaningful
up-to-date information on recently issued and soon-to-be-issued accounting pronouncements.

The purpose of this book is to meet these needs by providing a useful, complete, and practical
guide to governmental accounting principles and financial reporting. Throughout, the book will
provide the reader with:

¢ An understanding of the concepts and theories underlying each topic discussed.

e A complete, authoritative reference source to assure the reader that all aspects of a
particular topic are covered.

e Practical guidance to allow financial statement preparers and auditors to meet the
requirements of generally accepted accounting principles for governments and to effi-
ciently and effectively implement new requirements.

The approach used in this book is to provide the reader with useful information in a usable
format. Accounting theory must correspond with practical examples to be useful, because theory
seldom matches the specific situation. For technical information to be usable, it must be clearly
presented without clutter and unnecessary repetition. The substance of accounting requirements
must also be understood in order for them to be properly applied. Understanding the reasons why
technical requirements exist is an important ingredient in properly applying accounting standards.

The 2017 edition of this book begins with an overview of governmental accounting principles
and a description of the various types of funds currently in use by governmental entities. It then
describes basic financial statements and provides guidance for reporting various assets, liabilities,
revenues, and expenses/expenditures. Finally, it examines the accounting and financial reporting
requirements for several specific types of governmental entities. The book also includes a
“Disclosure Checklist,” which should prove very helpful in determining the completeness of
a governmental entity’s financial statement disclosures.

This book would not have come to fruition without the hard work and perseverance of a
number of individuals. John DeRemigis of John Wiley & Sons had the confidence to work with
me in developing the original concept for the book and in ensuring its continuing quality and
success. Pam Reh’s efforts in producing past editions of the book are greatly appreciated, as are the
current members of the Wiley team.

vii
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The 2017 Governmental GAAP Guide incorporates all of the pronouncements issued by
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) through February 2017. This chapter
is designed to keep the reader up to date on all pronouncements recently issued by the GASB
and their effective dates, as well as to report on the Exposure Drafts, Preliminary Views, and
Invitations to Comment for proposed new statements or interpretations that are currently
outstanding. This chapter also includes relevant information on the GASB’s Technical
Agenda for the upcoming year to give readers information as to potential areas for future

GASB requirements.

RECENTLY ISSUED GASB STATEMENTS AND THEIR EFFECTIVE DATES

Where in
GASB Statement Effective Date This Book
72 Fair Value Measurement and Application  Periods beginning after June 15, 2015 Chapter 12
73 Accounting and Financial Reporting for Fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2016, for Chapter 17
Pensions and Related Assets That Are Not pensions not within the scope of GASB 68
within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, Fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2015,
and Amendments to Certain Provisions of for asset reporting and GASB 67 and 68
GASB Statements 67 and 68 Amendments
74  Financial Reporting for Postemployment  Fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2016  Chapter 22

Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans
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75 Accounting and Financial Reporting for Fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2017  Chapter 17
Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions

76 The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Periods beginning after June 15, 2015 Chapter 2
Accounting Principles for State and
Local Governments

77 Tax Abatement Disclosures Periods beginning after December 15, 2015  Chapter 9

78  Pensions Provided through Certain Multi- Periods beginning after December 15, Chapter 17
Employer Defined Benefit Plans 2015

79  Certain External Investment Pools Periods beginning after June 15, 2015 Chapter 12

80 Blending Requirements for Certain Periods beginning after June 15, 2016 Chapter 11

Component Units—An Amendment of
GASB Statement No. 14
81 Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements Periods beginning after December 15, Chapter 12
2016
82  Pension Issues—An Amendment of GASB  Periods beginning after June 15, 2016
Statements No. 67, No. 68, and No. 73

83  Certain Asset Retirement Obligations Periods beginning after June 15, 2018 Chapter 14
84  Fiduciary Activities Periods beginning after December 15, Chapter 8
2018

The GASB has a number of Exposure Drafts and Preliminary Views that it has issued, which
will affect future accounting and financial reporting requirements when final standards are
developed. The following provides a brief synopsis of what is being covered by each Exposure
Draft and Preliminary Views document. Readers should always be aware that the GASB often
modifies proposal stage literature based upon its continuing deliberations and consideration of
comments that it receives on each Exposure Draft and Preliminary Views document.

EXPOSURE DRAFTS

Exposure Drafts—Implementation Guides

The GASB has two Exposure Drafts related to implementation guides.The first, which was
issued in November 2016, will result in an annual update to the GASB’s Comprehensive
Implementation Guide. The second, which was issued in December 2016, will contain imple-
mentation guidance for GASB Statement Nos. 74 and 75 on Other Postemployment Benefits.

GASB Implementation Guides are considered authoritative GAAP for governments and
consist of a series of very specific questions and answers that are designed to assist financial
statement preparer and auditors implement GASB Statements. In some cases they address practice
questions that arise; in other cases they address questions that the GASB chose not to specifically
address in a GASB Statement itself.

Exposure Draft—Omnibus 201X

The GASB issued this Exposure Draft in September 2016 to address certain specific issues
across a wide variety of topics. Specifically, the Exposure Draft states that its objective is to
address practice issues that have been identified during implementation and application of certain
GASB Statements. The Exposure Draft addresses a variety of topics including issues related to
component unit presentation, goodwill, fair value measurement and application, and postemploy-
ment benefits (pensions and other postemployment benefits [OPEB]).
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Specifically, a Statement resulting from this Exposure Draft would address the following
topics:

e Blending a component unit in circumstances in which the primary government is a
business-type activity that reports a single column for financial statement presentation.

¢ Amounts reported as goodwill and “negative” goodwill.

¢ How to classify real estate held for both operations and investment purposes by insurance
entities.

e Measuring certain money market investments and participating interest-earning invest-
ment contracts at amortized cost.

¢ Timing of the measurement of pension and OPEB liabilities and related expenditures
recognized in financial statements prepared using the current financial resources mea-
surement focus.

e Recognition of on-behalf payments for pensions or OPEB in employer financial
statements.

e Presentation of payroll-related measures in required supplementary information for
purposes of reporting by OPEB plans and employers that provide OPEB.

¢ (lassification of employer-paid member contributions for OPEB.

¢ Simplifications related to the alternative measurement method for OPEB.

¢ Accounting and financial reporting for OPEB provided through certain multiple-employer
defined benefit OPEB plans.

Effective Date

The requirements of this proposed Statement would be effective for reporting periods
beginning after June 15, 2017. Earlier application would be encouraged.

Exposure Draft—Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues

The GASB issued this Exposure Draft in August 2016. Its Summary highlights the following
items that are addressed.

Accounting and Financial Reporting for In-Substance Defeasance of Debt Using Only
Existing Resources

Statement No. 7, Advance Refundings Resulting in Defeasance of Debt, requires that debt be
considered defeased in substance if the debtor irrevocably places refunding debt proceeds with an
escrow agent in a trust to be used solely for satisfying scheduled payments of both principal and
interest of the defeased debt. The trust also is required to meet certain conditions for the transaction
to qualify as an in-substance defeasance. This Exposure Draft would establish essentially the same
requirements if a government places only existing resources in a trust to extinguish the debt. Any
difference between the reacquisition price (the amount required to be placed in the trust) and the
net carrying amount of the debt defeased in substance using only existing resources would be
recognized as a separately identified gain or loss in the period of the defeasance in financial
statements using the economic resources measurement focus.

Governments that defease debt using only existing resources would provide a general
description of the transaction in the notes to the financial statements in the period of
the defeasance. In all periods following an in-substance defeasance of debt using only
existing resources, the amount of that debt that remains outstanding at period-end would be
disclosed.
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Prepaid Insurance Related to Extinguished Debt

For governments that extinguish debt, whether through a legal extinguishment or through
an in-substance defeasance, this Exposure Draft would require that any remaining prepaid
insurance related to the extinguished debt be included in the net carrying amount of that debt for
the purpose of calculating the difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying
amount of the debt.

Notes to Financial Statements for In-Substance Defeasance Transactions

One of the criteria for determining an in-substance defeasance is that the trust be limited to
holding only monetary assets that are classified as being essentially risk free. If the substitution of
essentially risk-free monetary assets with monetary assets that are not essentially risk free is not
prohibited, governments would disclose that fact in the period in which the debt is defeased in
substance. In subsequent periods, governments would disclose the amount of debt defeased in
substance that remains outstanding for which that risk of substitution exists.

NOTE: One implementation question not addressed by this Exposure Draft is how could an in-substance
defeasance be accomplished if monetary assets that are not essentially risk free are used to defease the debt?
Having disclosure requirements related to monetary assets that are not essentially risk free results in this
question.

Effective Date and Transition

The requirements of this proposed Statement would be effective for reporting periods
beginning after June 15, 2017. Earlier application would be encouraged.

Exposure Draft—Leases

The GASB issued this Exposure Draft in January 2016. A Standard resulting from this
Exposure Draft will result in significant changes in the accounting for leases. This project is
similar to a project completed by the FASB, although the accounting requirements are not at all
identical.

The Summary of the Exposure Draft provides the following information.

Definition of a Lease

A lease would be defined as a contract that conveys the right to use a nonfinancial asset (the
underlying asset) for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like transaction. Examples of
nonfinancial assets include buildings, land, vehicles, and equipment. Any contract that meets
this definition would be accounted for under the proposed leases guidance, unless specifically
excluded.

Lease Term

The lease term would be defined as the period during which a lessee has a noncancelable
right to use an underlying asset, plus the following periods, if applicable, covered by a lessee’s
option to:

a. Extend the lease if it is reasonably certain, based on all relevant factors, that the lessee will
exercise that option.

b. Terminate the lease if it is reasonably certain, based on all relevant factors, that the lessee
will not exercise that option.
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A fiscal funding or cancellation clause would be considered in determining the lease term
only when it is reasonably certain that the clause will be exercised.

Lessees and lessors would reassess the lease term only if the lessee does either of the
following:

a. Elects to exercise an option even though the lessor or lessee had previously determined
that it was reasonably certain that the lessee would not exercise that option.

b. Elects to not exercise an option even though the lessor or lessee had previously
determined that it was reasonably certain that the lessee would exercise that option.

Lessee Accounting

A lessee would recognize a lease liability and a lease asset at the beginning of a lease, unless
the lease is a short-term lease or transfers ownership of the underlying asset. The lease liability
would be measured at the present value of payments expected to be made for the lease term.
The lease asset would be measured at the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
plus any payments made to the lessor at or before the beginning of the lease and certain indirect
costs.

A lessee would reduce the lease liability as payments are made and recognize an outflow of
resources for interest on the liability. The lessee would amortize the lease asset in a systematic and
rational manner over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the underlying asset. The
notes to the financial statements would include a description of leasing arrangements, the amount
of lease assets recognized, and a schedule of future lease payments to be made.

Lessor Accounting

A lessor would recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources at the
beginning of a lease, with certain exceptions (including a short-term lease or a lease that transfers
ownership of the underlying asset). A lessor would not derecognize the asset underlying the lease.
The lease receivable would be measured at the present value of lease payments expected to be
received for the lease term. The deferred inflow of resources would be measured at the value of the
lease receivable plus any payments received at or prior to the beginning of the lease that relate to
future periods.

A lessor would recognize interest revenue on the lease receivable and an inflow of resources
(for example, revenue) from the deferred inflow of resources in a systematic and rational manner
over the term of the lease. The notes to the financial statements would include a description of
leasing arrangements and the total amount of revenue recognized from leases.

NOTE: This is a significant departure from the FASB standard, which does not significantly change lessor
accounting for what are currently referred to as operating leases.

Contracts with Multiple Components and Contract Combinations

Generally, a government would account for the lease and nonlease components of a lease as
separate contracts. If a lease involves multiple underlying assets, lessees and lessors generally
would account for each underlying asset as a separate lease contract. To allocate consideration
required under the contract to different components, lessees and lessors would use contract prices
for individual components if reasonable based on observable stand-alone prices. Under certain
circumstances, multiple components in a lease contract would be accounted for as a single lease
unit. Contracts that are entered into at or near the same time with the same counterparty and meet
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certain criteria would be considered part of the same lease contract and would be evaluated in
accordance with the guidance on contracts with multiple components.

NOTE: Nonlease component might involve maintenance contracts that are part of a rental payment.

Short-Term Leases

A short-term lease would be defined as a lease that, at the beginning of the lease, has a
maximum possible term under the contract of 12 months or less, including any options to extend,
regardless of its probability of being exercised. Lessees and lessors would recognize short-term
lease payments as outflows of resources or inflows of resources, respectively, based on the
payment provisions of the contract.

NOTE: Provisions in the Exposure Draft will discourage constant rollover of short-term leases, particularly
between related entities, to avoid the accounting requirement summarized herein.

Lease Terminations and Modifications

An amendment to a lease contract would be considered a lease modification, unless the
lessee’s right to use the underlying asset decreases, in which case it would be a partial termination.
A lease termination would be accounted for by reducing the carrying values of the lease liability
and lease asset by a lessee, or the lease receivable and deferred inflow of resources by the lessor,
with any difference being recognized as a gain or loss. A lease modification generally would
be accounted for by remeasuring the lease liability and adjusting the related lease asset by alessee,
or remeasuring the lease receivable and adjusting the related deferred inflow of resources by a
lessor.

Subleases and Leaseback Transactions

Subleases would be treated as transactions separate from the original lease. The original
lessee that becomes the lessor in a sublease would account for the original lease and the sublease as
separate transactions as a lessee and lessor, respectively.

A transaction would qualify for sale-leaseback accounting only if it includes a qualifying sale.
Otherwise, it is a borrowing. The sale and leaseback portions of a transaction would be accounted
for as separate sale and lease transactions, except that any difference between the carrying value of
the capital asset that was sold and the net proceeds from the sale would be reported as a deferred
inflow of resources or a deferred outflow of resources and recognized over the term of the
leaseback.

A lease-leaseback transaction would be accounted for as a net transaction. The gross amounts
of each portion of the transaction would be disclosed.

Effective Date and Transition

The requirements of this proposed Statement would be effective for reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2018. Earlier application is permitted. Leases would be recognized
and measured using the facts and circumstances that exist at the beginning of the period of
implementation (or, if applied to earlier periods, the beginning of the earliest period restated).
However, lessors would not restate the assets underlying their existing sales-type or direct
financing leases. Any residual assets for those leases would become the carrying values of the
underlying assets.
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INVITATION TO COMMENT

Financial Reporting Model Improvements—Governmental Funds

In December the GASB issued this ITC to address the accounting used by governmental
funds, currently the modified accrual basis of accounting and the current financial resources
measurement focus. This ITC requests commentary on three different replacement models for the
current model. These are the near-term financial resource model (near-term meaning 60-90 days),
the short-term resources model (short-term meaning one year) and the long-term financial
resources model (similar accounting to what is used in the government-wide statements, except
that capital assets would not be recorded.)

The ITC also requests comments on alternative presentations for the resource flows statement,
the requirement for presenting a cash flows statement, and a proposed simplification between the
government-wide and governmental fund financial statements.

While this is a very preliminary phase of this project, it seems almost certain that there will be
changes made to the basis of accounting and measurement focus used by governmental funds.

GASB PROJECT PLAN

The GASB has a number of additional important projects on its agenda that will likely affect
governmental accounting and financial reporting in the future. Some of the more significant
projects are as follows.

Financial reporting model. The ITC discussed earlier in this chapter is part of this project,
which is taking a fresh look at the basic financial reporting model required by GASBS 34, as
amended, to determine if it is working effectively and whether any changes to the model need to be
made.

Revenue and expense recognition. This project is somewhat in response to a recent FASB
standard on revenue recognition. The GASB is examining whether a similar standard should be
adopted for governments. The GASB has also added expense recognition to this project.

SUMMARY

The GASB, as always, maintains an active agenda, and the accounting and financial reporting
standards for governments are consistently evolving. Financial statement preparers need to keep
an eye on emerging new GASB pronouncements to ensure that they have adequate time to plan for
their implementation, as well as to inform financial statement users about their potential impacts.
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INTRODUCTION

The field of governmental accounting and financial reporting has undergone significant growth
and development over the last 30 years. Generally accepted accounting principles for governments
were once a loosely defined set of guidelines followed by some governments and governmental
entities, but now have developed into highly specialized standards used in financial reporting by an
increasing number of these entities. Because of this standardization, users are able to place additional
reliance on these entities’ financial statements.The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) has designed a model for financial reporting by governments that results in a significantly
different look to governmental financial statements from those of the past, as well as from those of
commercial organizations. There have also been substantive changes in the accounting principles
used by governments. Governmental financial statement preparers, auditors, and users must have a
complete understanding of these requirements to fulfill their financial reporting obligations.

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

This chapter provides a background on the development and purpose of governmental
accounting standards. The topics in this chapter follow.

¢ Entities covered by governmental accounting principles.
e Overview of the history of governmental accounting standards setting.

9
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¢ Objectives of governmental accounting and financial reporting.
¢ Communication methods.

¢ Elements of financial statements.

e Hierarchy of governmental accounting standards.

ENTITIES COVERED BY GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

This book addresses this topic in much more detail throughout its later chapters as specific
types of entities are discussed. However, in general, the following entities are covered by
governmental generally accepted accounting principles:

e State governments.

e Local governments such as cities, towns, counties, and villages.

¢ Public authorities such as economic development, parking, housing, water and sewer, and
airport authorities.

e Governmental colleges and universities.

e School districts.

¢ Public employee retirement systems.

e Public hospitals and other health care providers.

Throughout this book, when “governmental entities” or “governments” are mentioned, the
reference is to these types of entities. Governments covered by governmental accounting
principles are sometimes distinguished as general-purpose governments (which include states,
cities, towns, counties, and villages) and special-purpose governments (which is a term used in
GASBS 34, Basic Financial Statements—and Management’s Discussion and Analyses, to refer to
governments and governmental entities other than general-purpose governments). Both general-
purpose and special-purpose governments are covered by governmental generally accepted
accounting principles and by this book.

Not-for-profit organizations are not included within the scope of governmental accounting
standards unless they are considered governmental not-for-profit organizations (discussed in detail
below), nor are the federal government and its various agencies and departments. Not-for-profit
organizations and the federal government are sometimes confused with the governments that this
book is addressing when they are homogenized into something commonly referred to as the
“public sector.” Not all public-sector entities (as described above) are subject to governmental
accounting principles and standards.

Distinguishing a Governmental Entity from a Not-for-Profit Organization

Some organizations are difficult to categorize as either a governmental entity or not-for-profit
organization. For example, local governments may set up economic development corporations
that have many characteristics of not-for-profit organizations, including federal tax-exempt status
under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. However, these organizations are usually
considered governmental not-for-profit organizations that should follow generally accepted
accounting principles for governments. A definition of a governmental not-for-profit organization
(subject to the accounting standards promulgated by the GASB) is found in the AICPA Audit and
Accounting Guide State and Local Governments (the Guide). The Guide defines governmental
organizations as “public corporations and bodies corporate and politic.” Other organizations are
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governmental organizations under the Guide’s definition if they have one or more of the following
characteristics:

¢ Popular election of officers or appointment (or approval) of a controlling majority of the
members of the organization’s governing body by officials in one or more state or local
governments.

e The potential for unilateral dissolution by a government with the net assets reverting to a
government.

e The power to enact or enforce a tax levy.

In applying the above definitions, a public corporation is described in the Guide as an artificial
person, such as a municipality or a governmental corporation, created for the administration of
public affairs. Unlike a private corporation, it has no protection against legislative acts altering or
even repealing its charter. Public corporations include instrumentalities created by the state,
formed and owned in the public interest, supported in whole or part by public funds, and governed
by managers deriving their authority from the state. Exhibit 1 provides some consensus examples
of public corporations often found at the state and local government level.

Furthermore, entities are presumed to be governmental if they have the ability to issue directly
(rather than through a state or municipal authority) debt that pays interest exempt from federal
taxation. However, entities possessing only that ability (to issue tax-exempt debt) and none of the
other governmental characteristics may rebut the presumption that they are governmental if their
determination is supported by compelling, relevant evidence.

The Guide provides that entities are governmental or nongovernmental for accounting,
financial reporting, and auditing purposes based solely on the application of the preceding criteria
and that other factors are not determinative. As an example the Guide provides that the fact that an
entity is incorporated as a not-for-profit organization and exempt from federal income taxation
under the provisions of Section 501 of the Internal Revenue Code is not a criterion in determining
whether an entity is governmental or nongovernmental for accounting, financial reporting, and
auditing purposes.

NOTE: GASBS 34 eliminated some of the apparent inconsistencies that existed in the past about financial
reporting for governmental not-for-profit organizations. Under GASBS 34, they are special-purpose
governments that should follow the accounting guidance as delineated under GASBS 34 and all other
applicable GASB pronouncements.

Exhibit 1

The following are examples of “public corporations” that are often found at the state and local
government level. These organizations would usually be considered governmental entities when the
definition provided in the Guide is applied.

* Public hospital.

* Public college or university.

¢ Economic development corporation.
* Housing authority.

* Water and sewer utility.

¢ Electric or gas utility.

* Industrial development authority.

* Educational construction authority.
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Typically, these organizations are created by acts of state legislatures. Their continued existence
and legal authority to operate can generally be changed at the discretion of the state legislature.

GASBS 39, Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component Units—An
Amendment of GASB Statement No. 14, resulted in more not-for-profit organizations being
included within the financial reporting entity of a government or governmental entity. In these
cases, GASBS 39 does not require that these not-for-profit organizations comply with the
financial reporting requirements for governments. Despite their inclusion within a govern-
ment’s reporting entity, many of these types of organizations (such as fundraising founda-
tions) would not be considered governmental organizations and would still report their
separately issued financial statements using the standards of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB). The financial statement preparer should incorporate the not-
for-profit organization’s financial statements (reported using FASB principles) within the
governmental reporting model (using GASB principles) which may require that the not-for-
profit organization actually be reported somewhat separately from the primary government,
such as on a separate page. Appendix E of GASBS 39 provides an illustration of including a
not-for-profit organization foundation with a governmental university. GASBS 39 is more fully
discussed in Chapter 11.

OVERVIEW OF THE HISTORY OF GOVERNMENTAL
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS SETTING

Understanding how governmental accounting standards were developed appears difficult at
first because it seems that so many different entities and organizations were involved in the
standards-setting process. Working from the current process through history is the easiest way to
understand the interrelationships of the various entities involved. Currently, governmental
accounting standards are established by the GASB. The GASB is a “sister” organization to
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). The FASB establishes accounting standards
for private-sector entities, including both commercial entities and not-for-profit organizations.
Both the FASB and the GASB are overseen by the Financial Accounting Foundation (FAF), an
independent, private-sector organization that, among other things is responsible for the oversight,
administration, and finances of the GASB and FASB.

NOTE: One significant difference between the GASB and the FASB is the FASB’s role in setting accounting
principles for public companies. Under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, accounting standards for public
companies are the responsibility of the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The SEC continues
to recognize accounting standards promulgated by the FASB.

Prior to the formation of the GASB, governmental accounting standards were promulgated by
the National Council on Governmental Accounting (NCGA). The NCGA was an outgrowth of a
group called the National Committee on Governmental Accounting, which itself was an
outgrowth of a group called the National Committee on Municipal Accounting (NCMA). These
groups were sponsored by the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA), originally
known as the Municipal Finance Officers Association (MFOA).

The first of several collections of municipal accounting standards issued by the NCGA in
1934 became known as the “blue book.” Subsequently, a second blue book was issued by the
NCGA in 1951, and a third was issued in 1968, entitled Governmental Accounting, Auditing, and
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Financial Reporting (GAAFR). Subsequent versions of this book were issued in 1980, 1988, and
1994. In 2001, the GFOA issued a major revision of the GAAFR to incorporate the changes to
governmental financial reporting as a result of GASBS 34. Another update was published in 2005
to include the new standards for accounting and reporting for postemployment benefits other than
pensions established by GASBS 43 and 45. A 2012 update includes reporting deferred inflows and
outflows of resources under GASBS 63 and 65. However, these later blue books were different
from the 1968 and prior blue books in that they were not meant to be authoritative sources of
governmental accounting standards. None of the 1988 through 2012 blue books would be an
authoritative source of accounting standards, since the GASB was created in 1984 to serve this
purpose; thus the GFOA no longer has the ability to issue authoritative accounting standards. Even
with the issuance of the 1980 blue book, the GFOA (then known as the MFOA) decided not to use
the blue book as a means of promulgating new accounting standards. Rather, the focus of the blue
book was changed to provide financial statement preparers (and their auditors) with detailed and
practical guidance to implement authoritative accounting standards. The blue book continues to be
used by the GFOA to set the requirements for its “Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in
Financial Reporting” program, covered in Chapter 9.

NOTE: The FASB world of accounting standards has recently been dominated by a move to “converge”
standards with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as promulgated by the International
Accounting Standards Board. The reader may wonder if there is an equivalent process in place in the world
of government accounting standards. The answer is yes, although there is not nearly the same momentum or
drive to converge the US standards with the international standards. Rather, the International Public Sector
Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) has a strategy to converge its International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSAS) with IFRS, which are issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. As part of
this strategy, IPSASB has developed guidelines for modifying IFRS for application by public sector entities.
As discussed later in this chapter, the hierarchy of accounting principles for governments includes IPSAS
standards as “other accounting literature.” The FAF, along with the GASB and FASB, has recently
developed a strategic plan, which mentions increased involvement of the GASB in international standards
as a goal.

OBJECTIVES OF GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL REPORTING

In describing the history of the governmental accounting standards development process, one
could logically ask the question, “Why were separate accounting and financial reporting standards
needed for governments?” The answer to this depends on the identities of the groups of readers
and users of the financial statements of state and local governments, the objectives of these readers
and users, and the overall objectives of governmental financial reporting.

GASB Concepts Statement 1

The GASB addressed this basic question relatively soon after it was created to serve as an
underpinning for all of its future standards-setting work. The GASB issued Concepts Statement 1,
Objectives of Financial Reporting (GASBCS 1), which identifies the primary users of the financial
statements of state and local governments and their main objectives.

To determine the objectives of governmental financial reporting, the GASB first set forth the
significant characteristics of the governmental environment. These characteristics are listed in
Exhibit 2.
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Exhibit 2: Characteristics of the governmental environment under GASB Concepts Statement 1

* Primary characteristics of a government’s structure and the services it provides.
¢ Control characteristics resulting from a government’s structure.

* Use of fund accounting for control purposes.

* Dissimilarities between similarly designated governments.

* Significant investment in non-revenue-producing capital assets.

* Nature of the political process.

* Users of financial reporting.

¢ Uses of financial reporting.

* Business-type activities.

Each of these characteristics is described in the following pages.

Primary Characteristics of a Government’s Structure and the Services It Provides

The representative form of government and the separation of powers. This empha-
sizes that the ultimate power of governments is derived from the citizenry. The most
common forms of government used in the United States are based on a separation of
power among three branches of government: executive, legislative, and judiciary.

The federal system of government and the prevalence of intergovernmental revenues.
This characteristic describes the three primary levels of government: federal, state, and local.
Because of differences in abilities to raise revenues through taxes and other means, many
intergovernmental grants result in revenues passing from one level to another. For example,
federal funds for the Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) program start at the
federal level and flow through the states to local governments, where the program is actually
administered.

The relationship of taxpayers to service receivers. In terms of impact on the objectives
of financial reporting, this characteristic of governments may be the most significant.
Following are some interesting points that the GASB included in GASBCS 1 that may
affect financial reporting objectives:

e Taxpayers are involuntary resource providers. They cannot choose whether to pay their
taxes.

e Taxes paid by an individual taxpayer generally are based on the value of property
owned or income earned and seldom have a proportional relationship to the cost or
value of the services received by the individual taxpayer.

o There is no exchange relationship between resources provided and services received.
Most individual taxes do not pay for specific services.

e The government generally has a monopoly on the services that it provides.

e [t is difficult to measure optimal quality or quantity for many of the services provided
by governments. Those receiving the services cannot decide the quantity or quality of a
particular service of the government.

Control Characteristics Resulting from a Government’s Structure

The budget as an expression of public policy and financial intent and a method of
providing control. In the commercial world, revenues exceeding budget and expenses
under budget would almost always be considered good things. In the governmental
environment, higher revenues might indicate that taxes are set too high. Even more
problematic, expenditures below budget might indicate that levels of spending for public
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purposes are not achieved because the budgeted funding level is a matter of public policy.
Politically speaking, expenditures below budget might not be a good thing, unless the
reductions were achieved by unanticipated efficiencies.

e The budget is a financial plan or expression of financial intent. This is a similar
concept to the public policy question, but also brings into consideration the fact that the
budgets of governments generally need to be balanced; for instance, revenues should equal
expenditures, highlighting the concept that governments need to live within their means.

¢ The budget is a form of control that has the force of law. Since governments’ budgets
generally are subject to approval of both executive and legislative branches (similar to the
process for other forms of legislation), violation of the budget’s spending authority can be
construed as a violation of the law.

e The budget may be used as a mechanism to evaluate performance. This characteristic
is generally less useful in the government environment than in the commercial environ-
ment, since performance evaluation is not viewed as the primary purpose of the budget. To
be effective, comparison of budgeted to actual results over time would have to be made, as
well as consideration of the government’s service efforts and accomplishments.

Use of fund accounting for control purposes. Most governments are required by law to use
a fund accounting structure as a means to control use of resources. In some cases, bond indentures
may require establishing and maintaining funds. In other cases, the government may decide to use
fund accounting not because it is required, but simply because it can provide a useful control
mechanism for distinguishing various components of its operation.

Regardless of the reason for the use of fund accounting, when examining the objectives of
financial reporting for governments, the predominant use of fund accounting must be considered
to properly recognize the potential needs of financial statement users.

Dissimilarities between similarly designated governments. GASBCS 1 concludes that the
differences in the organization of governmental entities, the services they provide, and their sources
of revenues all need to be considered when developing financial reporting objectives. For example,
different governments at the same level (for example, county governments) may provide signifi-
cantly different services to their constituents. The levels and types of services provided by county
governments depend on the services provided by the cities, towns, villages, and so forth, within the
county, as well as by the state government under which the counties exist. In other unique examples,
such as the city of New York, there are five county governments located within the city. Beyond
boundary differences, the level of provision of services (such as human services and public safety)
varies from county to county. In addition, counties also derive their primary revenues from different
sources. Some counties may rely primarily on a county tax on real property within the county. Other
counties may rely more heavily on a portion of a sales tax. The important point is that there is a high
degree of variability among governments that are at comparable levels.

NOTE: This dissimilarity, while an important characteristic to consider when determining financial
reporting objectives, is not unlike that encountered in the commercial environment. A financial statement
reader of commercial entities encounters many dissimilarities among the nature of the operations of
companies in seemingly identical industries.

Significant investment in non-revenue-producing capital assets. Governments do not
determine their capital spending plans based strictly upon return-on-investment criteria. In fact,
governments invest in large, non-revenue-producing capital assets, such as government office
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buildings, highways, bridges, sidewalks, and other infrastructure assets. In many cases, these
assets are built or purchased for public policy purposes. Along with this capital investment is a
capital maintenance assumption that governments have an obligation to maintain their capital
assets. A government’s implicit commitment to maintain its assets and its ability to delay
maintenance and rehabilitation expenditures (particularly for non-revenue-producing capital
assets) were important considerations in GASBCS 1.

Certainly return on investment is considered. Where governments engage in fee-for-
service activities, these considerations are not unlike those found in commercial company
accounting. For example, should the public water utility invest in a new piece of equipment
that will reduce its costs by $XX or enable it to serve XX number of new customers and generate
more revenue? In addition to the business-type decisions, however, governments also make cost/
benefit decisions in other seemingly non-revenue-producing activities. For example, a town may
decide to invest in new sidewalks and street lighting in its shopping district to raise property values
of the businesses in this district, as well as the overall appeal of the town itself. While this
investment is non-revenue-producing in the strictest sense, the long-term strategy of the town is
the maintenance and enhancement of its property values, and accordingly, its property tax
revenues. At the same time, the government may reduce its judgments and claims costs as the
number of trip-and-fall lawsuits decreases because of the improved infrastructures.

Nature of the political process. Governments must reconcile the conflict between the
services desired by the citizens and the citizens’ desire to provide resources to pay for those
services. The objectives of the citizenry are to obtain the maximum amount of service with a
minimum amount of taxes. These conflicts are handled by politicians whose relatively short terms
in public office encourage the use of short-term solutions to long-term problems. Accordingly,
governments are susceptible to adopting the practices of satisfying some service needs by
deferring others, paying for an increased level of services with nonrecurring revenues, and
deferring the cash effect of events, transactions, and circumstances that occur in a particular
period. GASBCS 1 concludes that to help fulfill a government’s duty to be accountable, financial
reporting should enable the user to assess the extent to which operations were funded by
nonrecurring revenues or long-term liabilities were incurred to satisfy current operating needs.

Users of financial reporting. GASBCS 1 identifies three primary groups as the users of
governmental financial reports:

e The citizenry (including taxpayers, voters, and service recipients), the media, advocate
groups, and public finance researchers.

o Legislative and oversight officials, including members of state legislatures, county com-
missions, city councils, boards of trustees, school boards, and executive branch officials.

e Investors and creditors, including individual and institutional, municipal security under-
writers, bond rating agencies, bond insurers, and financial institutions.

While these three user groups have some overlap with the commercial environment, clearly
the citizenry and legislative users are somewhat unique to governments.

NOTE: As will be further examined in Chapter 10, which examines the governmental budgeting process, the
budget to actual reporting that is considered by many as inherently necessary in governmental financial
reporting is designed to meet the needs of the citizenry and legislative users. These groups are somewhat
unique to governments as users of financial reporting. This is why budget to actual financial reporting is
included where budgets are legally adopted by governments, whereas this reporting has no counterpart in
the commercial accounting (or even the not-for-profit accounting) environment.
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For example, the expenditures budgeted in a government’s general fund represent the amounts that the
citizens/taxpayers have authorized the government (through their legislators) to spend from that fund. In
order for the government to demonstrate its financial accountability to the citizens and legislators,
information is needed within governmental financial reporting that compares the amounts actually spent
with the amounts that were legally authorized to be spent.

Uses of financial reporting. The uses of financial reporting by governments center upon
economic, political, and social decisions, as well as assessing accountability. These uses are
accomplished by the following means:

e Comparing actual financial results with the legally adopted budget. Spending in
excess of budget may indicate poor financial management, weak budgetary practices, or
uncontrollable, unforeseen circumstances. Underspending may indicate effective cost
containment or that the quality or quantity of services provided by the government could
have been increased without going over budget.

¢ Assessing financial condition and results of operations. Each of the three user groups
described above has a different primary reason for assessing a government’s financial
condition and results of operations. For example, investors and creditors are interested in
the financial condition of a government in order to assess whether the government will be
able to continue to pay its obligations and meet its debt service requirements. Similarly,
these users look to a government’s results of operations and cash flows for indications of
whether the financial condition of the government is likely to improve or worsen. As
another example, the citizenry is interested in the financial condition and operating results
of a government as indications of the need to change the rate of tax levies or increase or
decrease the levels of services provided in the future.

e Assisting in determining compliance with finance-related laws, rules, and regula-
tions. Governmental financial reports can demonstrate compliance with legally mandated
budgetary controls and controls accomplished through the use of fund accounting. For
example, if the government is legally required to have a debt service fund, and the
existence and use of such a fund is clear from a financial statement presentation,
compliance is demonstrated. Similarly, compliance with debt covenants, bond indentures,
grants, contracts, and taxing and debt limits can also be demonstrated by governmental
financial reporting.

¢ Assisting in evaluating efficiency and effectiveness. Governmental financial reporting
may be used to obtain information about service efforts, costs, and accomplishments.
Users of this information are interested in the economy, effectiveness, and efficiency of a
government. This information may form the basis of their funding or voting decisions.

NOTE: In the governmental financial reporting model promulgated by GASBS 34, the GASB concluded that both
government-wide and fund financial statements were necessary in order for the financial reporting model to meet the
financial reporting objectives and needs of users as described in GASBCS 1. The objectives described in GASBCS 1,
including the needs of the various user groups described above, were driving forces in determining how the financial
reporting model promulgated by GASBS 34 took shape.

Business-type activities. In addition to the general governmental characteristics that must be
considered in determining the appropriate objectives of financial reporting, circumstances in
which governments perform business-type activities must also be examined. Activities are
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considered “business-type” not solely because they resemble those performed by the private
sector but because there is an exchange involved between the receiver and provider of the service;
for instance, the receiver or consumer of the services is charged for those services.

The environment for the provision of business-type activities has some overlap with the
traditional governmental environment described above. However, the elements of customer and
service provider bring different characteristics into the environment that must be considered in
determining financial reporting objectives. The following list describes those characteristics that
were considered by the GASB in GASBCS 1:

¢ Relationship between services received and resources provided by the consumer. For
business-type activities, there is frequently a direct relationship between the charge for the
service and the service itself. This exchange relationship causes users of financial
information to focus on the costs of providing the service, the revenues obtained from
the service, and the difference between the two.

NOTE: The fact that a charge is assessed for a service does not imply that the charge covers all of the costs of
a service. There may be a conscious decision on the part of the government to subsidize the costs of particular
services with revenues from other sources that are not part of the exchange transaction. Less frequently, the
government may also decide to charge more than the cost of the service to provide a “profit” to be used for
some other non-business-type or governmental activity.

¢ Revenue-producing capital assets. Many of the capital assets purchased or constructed
by governments for business-type activities are revenue-producing. Many business-type
activities are capital intensive, and the need for information concerning those assets must
be considered when developing financial reporting objectives for governments.

o Similarly designated activities and potential for comparison. There is generally a
greater potential for comparability among business-type activities performing similar
functions than there is among governmental-type activities. Governmental business-type
activities generally only perform a single function, such as supplying water. The
problems, procedures, and cost components of obtaining, treating, and delivering water
are similar, regardless of whether the function is performed by a commercial enterprise, a
public authority, an enterprise fund, or as part of a government’s basic operations.

NOTE: More information to help the reader distinguish among these differences is provided in Chapter 7.
These similarities facilitate comparison of financial reporting among entities (or parts of entities) providing
similar services.

o Nature of the political process. Business-type activities are generally regarded as less
influenced by the political process because their fee-for-service operations take them out of
the budgetary debate to which governmental activities are subject. However, in many cases,
the business-type activities are subsidized by the government in order to keep the fees lower
than cost or market values. The rate-setting process then ensues and subjects the business-
type activities to pressures from the political process experienced by general governmental
activities. Similar influences from the political process develop when the general govern-
ment furnishes capital funds, even when there is no direct operating subsidy.

¢ Budgets and fund accounting. Business-type activities generally do not have legally
adopted budgets. Budgets are more likely to be used as internal management tools rather
than as a revenue and spending plan with the force of law. In addition, since business-type
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activities are generally found to perform only single functions, the use of fund accounting
is far less common than with general governmental activities.

In addition to the characteristics of governments, including those characteristics relating to general
government activities and business-type activities described above, the GASB considered three factors
in determining the financial reporting objectives for governments. These three factors are:

1. Accountability and interperiod equity.
2. Characteristics of information in financial reporting.
3. Limitations of financial reporting.

The following paragraphs describe why these are important factors in determining the
objectives of financial reporting for governments.

Accountability and interperiod equity. ASBCS 1 describes accountability as the “corner-
stone” of all financial reporting in governments. Accountability requires that governments answer
to the citizenry in order to justify the raising of public resources and the purposes for those
resources. Accountability is based on the general belief that the citizenry has a right to know
financial information and a right to receive openly declared facts that may lead to public debate by
the citizens and their elected representatives.

Interperiod equity is the concept underlying many of the balanced budget legal requirements
found in governments, which intend that the current generation of citizens should not be able to
shift the burden of paying for current-year services to future-year taxpayers. GASBCS 1 states
that interperiod equity is a significant part of accountability and is fundamental to public
administration. As such, it needs to be considered when establishing financial reporting
objectives. Financial reporting should help users assess whether current-year revenues are
sufficient to pay for the services provided that year and whether future taxpayers will be required
to assume burdens for services previously provided.

Characteristics of information in financial reporting.In order for financial information to be an
effective method of communication, it must possess certain characteristics that improve its
effectiveness. These are described in Exhibit 3.

Exhibit 3: Characteristics of effective financial reporting

e Understandable Governmental financial reporting should be expressed as simply as possible so that
financial reports can be understood by those who may not have detailed knowledge
of accounting principles. This does not mean, however, that information should be
excluded from financial reports merely because it is difficult to understand.

o Reliable The information presented in financial reports should be verifiable, free from bias,
and should faithfully represent what it purports to represent. This requires that
financial reporting be comprehensive; for instance, nothing significant or
material is left out from the information to faithfully represent the underlying
events and conditions. Reliability is affected by the amount of estimation in the
measurement process and by uncertainties inherent in the item being measured.
To this end, financial reporting may need to include narrative explanations about
the underlying assumptions and uncertainties inherent in the process.

o Relevant Relevancy implies that there is a close logical connection between the information
provided in financial reporting and its purpose. Information should be considered
relevant if it can make a difference in a user’s assessment of a problem, condition,
or event.
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e Timely If financial reports are to be useful, they must be issued soon enough after the
reported events to affect decisions. Timeliness in some circumstances may be so
essential that it may be worth sacrificing some degree of precision or detail in the
information presented.

e Consistent Presumably, once an accounting principle or reporting method is adopted, it will
be used for all similar transactions and events. Consistency should extend to all
areas of financial reporting, including valuation methods, basis of accounting,
and determination of the financial reporting entity.

e Comparable Financial reporting should facilitate comparisons between governments, such as
comparing costs of specific functions or components of revenue. Comparability
implies that differences between financial reports should be due to substantive
differences in the underlying transactions or the governmental structure, rather
than selection among different alternatives in accounting procedures or practices.

Limitations of financial reporting. GASBCS 1 acknowledges that in setting objectives of
financial reporting for governments, the limitations of financial reporting must be taken into
consideration. All financial reporting has certain inherent limitations, such as including approxi-
mations and estimates of transactions or events. The primary limitation, however, is the cost/
benefit relationship that exists in determining whether financial information should be required.
On one hand, since accountability is identified as a cornerstone of financial reporting, an almost
unlimited amount of information and detail could be required. On the other hand, too much detail
may inhibit a clear understanding of the overall financial picture of a government and its
operations. In addition, the needs of every potential reader and user of a government’s financial
statements could never realistically be identified and never practically met.

The GASB determined that in setting financial reporting standards, it should focus its
attention on the common needs of users. More importantly, the GASB acknowledged that it must
strike a balance between the almost unlimited financial reporting that could be required to
demonstrate accountability and the costs that would be incurred by governments in obtaining and
reporting the required information. The GASB also stated that it will consider factors such as the
ability of certain classes of financial statement users to obtain information by special request, the
intensity of the needs of all of the groups of users, the risks or costs to users of not having certain
types of information, and the relative costs and benefits, considering the size or type of
governmental entities involved.

The GASB issued GASB Concepts Statement 5, Service Efforts and Accomplishments
Reporting—An Amendment of GASB Concepts Statement No. 2 (GASBCS 5), to provide an
update to the service efforts and accomplishment reporting concepts contained in GASB Concepts
Statement 2, Service Efforts and Accomplishments Reporting (GASBCS 2).

The GASB has made clear that service efforts and accomplishments reporting (SEA) is not
required by generally accepted accounting principles for governments and is outside the scope of
this book. SEA reporting is more currently referred to as performance measurement. The GASB’s
role in promulgating SEA (or performance measurement reporting) concepts has been quite
controversial. GASBCS 5 makes it clear that it is beyond the scope of GASB to establish the goals
and objectives of state and local governmental services, specific nonfinancial measures or
indicators of service performance, or standards or benchmarks for service performance.

Nevertheless, the GASB issued GASBCS 5 to update GASBSCS 2 based upon the significant
amount of research performed by the GASB in SEA reporting. It identifies elements of SEA
performance measures for reporting purposes that focus on three different types of SEA
performance measures:
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e Measures of service efforts.
e Measures of service accomplishments.
e Measures that relate service efforts to service accomplishments.

GASBCS 5 also addresses the limitations of SEA performance information and comments on
the usefulness of SEA performance information.

Since there is no requirement to consider the concepts in GASBSCS 5 for reporting in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, there is no effective date for these concepts.

OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL REPORTING

With all of the above factors taken into consideration, GASBCS 1 describes what the GASB
set forth as the financial reporting objectives for governments. All of the financial reporting
objectives listed and described below flow from what the GASB believes to be the most important
objective of financial reporting for governments: accountability. The GASB concluded that the
same objectives apply to governmental-type activities as to business-type activities, since the
business-type activities are really part of the government and are publicly accountable.

The following are the financial reporting objectives contained in GASBCS 1:

¢ Financial reporting should assist in fulfilling government’s duty to be publicly account-
able and should enable users to assess that accountability. Financial reporting should
provide information to help determine whether current year revenues were sufficient to
pay for current year services.

¢ Financial reporting should demonstrate whether resources were obtained and used in
accordance with the entity’s legally adopted budget. It should also demonstrate compli-
ance with other finance-related legal or contractual requirements.

¢ Financial reporting should provide information to assist users in assessing the service
efforts, costs, and accomplishments of the governmental entity.

NOTE: These objectives demonstrate the GASB’s interest in using financial reporting to demonstrate a
government’s progress in achieving interperiod equity, described above, and as a means to compare actual
performance with the legally adopted budgeted performance. In addition, service efforts and accomplishments
reporting, which is the concept of financial performance indicators used in conjunction with nonfinancial
indicators, is another means to measure performance. For example, how many miles of road did the government
repave in the past year? How did this compare with what it planned to repave, and what it did repave in the prior
year? How much did it cost per mile to repave the road? How much did it budget per mile to repave the road? How
much did it cost per mile to repave the road last year?

¢ Financial reporting should assist users in evaluating the operating results of the govern-
mental entity for the year. Financial reporting should provide information about origins
and uses of financial resources.
¢ Financial reporting should provide information about how the governmental entity
financed its activities and met its cash requirements.
¢ Financial reporting should provide information necessary to determine whether the
entity’s financial position improved or deteriorated as a result of the year’s operations.

NOTE: These objectives are fundamental to basic financial accounting and reporting and would be
appropriate as part of the objectives for financial reporting for commercial entities as well.
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¢ Financial reporting should assist users in assessing the level of services that can be
provided by the governmental entity and its ability to meet its obligations as they become
due. Financial reporting should provide information about the financial position and
condition of a governmental entity.

¢ Financial reporting should provide information about a governmental entity’s physical
and other nonfinancial resources having useful lives that extend beyond the current year,
including information that can be used to assess the service potential for those resources.

¢ Financial reporting should disclose legal or contractual restrictions on resources and
risks of potential loss of resources.

NOTE: These financial reporting objectives are meant to provide the user of the financial statements with
information as to how financially capable the government is to continue to provide services to its constituents.
For example, can the government continue to collect sufficient tax revenues to support its current level of
service? Has the government made significant investments in capital resources that are available to benefit
future generations of citizens and taxpayers?

At a time when the GASB is significantly changing the financial accounting and reporting
model of governments, it is important to understand and keep in mind the underlying objectives of
governmental financial reporting described in GASBCS 1.

The preparer or auditor of a governmental entity’s financial statements must also understand
these objectives as part of the framework used to determine the appropriate accounting treatment for
the many types of transactions that fall within a “gray” area. Many times, the precise accounting
treatment for a particular transaction or type of transaction is unclear from the promulgated
standards. Understanding the financial reporting objectives and the conceptual framework with
which these objectives were developed provides additional input in attempting to record these types
of gray-area transactions within the spirit and intent of the promulgated accounting standards.

As mentioned earlier in this chapter, GASBCS 1 was issued in 1987 and the reader may be
wondering whether these concepts and ideas are still relevant given all of the recent changes that
have been made to governmental accounting and financial reporting since its issuance. The GASB
published a white paper entitled “Why Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Is—
and Should Be—Different” which, as its title suggests, makes a case to reinforce the need to have
separate accounting and financial reporting standards for governments and governmental entities.
(The white paper is available for download on the GASB website—www.gasb.org.) It is
remarkable that in making this case, the white paper looks back on and affirms many of the
concepts contained in GASBCS 1, which are still very relevant in today’s financial reporting
environment. The white paper concludes (and the author agrees) that distinctive accounting and
financial reporting rules for governments are made necessary by government’s uniqueness relative
to other types of organizations—including not-for-profit organizations.

COMMUNICATION METHODS

Concepts Statement 3—Communication Methods in General-Purpose External Financial
Reports that Contain Basic Financial Statements

The GASB issued GASBCS 3 on communication methods to provide conceptual guidance on
the placement of information within general-purpose external financial reports. GASBCS 3
addresses when information should be communicated in one of the following methods:
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Recognition in the basic financial statements.
Disclosure in the notes to the financial statements.
Presentation as required supplementary information.
Presentation as supplementary information.

The principal user of the concepts contained in GASBCS 3 is the GASB, which will use these
concepts in determining the communication methods to be used for information resulting from
future Standards. However, financial statement preparers would also use the concepts in
determining how to communicate information that is not specifically covered by a GASB
pronouncement. The following briefly describes the intended uses for each of these communica-
tions methods as contained in the Concept Statement.

Recognition in the basic financial statements. Items recorded in the financial state-
ments are intended to provide reliable representations of the effects of transactions and
other events. Items that are elements of financial statements and are measurable with
sufficient reliability are recognized in the financial statements. Disclosure in the notes to
financial statements or presentation as supporting information is not an adequate
substitute.

Disclosure in the notes to the financial statements. Notes are essential to a user’s
understanding of the financial statements, meaning that they are so important as to be
indispensable to a user (1) with a reasonable understanding of government and public
finance activities and of the fundamentals of government financial reporting and (2) with a
willingness to study the information with reasonable diligence. Notes may include
management’s objective explanation of recognized amounts and related known facts,
contingencies, certain risks that affect financial statements, subsequent events, measure-
ment methods, accounting policies, and other information essential to understanding the
financial statements. Notes do not include subjective assessments of the effects of reported
information on the reporting unit’s financial position or predictions about the effects of
future events on financial position.

Presentation as required supplementary information. Required supplementary infor-
mation (RSI) is supporting information that the GASB has concluded is essential for
placing the basic financial statements and notes in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. RSI may include explanations of known amounts, analysis of known facts
or conditions, or information for placing the basic financial statements or notes in proper
context. RSI would not include subjective assessments of the effects of reported information
on the reporting unit’s future financial position, predictions about the effects of future
events on future financial position, or information unrelated to the financial statements.
Presentation as supplementary information. Supplementary information (SI) is sup-
porting information that is useful for placing the basic financial statements and notes in
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. Presentation of SI is voluntary,
however, any applicable standards regarding content and format of the information should
be followed.

ELEMENTS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The GASB issued Concepts Statement 4, Elements of Financial Statements (GASBCS 4),
which is a component of the conceptual framework of objectives and fundamental concepts that
can be used as a basis for establishing consistent financial reporting standards.
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GASBCS 4 establishes definitions for the seven elements of historically based financial
statements of state and local governments as follows:

e Assets are resources with present service capacity that the entity controls.

o Liabilities are present obligations to sacrifice resources that the government has little or no
discretion to avoid.

o A deferred outflow of resources is a consumption of net assets by the government that is
applicable to a future reporting period.

o A deferred inflow of resources is an acquisition of net assets by the government that is
applicable to a future reporting period.

e Net position is the residual of all other elements presented in a statement of financial position.

e An outflow of resources is a consumption of net assets by the government that is
applicable to the reporting period.

e An inflow of resources is an acquisition of net assets by the government that is applicable
to the reporting period.

Clearly, GASBCS 4’s definitions all hinge on the concept of “resources.” A resource is
defined as an item that can be drawn upon to provide services to the citizenry.

OBSERVATION: The definitions of deferred inflows and outflows of resources described above became the
foundation for GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred
Inflows of Resources, and Net Position, which is discussed in Chapter 9.

Measurement of Elements of Financial Statements

In March 2014 the GASB issued Concepts Statement No. 6 — Measurement of Elements of
Financial Statements (GASBCS 6). This Concepts Statement addresses both measurement
approaches and measurement attributes for elements of financial statements. As described in
GASBCS 6, a measurement approach determines whether an asset or liability presented in a
financial statement should be (1) reported at an amount that reflects a value at the date that the asset
was acquired or the liability was incurred or (2) remeasured and reported at an amount that reflects
a value at the date of the financial statements. A measurement attribute is the feature or
characteristic of the asset or liability that is measured.

GASBCS 6 establishes the two measurement approaches that would be used in financial
statements, as follows:

o Initial-transaction-date-based measurement (initial amount). The transaction price or
amount assigned when an asset was acquired or a liability was incurred, including
subsequent modifications to that price or amount, such as through depreciation or
impairment.

¢ Current-financial-statement-date-based measurement (remeasured amount). The
amount assigned when an asset or liability is remeasured as of the financial statement date.

GASBCS 6 establishes the four measurement attributes that would be used in financial
statements, as follows:

e Historical cost is the price paid to acquire an asset or the amount received pursuant to the
incurrence of a liability in an actual exchange transaction.

¢ Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
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e Replacement cost is the price that would be paid to acquire an asset with equivalent service
potential in an orderly market transaction at the measurement date.

¢ Settlement amountis the amount at which an asset could be realized or a liability could be
liquidated with the counterparty, other than in an active market.

NOTE: Concepts Statements themselves do not change existing GAAP; rather, they form a basis on which the
GASB will likely issue a new statement, which will then change existing GAAP. Essentially, it represents a
reexamination of the accounting basis (historical cost or fair value) of the various components of the financial
statements.

Concepts Statements are used by the GASB in its standards-setting process. There is nothing
that a financial statement preparer needs to implement relative to a Concepts Statement. However,
when a financial statement preparer is faced with an accounting issue for which no clear standards
or practices exist, Concepts Statements can be a useful resource in selecting an appropriate
accounting treatment.

HIERARCHY OF GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The GASB is responsible for promulgating accounting principles for governments. The manner
in which the GASB promulgates accounting principles depends somewhat on the pervasiveness and
the degree of impact that a new accounting principle is anticipated to have. Generally, an issue or
topic will be brought to the GASB’s attention for consideration from any of a number of sources,
including governments themselves, independent auditors, the GASB board members, or GASB
staff. In addition, advisory committees, such as the Governmental Accounting Standards Advisory
Council, may also bring matters to the GASB’s attention for consideration. Based on the input of
these individuals, organizations, and groups regarding important technical issues that need to be
addressed, the GASB will determine its formal technical agenda. Once a matter is placed on the
GASB’s technical agenda, staff resources are devoted to the issue to study and evaluate various
alternatives to address it. After the initial research is completed, the GASB staff may issue an
Invitation to Comment (ITC) or a Discussion Memorandum (DM) to solicit comments from the
constituent groups regarding the advantages and disadvantages of the various alternatives available.
Upon receipt and analysis of the feedback from an ITC or a DM, the GASB may be able to reach
some initial conclusions about the contents of a final accounting standard. If this is the case, the
GASB will issue an Exposure Draft (ED) for public comment. If the GASB still has remaining
questions or feels that additional feedback is needed from the constituent community, it may issue a
Preliminary Views document (PV). The PV sets forth preliminary views on an accounting matter, but
also poses additional questions to the constituent community with the hope of soliciting additional
input to be included in the next stage in the due process procedure, the ED.

For issues that are not very pervasive or complex, or where the alternatives are limited, the
GASB will decide not to issue an ITC or a DM and move directly to issue an ED. This is the most
frequently used approach. ITCs and DMs are reserved for the more important and complex issues.

The GASB evaluates and considers the feedback obtained from an ED and then issues a final
Statement. If significant changes result from the feedback obtained from the ED, the GASB may
choose to issue a second ED before it proceeds to the final Statement.

The process described above would apply whether the GASB is issuing a new Statement or an
Interpretation of an existing Statement. In addition to Statements and Interpretations, the GASB
issues Technical Bulletins (TBs) and Implementation Guides (usually called “Q&As” because of
their question-and-answer format). These two documents are not subject to the same due process
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procedures described above for new Statements and Interpretations. TBs and Q&As are actually
issued by the GASB staff, but they may not be issued if, after review, a majority of the GASB
board objects to their issuance.

GAAP Hierarchy for Governments

The GASB issued Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles for State and Local Governments (GASBS 76). GASBS 76 superceded Statement No.
55, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for State and Local Governments
(GASBS 55). The objective of setting a GAAP hierarchy is to identify the sources of accounting
principles used to prepare financial statements of state and local governmental entities in
conformity with GAAP and the framework for selecting those principles. GASBS 76 reduced
the GAAP to two categories, as follows:

Category A  Officially established accounting principles, which consist of GASB Statements.
Category B GASB Technical Bulletins: GASB Implementation Guides, and literature of the
AICPA that has been cleared by the GASB

GASBS 76 provides that if the accounting treatment for a transaction or other event is not
specified by a pronouncement in Category A, a governmental entity should then consider whether
the accounting treatment is specified by a source in Category B.

If the accounting treatment for a transaction or other event is not specified in Category A or
Category B, a government should first consider accounting principles for similar transactions
within Categories A and B. If the accounting treatment cannot be determined from this
consideration, then nonauthoritative accounting literature from other sources, described below,
may be considered provided the other source does not conflict with or contradict the authoritative
GAAP of Categories A and B.

In addition, GASBS 76 specifies that a governmental entity should not apply the accounting
principles in authoritative GAAP to similar transactions or events if those accounting principles
(a) prohibit the application of the accounting treatment to the particular transaction or event or (b)
indicate that the accounting treatment should not be applied by analogy.

Sources of Nonautoritative Accounting Literature. GASBS 76 provides that the sources
of nonauthoritative accounting literature include:

o GASB Concepts Statements.
e Pronouncements and other literature of the:

¢ Financial Accounting Standards Board.
e Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board.
o International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board.

e AICPA literature not cleared by the GASB.

e Practices that are widely recognized and prevalent in state and local government.

e Literature of other professional associations or regulatory agencies: Accounting
textbooks, handbooks, and articles.

In evaluating the appropriateness of nonauthoritative literature, GASBS 76 provides that a
governmental entity should consider the consistency of the literature with GASB Concepts
Statements, the relevance of the literature to the particular circumstances, the specifics of the
literature, and the general recognition of the issuer or author as an authority.
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CODIFICATION OF CERTAIN FASB AND AICPA ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL REPORTING GUIDANCE

The GASB issued Statement No. 62 (GASBS 62), Codification of Accounting and Financial
Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements,
which incorporates into the GASB standards certain accounting and financial reporting guidance
that is included in pronouncements of the FASB and AICPA issued on or before November 30,
1989, which do not conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements.

Previously, GASB Statement No. 20 (GASBS 20), Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting,
required funds and other governmental entities that use proprietary accounting (which would also
include government-wide financial statements) to apply all applicable GASB pronouncements, as
well as the following pronouncements of the FASB and AICPA issued on or before November 30,
1989, unless those pronouncements conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements:

e FASB Statements.

e FASB Interpretations.

e Accounting Principles Board Opinions.
e Accounting Research Bulletins.

As all authoritative GAAP for private sector organizations is now contained solely in the
FASB’s Accounting Standards Codification, these FASB and AICPA pronouncements techni-
cally no longer exist. Accordingly, the GASB addressed this issue by including in the GASB
standards (by means of GASBS 62) all of the applicable pre-November 30, 1989, FASB and
AICPA standards.

GASBS 62 addresses the following general accounting topics:

e (Capitalization of Interest Cost.

¢ Revenue Recognition for Exchange Transactions.
¢ Revenue Recognition when Right of Return Exists.
e Statement of Net Assets Classification.

e Special and Extraordinary Items.

e Comparative Financial Statements.

e Related Parties.

e Prior Period Adjustments.

e Accounting Changes and Error Corrections.
¢ Disclosure of Accounting Policies.

¢ Contingencies.

¢ Construction-Type Contracts—Long Term.
¢ Extinguishments of Debt.

e Troubled Debt Restructuring.

e Foreign Currency Transactions.

e Interest Costs—Imputation.

¢ Inventory.

¢ Investments in Common Stock.

e Leases.

e Nonmonetary Transactions.

e Sales of Real Estate.
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e Costs and Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate Projects.
e Research and Development Arrangements.

GASBS 62 also addresses the following industry-specific standards:

e Broadcasters.

e (able Television Systems.

¢ Insurance Entities—Other Than Public Entity Risk Pools.
e Lending Activities.

e Mortgage Banking Activities.

¢ Regulated Operations.

¢ Rights of Offset.

While substance of the above content is onerous (GASBS 62 is hundreds of pages long), the
GASB used the approach of adopting the accounting and reporting requirements essentially as
they existed in the applicable pre-November 30, 1989, FASB and AICPA pronouncements,
modifying the language as appropriate to recognize the effects of the governmental environment
without affecting the substance of the provisions. Accordingly, GASBS 62 is not intended to
establish new financial reporting requirements or modify existing requirements. Rather, it
incorporates FASB and AICPA accounting and reporting guidance applicable to governments
and governmental entities into the GASB literature. While the GASB’s intent was not to change
accounting of financial reporting requirements, in the Basis for Conclusions of GASBS 62, the
GASB does state that it recognizes that practitioners in exercising professional judgment may have
reached different conclusions in applying the hierarchy without specific guidance.

This Guide incorporates the significant general guidance areas of GASBS 62, and this year’s
edition has been updated to reflect references to GASBS 62, rather than former FASB and AICPA
pronouncements.

The GASB issued Statement No. 66 (GASBS 66), Technical Corrections—2012, an
Amendment of GASB Statements No. 10 and 62, to make some minor corrections/clarifications
to these two GASB Statements. As pertains to GASBS 66, the technical corrections are as follows:

Operating Leases—GASBS 62, paragraphs 222 and 227(b), is amended to delete what could
be perceived as a prohibition of the use of the fair value method that is permitted in paragraph 6(b)
of FASB Statement No. 13.

Purchase of a Loan or Group of Loans—GASBS 62, paragraph 442, is amended to clarify that
the purchase of a loan or group of loans should be reported at its purchase price. The initial
investment in a purchased loan or group of loans should include the amount paid to the seller plus
any fees paid or less any fees received.

Service Fees—GASBS 62, paragraph 460 is deleted to remove the provision that the same
price should be adjusted, for purposes of determining any gain or loss on the sale, to provide for
the recognition of a normal servicing fee in each subsequent year.

SUMMARY

This chapter provides a basic foundation for the governmental accounting and financial
reporting environment. Understanding this environment will help the reader understand and apply
the details of the accounting and financial reporting principles discussed throughout the rest of this
book.
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To fully understand the accounting and financial reporting principles of state and local
governments, financial statement preparers and auditors must be familiar with two key concepts:
fund accounting and the basis of accounting and measurement focus used by funds. This chapter

discusses the following information:

e A definition of fund and the purposes of fund accounting.
¢ A synopsis of the various types of funds used by governments for accounting and financial

reporting.

e A definition of basis of accounting and measurement focus.
¢ Recognition and measurement of certain fund liabilities and expenditures.
¢ A description of which basis of accounting and measurement focus are used by each type

of fund.

These concepts are key components of the fundamental differences between the accounting
and financial reporting for governments and private enterprises. Financial statement preparers and

29
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their auditors will need to understand these concepts in understanding the differences between
government-wide and fund financial statements. This chapter includes some summarized infor-
mation to give the reader an overview of the governmental accounting and financial reporting
structure. More detailed information is contained in later chapters, which examine not only the
accounting for, but also the uses of, the various types of funds and how typical transactions of
these funds are reflected in the accounting records. Chapter 9 describes the accounting treatment of
various types of transactions that can occur between funds.

DEFINITION OF FUND AND THE PURPOSE OF FUND ACCOUNTING

Fund was defined by Statement 1 of the National Council on Governmental Accounting
(NCGAS 1), entitled Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Principles, as follows:

A fund is defined as a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts recording
cash and other financial resources, together with all related liabilities and residual equities or
balances, and changes therein, which are segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific
activities or attaining certain objectives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions, or
limitations.

This definition requires some explanation and clarification to be useful.

First, a fund is a separate entity for accounting and financial reporting purposes. A fund in
itself is not a separate legal entity, although it may be established to comply with laws that require
that certain transactions be segregated and accounted for as a separate “fund.”

Second, a fund has a self-balancing set of accounts that record assets, liabilities, fund balance,
and the operating activities of the fund. In other words, a balance sheet and operating statement can
be prepared for individual funds. A fund’s financial statements would not necessarily include all of
the accounts for assets and liabilities that one would expect to find in a commercial enterprise’s
financial statements. As will be discussed later in this chapter, fixed assets or long-term liabilities
are not recorded in the financial statements of funds classified as “governmental.” Rather,
governmental fixed assets, now referred to as capital assets, and long-term liabilities are reported
only on the government-wide financial statements under the GASBS 34 financial reporting model.
Thus, self-balancing should not be taken to mean a complete picture. It should indicate that the
transactions that are supposed to be recorded in a fund are self-balancing; for instance, the debits
equal the credits (its trial balance balances), and that assets less liabilities equals the fund’s residual
(or, stated differently, its equity or fund balance).

NOTE: One common mistake that is often made by those not familiar with fund accounting is to assume that a
fund is synonymous with a “pot of money” available to spend. This is not the case. A fund’s “fund balance”
represents the difference between the fund’s assets and the fund’s liabilities. Many of a fund’s assets may not
be in the form of currency, such as a receivable. Therefore, it is important to keep in mind that a “fund” is an
accounting convention for control and financial reporting purposes, and is not the same as a bank account.

Why Do Governments Use Fund Accounting?

Fund accounting for governments was developed in response to the need for state and local
governments to be fully accountable for their collection and use of public resources. The use of funds
is an important tool for governments to demonstrate their compliance with the lawfully permitted use
of resources. A predecessor to fund accounting was the use of separate bank accounts for separate
purposes. The finer the degree of financial reporting, management, accountability, and segregation
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of resources, the less likely it is that governments would overspend budgets or not be as candid in
financial reporting as they should be. Clearly, maintaining separate bank accounts for all of the
different revenue sources and types of expenditures for the complex governments of today is not
practical. Thus, separate bank accounts were replaced by the use of separate funds.

Fund Accounting Under the GASBS 34 Reporting Model

Fund accounting remains an important aspect of financial reporting for governments. GASBS
34 includes within its financial reporting model fund financial statements. Fund financial
statements enable governments to continue to demonstrate legal compliance as described above.
Since the overwhelming number of general-purpose governments have legally adopted budgets at
the fund level, demonstration of compliance with budgets is an important component of fund
reporting under the GASBS 34 reporting model. However, under the GASBS 34 reporting model,
information about a government’s overall financial condition and activities is presented in
government-wide financial statements that do not provide fund information and, in fact are
prepared using different accounting methods than the fund financial statements. Reading the
government-wide financial statements provides additional information to the user of a govern-
ment’s financial statements that was not previously available from the prior reporting model,
which relied exclusively on fund and account group reporting.

NOTE: While fund accounting is an important part of the GASBS 34 reporting model, a review of the more
significant accounting pronouncements of the GASB issued after implementation of the GASBS 34 reporting
model reveals an emphasis on the accounting used in the government-wide financial statements (and
proprietary funds) rather than the governmental fund financial statements (with some notable exceptions).
This doesn’t necessarily signal that the GASB deemphasizes the importance of governmental funds, but they
are clearly, at least to the author, not a high priority for new accounting pronouncements.

How Is the Number of Funds to Be Established Determined?

The number of separate funds to be established should be based on either legal requirements
or management judgment for sound financial administration. In other words, where statute or law
requires the establishment of particular funds, certainly these funds must be established by the
government. Similarly, establishment of separate funds may be required by contracts into which
the government enters, such as bond indentures.

Beyond these legal and contractual requirements, management should determine how many
funds should be established to segregate the activities related to carrying on specific activities or
attaining certain objectives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions, or limitations. As
discussed below, there are different fund types, and most governments will find that they have at
least one fund in each fund type.

NOTE: Under the GASBS 34 financial reporting model, distinctions of fund types became somewhat less
important, since financial reporting is driven by whether a fund is a major or nonmajor fund, rather than its
fund type. The concept of fund type, however, is useful in understanding the purposes for different funds.
While reporting by all fund types is not a component of GASBS 34, distinguishing between governmental and
business-type activities remains important. In addition, presentation of funds in the fund financial statements
grouped by their fund type within the major and nonmajor fund categories can be useful to the financial
statement reader. Determination of major funds is discussed later in this chapter. GASBS 54, Fund Balance
Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, fine-tunes the definitions of the fund types. The specific
new definitions are discussed in later chapters that discuss the specific fund types.
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However, other governments have multiple funds in each fund type. These governments
could easily find that they have over 100 funds that “roll up” or combine into one fund type. The
financial management of these governments should consider, however, that the establishment of
too many funds is likely to result in cumbersome accounting and financial reporting procedures.
The development of more sophisticated accounting software, with increasingly greater capability
to segregate transactions within expanding account code structures, is likely to encourage
governments to use fewer funds. Accountability may be achieved with better account coding,
rather than with the establishment of many funds.

Exhibit 1

The size of a government’s operations does not necessarily coincide with the number of funds that
it establishes. For example, excluding component units, the city of New York uses one general fund (a
government can have only one general fund), one special revenue fund, one capital projects fund, and
one debt service fund to account for its governmental activities. These four funds (in addition to blended
component units) are used to account for total revenues in excess of $75 billion. Many smaller
governments have dozens of special revenue, capital projects, and debt service funds to account for a far
lower volume of activity.

The number of funds is influenced not only by legal requirements, but also by the reliance on fiscal
controls built into financial accounting systems. The number of funds established is also affected by the
political forces that shape the financial functioning of the government. Some executive branches
(mayors, governors, etc.) and legislatures (city councils, state legislatures, etc.) believe financial
accountability is increased by using many funds. The result is a wide disparity in the number of
funds found at all levels of government.

A SYNOPSIS OF THE VARIOUS TYPES OF FUNDS USED BY
GOVERNMENTS FOR ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL REPORTING

The following paragraphs introduce the various types of funds that a government may have.
This is only a brief introduction to each of these fund types. Each fund type is more fully discussed
in later chapters.

The fund types are categorized into three different activities: governmental, business-type,
and fiduciary.

1. Governmental:

General fund.

Special revenue funds.
Capital projects funds.
Debt service funds.
Permanent funds.

o0 o

2. Proprietary (business-type):

a. Enterprise funds.
b. Internal service funds.

3. Fiduciary:

a. Pension and other employee benefit trust funds.
b. Investment trust funds.
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c. Agency funds.
d. Private-purpose trust funds.

NOTE: As discussed in Chapter 8, the GASB issued Statement No. 84 Fiduciary Activities that will
impact the accounting and financial reporting for certain fiduciary funds.

Following is a summary of the basic characteristics of each of these fund types and funds.
Later chapters provide more detailed information.

Governmental Funds
General Fund

The general fund is used to account for all of the financial resources of the government, except
those required to be accounted for in another fund. It is the primary operating fund of the
government. It should account for all activities of the government unless there is a compelling
reason to account for the activities in another fund type, including the legal and contractual
requirements discussed previously. In addition, circumstances in which funds need to be
segregated to carry on specific activities or attain certain objectives in accordance with special
regulations, restrictions, or limitations are reasons for using another fund type. The latter require
the judgment of management to determine whether the activities will be accounted for in the
general fund or in other fund types.

Special Revenue Funds

Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources legally
restricted to expenditures for specific purposes. The legal restriction on the expenditures does not
mean that there is a legal requirement to establish a special revenue fund. If there is a legal or
contractual requirement to establish a special revenue fund to account for these earmarked revenues,
the government should establish the mandated fund. If there is no legal or contractual requirement,
the use of special revenue funds is optional. GAAP does not require the use of special revenue funds
(with one small exception relating to blended component units, described below). The activities
normally recorded in special revenue funds are frequently accounted for by governments in their
general fund. If the government decides to set up special revenue funds, the government also needs to
determine how many to establish; for instance, one for all special revenues or numerous funds to
account for a variety of types of special revenue. However, given that the purpose of special revenue
funds is basically to account for restricted revenues, it is unlikely that using one special revenue fund
for many types of special revenues would be helpful in demonstrating legal compliance.

A common example of earmarked revenues that governments may choose to account for in a
special revenue fund are the proceeds from grants or other aid programs. Generally, these grant or
aid program revenues must be used for specific types of expenditures, and accordingly,
accountability for the expenditure may be facilitated by using a special revenue fund. In addition,
if not accounted for in the general fund, states should use a special revenue fund to account for the
administration of the federal food stamp program.

Certain revenues are precluded by GAAP from being recorded in special revenue funds.
Revenues that are earmarked for expenditures for major capital projects should not be recorded in
special revenue funds.

The instance in which GAAP requires the use of special revenue funds involves the reporting
of component units. As more fully described in Chapter 6, certain legally separate entities may be
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included in a government’s financial reporting entity. Some of these entities may have govern-
mental activities that are blended with the reporting government’s own governmental funds, as if
the component unit were part of the reporting government. In cases where these blended
component units have general funds, these general funds should not be combined with the
general fund of the reporting government, but should be reported as special revenue funds.

Capital Projects Funds

Capital projects funds may be used to account for financial resources to be used for
acquisition or construction of major capital facilities other than those financed by proprietary
or trust funds. As with special revenue funds, the use of capital projects funds (with one exception,
described below) is optional to the government, absent any legal or contractual requirement.
Again, if the government elects to use capital projects funds, it must also decide whether to
establish one fund to account for all capital projects or separate capital projects funds for each
capital project or group of projects.

The exception, the situation in which a government is required to establish a capital projects
fund under GAAP, relates to when grants or shared revenues are received for capital projects.
NCGAS 2, Grant, Entitlement, and Shared Revenue Accounting by State and Local Governments,
states that capital grants and shared revenues restricted for capital acquisitions or construction
(other than those associated with enterprise and internal service funds) should be accounted for in
a capital projects fund.

Debt Service Funds

A government may use debt service funds to account for accumulation of resources for and
payment of general long-term debt principal and interest. The use of debt service funds is generally
optional for a government, absent any legal or contractual requirement. (Before deciding not to
establish debt service funds, financial managers of governments should ensure that these funds are
not required by any of the government’s bond indentures.)

NCGAS 1 states that “Debt service funds are required when they are legally mandated and/or if
financial resources are being accumulated for principal and interest payments maturing in future
years.” The second part of this statement requires some clarification. The phrase has been interpreted to
mean that the government is regularly setting aside resources to pay more than one year’s debt service
(principal and interest payments). In other words, the government is using a mechanism similar to a
sinking fund to accumulate resources to pay debt service in the future. In this case, the government
would be required by GAAP to establish a debt service fund. On the other hand, if the government only
sets aside resources to pay the next year’s debt service, it is not interpreted to be “accumulating”
resources, and a debt service fund would not be required. In this latter case, the government may still
establish a debt service fund if it facilitates financial management of these resources.

There is a second instance in which GAAP would require the establishment of a debt service
fund. NCGAS 2 states that grants, entitlements, or shared revenues received for the payment of
principal and/or interest on general long-term debt should be accounted for in a debt service fund.

Permanent Funds

GASBS 34 created a new type of governmental fund known as a permanent fund. A
permanent fund is used to report resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only
earnings, and not principal, may be used for purposes that support the reporting government’s
programs, meaning that the earnings are for the benefit of the government or its citizenry. Types of
arrangements that would often be accounted for in a permanent fund are sometimes called
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“endowments.” Permanent funds are not the same as a private-purpose trust fund (a fiduciary fund
also created by GASBS 34 that is described later), which is used to report situations in which the
government is required to use the principal or earnings for the benefit of individuals, private
organizations, or other governments and not for the support of its own programs.

Proprietary (Business-Type) Funds

Proprietary funds, as the name implies, are used to account for the proprietary or business-
type activities of a government. GASBS 34 established requirements for when enterprise and
internal service funds should be used. The requirements are discussed later in this section as they
apply separately to enterprise and internal service funds.

Enterprise Funds
NCGAS 1 defines the purpose of enterprise funds as

to account for operations (a) that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business
enterprises—where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including deprecia-
tion) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or
recovered primarily through user charges; or (b) where the governing body has decided that periodic
determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital
maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes.

A government may use an enterprise fund to account for activities if the criteria of either (a) or
(b) are met. In most cases, governments use enterprise funds because there are certain activities
performed by governments for the public that closely resemble the characteristic described in
(a) above. For example, the government may operate a water and sewer utility that charges its
customers for the services rendered. The net results of operations for this particular activity are
determined using accounting similar to that used by a commercial enterprise, generally providing
the most relevant information to the financial statement user. The government’s intent does not
have to be to recover all of the costs of the particular activity. However, even if only partial cost
recoupment is intended, it is still likely to be desirable to use an enterprise fund to determine the
extent of the government’s subsidy of a particular activity.

While the criterion under (a) above provides the most common reason to establish enterprise
funds, the criterion in (b) certainly provides the government’s management with latitude to
determine whether to account for certain activities in an enterprise fund.

As will be more fully described in later chapters, there are two activities that GAAP requires
to be accounted for in enterprise funds. These activities are a government-operated hospital
(Chapter 25) and a government public entity risk pool (Chapter 24).

Governments may use enterprise funds to report any activity for which a fee is charged to
external users for goods or services. Accordingly, a government may report as enterprise funds
those activities in which a fee is charged to external users of goods or services. The significant
change made by GASBS 34 was to establish conditions when the use of an enterprise fund would
actually be required.

Activities are required to be reported in an enterprise fund if any one of the following criteria
is met. The criteria are to be applied in the context of the activity’s principal revenue sources. This
means that if the criteria are met for a revenue other than the principal revenue for an activity, the
use of an enterprise fund would not be required. In addition, the criteria are applied to activities,
which is different from applying them to a fund. In other words, if an activity presently accounted
for in the general fund meets any of the criteria, the use of an enterprise fund is required, despite
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the fact that the activity is not presently accounted for in a separate fund. (These criteria are not
meant to require that insignificant activities of governments be reported as enterprise funds simply
because a fee or charge is levied. If that fee or charge is not the activity’s principal revenue source,
the use of an enterprise fund is not required.) The criteria are as follows:

e The activity is financed with debt that is secured solely by a pledge of the net revenues
from the fees and charges of the activity, with two additional clarifications:

e If the debt is secured in part by a portion of its own proceeds, it would still be
considered as payable solely from the revenues of the activities. In other words, if some
of the proceeds from the debt from an activity were placed in debt service reserve
accounts, this would not exempt the activity from being reported as an enterprise fund
if it would otherwise meet this criterion.

e Debt that is secured by a pledge of revenues from fees and charges and the full faith and
credit of a related primary government or component unit is not payable solely from the
fees and charges of the activity, and the activity would not be required to be reported as
an enterprise fund. (The primary government or the component unit does not have to be
expected to make any payments—the pledge of its full faith and credit is sufficient to
avoid the requirement to account for the activity using an enterprise fund.)

e Laws and regulations require that the activity’s costs of providing services, including
capital costs (such as depreciation and debt service), be recovered with fees and charges,
rather than taxes or similar revenues.

¢ The pricing policies of the activity establish fees and charges designed to recover its costs,
including capital costs (such as depreciation and debt service).

Under GASBS 34, state unemployment insurance funds and public entity risk pools are
required to be accounted for in enterprise funds. GASBS 34 did not affect the accounting for special
assessment projects because there is no activity for which external users are charged a fee for goods
or services. In the case of special assessments, capital assets are constructed and the property owners
reimburse the government for amounts necessary to pay principal and interest on bonds.

Internal Service Funds

NCGAS 1 states that internal service funds may be used “to account for the financing of goods
or services provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the
governmental unit, or to other governmental units, on a cost-reimbursement basis.” In other
words, these are activities that are not performed for the general public (as with enterprise funds),
but are performed for other parts of the government itself; hence, the term internal service funds.
Governments decide to establish internal service funds if they believe that the cost management of
a particular activity can be improved by first identifying the costs of the activity or service and then
charging the cost of the activity or service to the recipient agencies or departments.

Exhibit 2

Understanding the use of an internal service fund can best be explained by the use of an example.

The city of Anywhere uses an internal service fund to account for the operations of its motor
vehicles, commonly referred to as a motor pool. Many of the city’s agencies and departments use cars
and trucks, such as the police department, fire department, social services administration, as well as the
executive and administrative functions of the city.
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The motor pool internal service fund maintains the city’s fleet of vehicles, including purchasing and
servicing the vehicles. The total of the costs of the motor pool is estimated and “charged” to the
departments that use the vehicles on some equitable basis, such as the number of vehicles used by the
various departments. In charging the departments, consideration may also be given to the type of
vehicle, since the costs of maintaining a compact car are quite different from those of a large truck.

The motor pool sets its charges so that it breaks even on its operations. The city benefits from the
economies of scale of maintaining all or most of its vehicles by a centralized source. In addition, the user
agencies and departments save their own time and effort in not having to handle the details of purchasing
and maintaining their own individual fleets of vehicles.

Establishing an internal service fund is completely at the discretion of the government. There
are no instances in which GAAP requires internal service funds.

GASBS 34, however, established one circumstance when an internal service fund should not
be used. Internal service funds should be used only if the reporting government is the predominant
participant in the activity. If it is not, the activity should be reported as an enterprise fund.

Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary funds are used if the government has a fiduciary or custodial responsibility for
assets. Fiduciary funds should be established when there is a legal restriction of the resources, such
as with a pension plan or when there is a written trust agreement. Governments may choose to
establish fiduciary funds based on the government’s own unilateral actions, solely to improve the
government’s own accountability. In these discretionary instances (absent a legal or other reason),
the government should keep in mind that the transactions accounted for in fiduciary funds may be
just as easily accounted for in the general fund or a special revenue fund.

The types of fiduciary funds are described briefly below.

Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

Many governments sponsor pension plans that provide benefits to their employees and to
other governmental employers. In cases in which the government manages the pension plans, or
when the pension plans are part of the reporting entity of the government, they are accounted for as
pension trust funds. Accounting rules for pension plans are somewhat unique and are covered
more fully in Chapter 24. Governments that report deferred compensation plans under Sections
457 and 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code within their reporting entity would account for these
plans within this fund type.

Investment Trust Funds

Investment funds are used by governments to report the external portion of separate
investment pools that are sponsored by governmental entities. This type of fiduciary fund was
created by GASB Statement 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and
for External Investment Pools, and is discussed in Chapter 12. The accounting for investment trust
funds matches that used by proprietary funds.

Agency Funds

Agency funds are used to account for situations in which the government receives and
disburses resources in an agency capacity. Because all of the assets of agency funds are associated
with third parties, agency funds have no equity. Their assets equal their liabilities. Accordingly,
they have no operations either, which means that no operating statement is prepared for agency
funds, since they have no revenues or expenditures.
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Private-Purpose Trust Funds

GASBS 34 created a type of fiduciary fund that is referred to as a private-purpose trust fund.
This fund should be used to report all other trust arrangements (that is, those that otherwise
wouldn’t be accounted for as another type of fiduciary fund or as a permanent fund) under which
principal and income benefit individuals, private organizations, or other governments.

Major Funds

As mentioned above, when reporting fund financial statements, the focus of the reporting is
on major funds. Consideration of fund financial reporting is dependent upon the proper
identification of major and nonmajor funds. GASBS 34 provides the following guidance for
determining what is a major fund:

The main operating fund (the general fund or its equivalent) is always considered a major
fund.

Other individual governmental and enterprise funds should be reported as major funds
based on the following criteria:

e Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of that individual fund are
at least 10% of the corresponding total (assets, liabilities, revenues or expenditures/
expenses), for all funds of that category or type (i.e., total governmental or total
enterprise funds); and

e Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of the individual fund are at
least 5% of the corresponding total for all governmental and enterprise funds
combined.

In applying the 5% and 10% criteria above to governmental funds, it should be noted that
revenues do not include other financing sources, and expenditures do not include other
financing uses. This serves to avoid wide year-to-year variances in major fund determi-
nations that may be caused by activities such as bond issuances. In applying the 5% and
10% criteria above to enterprise funds, it should be noted that both operating and
nonoperating revenues and expenses should be considered as well as gains, losses,
capital contributions, additions to permanent endowments, and special items.

In addition, if a government has only governmental funds and no enterprise funds, only the
10% criteria need be applied. In other words, if an individual governmental fund failed the 10%
test, the government should not then subject this fund, in this example, to the 5% test. This fund
would not be reported as a major fund.

In addition to these criteria, if the government believes that a particular fund not meeting
the above criteria is important to financial statement readers, it may be reported as a major
fund. (In other words, nonmajor funds are reported in a single column. If a government
desires to break out a nonmajor fund separately, it should treat that fund as a major fund.)
Blended component units of the component unit should be evaluated to determine whether
they must be reported as major funds.

The major fund determination is done using the combined fund type amounts, regardless
of any reconciling items to the government-wide financial statements. In addition, the
analysis is done using amounts as reported under generally accepted accounting princi-
ples—the budgetary basis of accounting (if different from generally accepted accounting
principles) should not be used.
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¢ The calculations provided above represent the minimum requirements for government and
proprietary funds that must be considered major funds. If a fund of these fund types does
not meet the monetary criteria described above, the government is permitted to report that
fund as a major fund, if it so chooses. A government may do this because a fund that may
be smaller in size may be of particular interest to financial statement readers.

A DEFINITION OF BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND MEASUREMENT FOCUS

Two of the most important distinguishing features of governmental accounting and financial
reporting are the basis of accounting and measurement focus used. Additionally, as discussed in
the next section, not all of the funds of a government use the same basis of accounting and
measurement focus, further distinguishing and complicating governmental accounting and
financial reporting. A simple rule of thumb to help clarify the difference between the two
concepts is that the basis of accounting determines when transactions will be recorded and the
measurement focus determines what transactions will be recorded.

Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues, expenditures, expenses, and transfers (and the
related assets and liabilities) are recognized and reported in the financial statements. Most
accountants are familiar with the cash and accrual bases of accounting. Commercial enterprises
generally use the accrual basis of accounting. There are exceptions to this general rule, however.
Small businesses may use the cash basis of accounting. Other businesses, such as real estate tax-
shelter partnerships, may prepare financial statements on an income-tax basis, and still other
commercial enterprises, such as utilities, may prepare special reports on a regulatory basis of
accounting.

For governmental accounting, an additional basis of accounting, the modified accrual basis, is
used by certain funds of a government. To understand the modified accrual basis of accounting,
the accountant first needs to understand the cash and accrual bases of accounting.

Cash Basis of Accounting

Under the cash basis of accounting, revenues and expenditures are recorded when cash is
received or paid. For example, an entity purchases goods that are received and used by the entity.
However, the bill for the goods is not paid until two months after the goods were received. Under
the cash basis of accounting, the expense for the purchased goods is not recognized in the financial
statements until the bill is actually paid, regardless of when the goods were received or consumed
by the entity. Using a strict interpretation of the cash basis of accounting, an entity’s balance sheet
would have two accounts: cash and equity. The statement of activities under the pure cash basis
consists solely of a listing of cash receipts and cash disbursements for the period. As a practical
matter, entities using the cash basis of accounting often record some transactions not strictly in
accordance with the cash basis, such as inventory, fixed assets, and debt. When these types of
assets and liabilities are recorded in financial statements that are otherwise on a cash basis, the
accounting basis is often referred to as the modified cash basis of accounting.

Accrual Basis of Accounting

The accrual basis of accounting is generally recognized as a better method than the cash basis
for accounting for the economic resources of an organization, both commercial and governmental.
The accrual basis of accounting presents a better presentation of the financial condition and results
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of operations of organizations, including governments. The accrual basis accounts for transactions
when they occur. Revenues are recorded when earned or when the organization has a right to
receive the revenues. Expenses are recorded when incurred. Unlike the cash basis, revenues and
expenses are recorded when they occur, regardless of when the related cash is received or
disbursed.

Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting

As will be discussed throughout this book, governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of
accounting. The modified accrual basis of accounting can be categorized as falling somewhere
between the cash basis of accounting and the accrual basis of accounting. This accounting basis was
promulgated in NCGAS 1, which stated that while the accrual basis of accounting was recommended
for use to the fullest extent possible in the governmental environment, there were differences in the
environment and in the accounting measurement objectives for governmental funds that justified a
divergence from the full accrual to the modified accrual basis. NCGAS 1 noted that these
modifications to the accrual basis were both practical and appropriate for governmental funds to use.

The most important feature of the modified accrual basis of accounting involves the
recognition of revenue in the financial statements. NCGAS 1 specifies that revenues (and other
governmental fund financial resource increments) are recognized in the accounting period in
which they become susceptible to accrual; that is, when they become both measurable and
available to finance expenditures of the current period. In determining whether revenues are
measurable, the government does not have to know the precise amount of the revenue in order for
it to be subject to accrual. Reasonable calculations of revenues based on cash collections
subsequent to the end of the fiscal year are the most likely way in which revenues become
measurable. Governments are not precluded, however, from using other means to measure
revenues, including historical collection patterns. In addition, a government may be able to
measure revenues under cost-reimbursable grants and programs based on the amount of the
expenditures claimed as revenue under each grant or program.

Determining whether revenues are available to finance expenditures of the current period is a
unique consideration for governments in deciding whether revenues are subject to accrual.
Available means that the revenue is collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter
to pay liabilities of the current period. Since governmental funds generally only record current
liabilities, the availability criteria result in governmental funds only recording revenues related to
the current fiscal year and received after year-end to be received within a relatively short period
after the end of the fiscal year to meet the availability criteria. Assessing the criteria for the various
types of revenues typically found in governments is described in later chapters.

Recording expenditures and liabilities under the modified accrual basis of accounting more
closely approximates the accrual basis of accounting for other than long-term liabilities than does
the recording of revenues. Expenditures in governmental funds recorded using the modified
accrual basis of accounting are recorded when the related liability is incurred. Expenditures for
goods and services received prior to a governmental fund’s fiscal year-end are recorded in the year
received, just as under the accrual basis of accounting. However, in applying this general
principle, there are several important distinctions to keep in mind, as follows:

¢ The basis of accounting describes when transactions are recorded, not what transactions
are recorded. Accordingly, as described below concerning measurement focus, allocations
such as depreciation and amortization are not recorded as expenditures of governmental
funds, nor are long-term liabilities.
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¢ The most significant exception to the liability-incurred criterion for expenditure recognition
involves payments of debt service on general long-term obligations. Debt service is
recognized as an expenditure in the accounting period in which it is paid. There is no
expenditure accrual, for example, for accrued interest on debt service up to the date of the
fiscal year-end. Rather, both principal and interest are recognized as expenditures at the time
that they are paid. (Chapter <anchor href="urn:x%26hyphen;wiley:9781119107569:xml%
26hyphen;component:c09"/> describes an exception to the general rule when resources for
debt service are accumulated in the current year and paid early in the subsequent year. It also
describes the impact of GASBI 6 on this exception.)

e A second exception for expenditure recognition on the modified accrual basis of
accounting involves inventory items, such as materials and supplies. Inventory may
either be considered to be an expenditure when purchased (known as the purchase
method) or may be recorded as an asset and recognized as an expenditure when consumed
(known as the consumption method).

¢ Finally, the expenditures for insurance and similar services extending over more than one
fiscal year do not have to be allocated between or among the fiscal years to which they
relate. Rather, insurance and similar services may be recognized as expenditures in the
period during which they were acquired.

More detailed information on the modified accrual basis of accounting and its application to
various types of revenues and expenditures is contained in the following chapters, which cover the
different types of governmental funds.

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF CERTAIN FUND
LIABILITIES AND EXPENDITURES

In the course of deliberations on GASBS 34, the GASB discussed areas where there were
divergences in practice in the application of the modified accrual basis of accounting and current
financial resources measurement focus. Because this basis of accounting and measurement focus
continues to be used by governmental funds in the fund financial statements, GASB Interpretation 6
(GASBI 6), Recognition and Measurement of Certain Fund Liabilities and Expenditures in
Governmental Fund Financial Statements, clarifies the recording of certain fund liabilities and
expenditures.

GASBI 6 applies to funds that use the modified accrual basis of accounting and the current
financial resources measurement focus and applies to the fund financial statements of govern-
mental funds. It addresses when certain liabilities should be recorded as fund liabilities of
governmental funds. Specifically, it includes within its scope liabilities that fall within the
following categories:

¢ Those that are generally required to be recognized when due (debt service on formal debt
issues, such as bonds and capital leases).

¢ Those that are required to be recognized to the extent that they are normally expected to be
liquidated with expendable available financial resources (such as compensated absences,
judgments and claims, landfill closure and postclosure care costs, and special termination
benefits).

e Those for which no specific accrual modification has been established.

GASBI 6 does not address whether, when, or the amount that a government should recognize
as a liability, but rather clarifies the standards for distinguishing the parts of certain liabilities that
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should be reported as governmental fund liabilities. It also does not address the financial reporting
for liabilities associated with capital leases with scheduled rent increases, employer contributions
to pension plans, or postemployment health care plans administered in accordance with GASB
Statement 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Government Employers.

Governmental funds should report matured liabilities as fund liabilities. Matured liabilities
include:

¢ Liabilities that normally are due and payable in full when incurred.
e The matured portion of general long-term debt (i.e., the portion that has come due for
payment).

In the absence of an explicit requirement (i.e., the absence of an applicable modification,
discussed below) a government should accrue a governmental fund liability and expenditure in the
period in which the government incurs the liability. Examples of these types of expenditures
include salaries, supplies, utilities, professional services, etc. These types of liabilities generally
represent claims against current financial resources to the extent that they are not paid.

As described in GASBI 6, there is a series of specific accrual modifications that have been
established in generally accepted accounting principles for reporting certain forms of long-term
indebtedness, such as:

e Debt service on formal debt issues (bonds and capital leases) should be reported as a
governmental fund liability and expenditure when due (i.e., matured). An optional
additional accrual method (described below) may be used in certain limited circumstances.

¢ Liabilities for compensated absences, claims and judgments, special termination benefits,
and landfill closure and postclosure care costs should be recognized as governmental fund
liabilities and expenditures to the extent that they are normally expected to be liquidated
with expendable available resources. Governments are normally expected to liquidate
liabilities with expendable available resources to the extent that they mature (i.e., come
due for payment). In other words, if the liability hasn’t come due, the governmental fund
should not record a liability and expenditure.

o For example, consider an employee that terminates employment with a government and is
owed accrued vacation time. A liability for the employee’s unused vacation leave does not
become due until the employee terminates employment. A fund liability and expenditure is
not recorded until the employee actually terminates employment and the amounts are due
him or her. Accordingly, if a government’s fiscal year ends on June 30, and the employee
terminates employment on July 1 and is paid for unused vacation time on July 20, no
liability or expenditure would be recorded for the June 30 financial statements of the
governmental fund. On the other hand, if the employee terminates employment on June 29
and is paid on July 20, a fund liability and expenditure would be recognized in the June 30
fund financial statements because the amount is due the employee as of June 30.

e GASBI 6 specifies that the accumulation of net assets in a governmental fund for the
eventual payment of unmatured long-term indebtedness does not constitute an outflow of
current financial resources and should not result in the recognition of an additional fund
liability or expenditure. Accumulated net assets should be reported as part of fund balance.

As mentioned above, an additional accrual of a liability and expenditure for debt service is
permitted under generally accepted accounting principles if a government has provided financial
resources to a debt service fund for payment of liabilities that will mature early in the following
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period. GASBI 6 specifies that a government has provided financial resources to a debt service
fund if it has deposited in or transferred to that fund financial resources that are dedicated for the
payment of debt service. In addition, “early in the following year” is defined as a short period of
time, usually one or several days, but not more than one month. In addition, accrual of an
additional liability and expenditure is not permitted for financial resources that are held in another
government or that are nondedicated financial resources transferred to a debt service fund at the
discretion of management.

Measurement Focus

In addition to the basis of accounting used, the other term that is key to having a full
understanding of governmental accounting is measurement focus. As mentioned earlier, measure-
ment focus determines what transactions will be reported in the various funds’ operating statements.

Governmental funds use a measurement focus known as the flow of current financial
resources. The operating statement of a governmental fund reflects changes in the amount of
financial resources available in the near future as a result of transactions and events of the fiscal
period reported. Increases in spendable resources are reported as revenues or other financing
sources and decreases in spendable resources are reported as expenditures or other financing uses.

Since the focus is on the financial resources available in the near future, the operating
statements and balance sheets of governmental funds reflect transactions and events that involved
current financial resources; for instance, those assets that will be turned into cash and spent and
those liabilities that will be satisfied with those current financial resource assets. In other words,
long-term assets and those assets that will not be turned into cash to satisfy current liabilities will
not be reflected on the balance sheets of governmental funds. At the same time, long-term
liabilities (those that will not require the use of current financial resources to pay them) will not be
recorded on the balance sheets of governmental funds.

Proprietary funds use the flow of economic resources measurement focus. This measurement
focus, which is generally the same as that used by commercial enterprises, focuses on whether the
proprietary fund is economically better off as a result of the events and transactions that have
occurred during the fiscal period reported. Transactions and events that improve the economic
position of proprietary funds are reported as revenues or gains, and transactions and events that
diminish the economic position of proprietary funds are reported as expenses or losses. In other
words, proprietary funds reflect transactions and events regardless of whether there are current
financial resources. This results in reporting both long-term assets and liabilities on the balance
sheets of proprietary funds.

NOTE: The following examples use the proprietary fund to demonstrate the accrual basis of accounting and
the economic resources measurement focus. The government-wide financial statements are prepared using
the accrual basis of accounting and the economic resources measurement focus, which are demonstrated in
the following proprietary fund examples. In other words, the entries that are recorded in the governmental
fund are simultaneously reflected in the government-wide financial statements in a manner that is essentially
the same as demonstrated for the proprietary fund.

The following examples illustrate how the various transactions are recorded by governmental
and proprietary funds when a government issues debt for capital projects, pays the debt service on
the debt, and constructs a capital asset. (For purposes of this example, we will treat governmental
funds as a generic term to avoid too many details about transfers from the general fund to and from
the debt service and capital projects funds. These issues will be addressed in later chapters.)
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Example: Government issues $100,000 in debt to be used for capital projects

Governmental Fund

When debt is issued for any purpose, a governmental fund records the transaction in its operating
statement as an increase in current financial resources. The governmental fund has more current financial
resources to spend, and its operating statement reflects this increase as follows:

Cash 100,000
Other financing source 100,000

To record the receipt of proceeds from the sale of bonds

Proprietary Fund

When a proprietary fund issues debt, there is no real change in its economic resources, and
accordingly, the transaction has no effect on the operating statement. While the proprietary fund has
incurred a liability, it has also received an equivalent amount of cash, which conceptually is available to pay
that liability. The proprietary fund would record the issuance of debt on its balance sheet only, as follows:

Cash 100,000
Bonds payable 100,000

To record the receipt of cash from the issuance of bonds

Example: Government pays debt service ($2,500 interest, $5,000 principal)

Governmental Fund

When a governmental fund pays debt service, it reflects the decrease in its current financial
resources by making the debt service payment. The following entry is recorded:

Expenditures—debt service 7,500
Cash 7,500

To record principal and interest payment on outstanding debt
Notice that both the principal and interest payment were reflected as expenditures in the
governmental fund.

Proprietary Fund

The proprietary fund will reflect that the only economic resource being used is for the payment of
interest. The principal portion of the debt service payment merely results in a decrease in cash and a
decrease in a liability, thus having no effect on economic resources. The following entry is recorded:

Bonds payable 5,000
Interest expense 2,500
Cash 7,500

To record a debt service payment of both principal and interest
If a debt service payment was not made at the end of a financial reporting period, interest expense
would be accrued by the proprietary fund. The following entry would be recorded:

Interest expense 2,500
Interest payable 2,500

To record the accrual of interest on proprietary fund debt
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Assuming that the debt service payment was made the following day (that is, the amount of interest
paid is the same as the amount accrued), the following entry would be recorded to reflect the debt service
payment:

Bonds payable 5,000
Interest expense 2,500
Cash 7,500

To record a debt service payment of both principal and accrued interest

Example: Government pays $100,000 to a contractor after purchasing a building (a capital asset)

Governmental Fund

Again, governmental funds will recognize that current financial resources have decreased by
$100,000 and will record the following entry:

Expenditures—capital projects 100,000
Cash 100,000

To record the purchase of a capital asset
Proprietary Fund

The proprietary fund would record the following entry to record the purchase of the building:

Building 100,000
Cash 100,000

To record the purchase of a building

Again, there is no effect on net economic resources; since one asset (a building) is being substituted
for another (cash), there is no effect on the statement of operations.

Example: Building has been in use for one year of its 20-year useful life

Governmental Fund

The governmental fund does not record any depreciation on the building since no current financial
resources are depleted by the aging of the building.

Proprietary Fund

The proprietary fund reflects the fact that some of its economic resources have been depleted by the
building’s use for one year. It would reflect the following entry, which would affect its statement of
operations:

Depreciation expense 5,000
Accumulated depreciation—buildings 5,000

To record the first year’s depreciation on the building

The depreciation entries would be repeated in subsequent years by the proprietary funds, and (if
recording accumulated depreciation is elected by the government) in subsequent years in the general
fixed asset account group.
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Example: After five years, the government sells the building to a not-for-profit organization
for $20,000

Governmental Fund

The governmental fund would record the $20,000 as an increase in its current financial resources,
as follows:

Cash 20,000
Miscellaneous revenues (or “Other financing 20,000
sources” if the amount is material)

To record sale of building

Proprietary Fund

A proprietary fund would reflect the economic loss from the sale for $20,000 of an asset with a
book value of $75,000. A proprietary fund would record the following entry:

Cash 20,000
Accumulated depreciation 25,000
Loss on sale of building 55,000
Building 100,000

To record the sale of a building

The above examples and journal entries were simplified to highlight the differences in
measurement focus between governmental and proprietary funds; however, they demonstrate how
the same transaction can have significantly different accounting treatments. The measurement
focus of proprietary funds is familiar to most accountants because of its similarity to that used by
commercial enterprises. The current financial resources measurement focus used by governmental
funds generally is more difficult for accountants just becoming familiar with governmental
accounting, since there is virtually no comparable measurement focus used outside of govern-
ment. Accountants must take care in applying the principles of the current financial resources
focus to ensure that all facets of recording a particular transaction and event are considered and
properly recorded.

A SYNOPSIS OF BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND MEASUREMENT FOCUS
USED BY EACH TYPE OF FUND

Exhibit 3 serves as a reference for determining the basis of accounting and measurement focus
used by the different fund types used in governmental accounting and financial reporting. For
specific information on how the common transactions found in each particular fund type are
treated under the particular fund’s measurement focus, government financial statement preparers
and auditors should refer to the specific chapters covering each of the fund types.
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Exhibit 3

Fund

Measurement focus

Basis of accounting

Funds (current GAAP):

General

Special revenue

Capital projects

Debt service

Permanent

Enterprise

Internal service

Pension and other employee
benefit trust

Investment trust

Agency

Private-purpose trust

Flow of current financial resources
Flow of current financial resources
Flow of current financial resources
Flow of current financial resources
Flow of current financial resources
Flow of economic resources
Flow of economic resources
Flow of economic resources

Flow of economic resources
Not applicable
Flow of economic resources

Modified accrual
Modified accrual
Modified accrual
Modified accrual
Modified accrual
Accrual
Accrual
Accrual

Accrual
Modified accrual
Accrual

SUMMARY

Understanding the concepts of basis of accounting and measurement focus is important to
understanding the nuances of governmental accounting. The differences in basis of accounting
and measurement focus found in governmental accounting represent attempts by standard setters
to better attain the financial reporting objectives discussed in Chapter 2.
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INTRODUCTION

The general fund and special revenue funds are distinct. This chapter examines them together
because many of the accounting and reporting aspects of these two fund types are the same. The
financial reporting of a general fund is often used as an important indication of a government’s
financial performance. When a state or municipality reports that it has a “surplus” or a “deficit,”
what it is often referring to is the financial performance reported by the general fund. To enable the
financial statement preparer to understand how and when these funds should be used, this chapter
examines the following topics:

e Basis of accounting and measurement focus.

e Nature and use of the general fund.

e Nature and use of special revenue funds.

e Accounting for certain revenues and expenditures of general and special revenue funds.

e Accounting for assets, liabilities, and fund balances of general and special revenue
funds.

Additional information regarding the budgets and display of these types of funds in a
government’s financial statements is found in Chapters 9 and 10, respectively.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND MEASUREMENT FOCUS

The general and special revenue funds are governmental funds. As such, they use the
modified accrual basis of accounting and the current financial resources measurement focus.

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues and other general and special
revenue fund revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which they become

49
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susceptible to accrual. Susceptible to accrual means that the revenues are both measurable and
available. Available means that the revenues are collectible within the current period or soon
enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. In applying the susceptibility
to accrual criterion, judgment must be used to determine materiality of the revenues involved,
the practicality of determining the accrual, and the consistency in application of accounting
principles.

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, expenditures are recognized when the
liability is incurred and payment is due. Goods and services received prior to the end of the fiscal
year of the government are recognized in the period that a liability for the goods or services is
incurred, generally when the goods and services are received. (As described later in this chapter,
an exception to the general rule is that inventories and prepaid items may be recognized as
expenditures when they are used instead of when they are received.)

The general fund and the special revenue funds use the current financial resources measure-
ment focus. The measurement focus determines what transactions are recognized in the funds, in
contrast to the basis of accounting, which determines when transactions are recognized in the
funds.

Under the current financial resources measurement focus, the emphasis is on increases and
decreases in the amount of spendable resources during the reporting period. Thus, as a
generalization, long-term assets and liabilities are not recorded in general and special revenue
funds. Rather, these long-term assets and liabilities are recorded in the government-wide financial
statements, along with all of the other long-term assets and liabilities of the primary government
and its component units.

NOTE: The reader should refer to Chapter 9, which describes changes to the reporting of amounts
related to revenue recognition in governmental funds upon the effectiveness of GASB Statement No. 65,
Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. Revenue and other governmental fund financial
resources should be recognized in the accounting period in which they become both measurable and
available. When an asset is recorded in governmental fund financial statements but the revenue is not
available, the government should report a deferred inflow of resources until such time as the revenue
becomes available.

NATURE AND USE OF THE GENERAL FUND

The general fund is the chief operating fund of a government. A government is permitted by
GAAP to report only one general fund. GASBS 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental
Fund Definitions, provides that the general fund “. . . should be used to account for all financial
resources not accounted for and reported in another fund.” This definition is consistent with
current practices and should not result in a change in what has historically been reported in the
general fund. There should be a compelling reason for a government to account for financial
resources in a fund other than the general fund. The GAAFR provides three examples of
compelling reasons that might justify accounting for resources in a fund other than the general
fund. These reasons are

1. In certain circumstances, GAAP specifically requires the use of another fund. For
example, a capital projects fund is required to account for capital grants or shared
revenues restricted for capital acquisition or construction. (This requirement does not
apply to grants and shared revenues associated with enterprise and internal service funds,
which would be accounted for in these funds.)
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2. There may be legal requirements that a certain fund type be used to account for a given
activity. For example, some governments require that all repayments of general obligation
debt be accumulated in a debt service fund.

3. The requirements to exercise sound financial administration may require the use of a fund
other than the general fund. Governments, for example, typically use an enterprise fund to
account for the activities of a public utility that they operate. This not only segregates the
activities of the public utility; it also permits the public utility to use the accrual basis of
accounting and the economic resources measurement focus, which more appropriately
reports the activity of a profit-oriented operation.

NOTE: The above example of a public utility’s operation being set up in an enterprise fund is an excellent
example of using a separate fund for sound financial administration. However, governments should be
careful not to overuse the “sound financial administration” justification. Less sophisticated, manual
accounting systems of the past may have used fund accounting to promote sound financial administration.
However, even the simplest accounting software package today generally allows users to set up numerous
agencies, cost centers, departments, or other tracking mechanisms that can facilitate financial management,
thereby not requiring separate funds to promote sound financial administration.

Since the general fund is a “catchall” fund, it would make no sense for a government to have more
than one general fund. As mentioned earlier, a government is prohibited from having multiple general
funds for accounting and financial reporting. However, two situations require special treatment.

1. If a state or local law or other requirement specifies that a government should have more
than one general fund, these “multiple general funds” should be treated as components of a
single general fund.

2. A blended component unit may have its own general fund. When the financial information
of the component unit is blended with that of the primary government, it would logically
result in more than one general fund reported in the “general fund” column. In this case,
the general fund of each component unit should be reported as a special revenue fund
when the financial information of the component unit is blended. In this way, the general
fund for the reporting entity represents the single general fund of the primary government.

NATURE AND USE OF SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

GASBS 54 provides that special revenue funds “. . . are used to account for and report the
proceeds of specific revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditure for specific
purposes other than debt service or capital projects.” Restricted and committed resources are
discussed in Chapter 9 with regard to fund balance reporting. Generally:

¢ Restricted resources are amounts restricted to specific purposes (consistent with the definition
of “restricted” in GASBS 34) when the constraints on the use of resources are either:

¢ Externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contribu-
tors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or
¢ Imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

¢ Committed resources are amounts that can only be used for specific purposes resulting
from constraints imposed by the formal action of the government’s highest level of
decision-making authority.
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It is important to note that special revenue funds should not be used to account for resources
that are only assigned or unassigned. Assigned resources are those amounts constrained by the
government’s intent to those amounts for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor
committed. Unassigned resources are resources that are not restricted, committed, or assigned.
Thus, in practice, implementation of GASBS 54 may result in resources currently being accounted
for in special revenue funds no longer qualifying for reporting in a special revenue fund, in which
case their accounting would be moved to the general fund.

Second, it is important to note that GASB 54 does not require that resources that are restricted
or committed be reported in a special revenue fund. The use of special revenue funds remains
optional.

Several other points on special revenue funds are worth noting from GASBS 54:

e The phrase “proceeds of specific resources” used above in defining what resources may
be reported in a special revenue fund means that one or more specific restricted or
committed revenues should be the foundation for a special revenue fund. In other
words, special revenue funds should be driven more by their revenue sources rather than
their activities.

e Ifrestricted or committed resources are initially received in another fund and subsequently
distributed to a special revenue fund, those amounts should not be recognized as revenue
in the fund initially receiving the resources. Rather, the inflow of these resources should be
recognized as revenue in the special revenue fund in which they will be expended in
accordance with specific purposes.

e Special revenue funds should not be used to account for resources held in trust for
individuals, private organizations, or other governments.

GASBS 54 also provides that the restricted or committed proceeds of specific revenue sources
should be expected to continue to comprise a substantial portion of the inflows reported in the
fund. Other resources (such as investment earnings and transfers from other funds) also may be
reported in the fund if those resources are restricted, committed, or assigned to the specified
purpose of the fund. For revolving loan arrangements that are initially funded with restricted grant
revenues, the consideration may be whether those restricted resources continue to comprise a
substantial portion of the fund balance in the fund’s balance sheet.

GASBS 54 specifies that governments should discontinue reporting a special revenue fund,
and instead report the fund’s remaining resources in the general fund, if the government no longer
expects that a substantial portion of the inflows will derive from restricted or committed revenue
sources.

In addition, GASBS 54 requires governments to disclose in the notes to the financial
statements the purpose for each major special revenue fund—identifying which revenues and
other resources are reported in each of those funds.

NOTE: The accountability concern described above is often cited as a reason for establishing special
revenue funds and should be easy to address in terms of budget and other controls on accounts that are
maintained in a government’s general fund. As long as the specially designated revenue and related
expenditures can be specifically identified in the accounts of the general ledger, accountability should be
demonstrable without the use of special revenue funds.

Similarly, the conceptual issue of including restricted revenues and expenditures in the
general fund, thus masking the restriction, should not preclude governments from accounting
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for these revenues and expenditures in their general fund. The restriction of revenues and
expenditures is part of the budget process. Continuing the gasoline tax example, if a
government budgets its gasoline tax revenues at a certain amount, it needs to budget its
road repair expenditures based on the budgeted revenues available for use. It must do this
whether the gasoline tax and the road repair expenditures are accounted for in the general fund
or in a special revenue fund.

In practice, the gasoline tax may not actually pay for all of the road repairs that a government
desires to make during a reporting period, and the government may elect to incur expenditures for
road repairs in an amount greater than the amount of the gasoline tax revenue. This excess would
be made up from other nonrestricted revenues of the general fund. In this case, it would seem to
report all road repair expenditures in the same fund—the general fund.

NOTE: When revenues are derived from new or increased taxes that are specifically restricted for a
particular use, it is often simply a mechanism to mask a new or increased tax. In the example, taxpayers are
assumed to be more willing to pay a new or increased gasoline tax if it is restricted for road repairs.
Nevertheless, the government probably would have incurred the same level of expenditures for road repair
whether a gasoline tax was imposed or increased. Therefore, is this “restriction” of revenue or a specific type
of expenditure more form-over-substance and not worthy of its own special revenue fund? It is arguable that
this is exactly the case and a special revenue fund should not be established.

When a government decides that it will use special revenue funds, it must then decide how
many special revenue funds it should create. On one hand, particularly when the government is
electing on its own to establish special revenue funds, only one special revenue fund may be
established. This would then account for all of the types of special revenues and their related
expenditures.

On the other hand, if there are laws, regulations, or contractual agreements that require that
particular designated revenues and their expenditures be accounted for in their own funds, the
government will need to establish as many separate special revenue funds as it is legally or
otherwise required to have. Exhibit 1 provides an example of the process that a government may
use to determine how many special revenue funds to establish.

Exhibit 1

Consider the following example for a government determining how many special revenue funds
it should establish and use. Assume that the only specially restricted revenues that the government
receives are categorical grants. There is no legal or contractual requirement to account for these funds
as special revenue funds. The government may choose to establish one special revenue fund to
account for all of its categorical aid revenues and expenditures. On the other hand, the government
may choose to classify categorical aid in special revenue funds based on funding source or type of
aid. For example, separate special revenue funds might be established for federal, state, county, or
other local government categorical aid. Similarly, separate special revenue funds may be established
for categorical education aid, social service program aid, or public safety grants. At the extreme level,
a government may choose to establish a separate special revenue fund for each categorical aid grant
or contract that it receives. It may even segregate these further by establishing new special revenue
funds for each grant or contract year. Keep in mind that the governments may also establish no
special revenue funds for categorical aid, accounting for all of these revenues and expenditures in the
general fund.
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ACCOUNTING FOR CERTAIN REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES OF
GENERAL AND SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

The following pages review in detail the types of revenue transactions typically accounted for
by both the general fund and special revenue funds. Many of the revenues recorded by the general
and special revenue funds are derived from nonexchange transactions that are described in
Chapter 20.

Special program considerations—food stamps. Specific guidance on accounting and
financial reporting for food stamps was provided by GASBS 24. State governments should
recognize distributions of food stamp benefits (now referred to as the Supplemental Nutrition
Assistance Program, or “SNAP”) as revenues and expenditures in the general fund or in a special
revenue fund, whether the state government distributes the benefits directly or through agents, to
the ultimate individual recipients regardless of whether the benefits are in paper or electronic form.
Expenditures should be recognized when the benefits are distributed to the individual state
government or its agents. Revenue should be recognized at the same time. When food stamps are
distributed using an electronic benefit transfer system, distribution (and accordingly, expenditure
and revenue recognition) takes place when the individual recipients use the benefits.

State governments should report food stamp balances held by them or by their agents at the
balance sheet date as an asset offset by deferred revenue. Revenues, expenditures, and balances of
food stamps should be measured based on the face value of the food stamps.

NOTE: GASBS 24’s requirements for recording revenues and expenditures for food stamps apply to state
governments because of the substance of their administrative requirements for this program. The GASB did
not require local governments to report revenues and expenditures for food stamp coupons or vouchers that
another entity redeems from a retailer. The GASB noted that local government involvement in the
administration of the food stamp program will decrease as the use of electronic benefit transfer systems
increases. In addition, the GASB did not impose any disclosure requirements on local governments relative
to their involvement in the food stamp program.

Special program considerations—on-behalf payments for fringe benefits and salaries.
On-behalf payments for fringe benefits and salaries are direct payments made by one entity (the
paying entity or paying government) to a third-party recipient for the employees of another, legally
separate entity (the employer entity or employer government). On-behalf payments include
pension plan contributions, employee health and life insurance premiums, and salary supplements
or stipends. For example, a state government may make contributions directly to a pension plan for
elementary and secondary school teachers employed in public school districts within the state. For
purposes of this discussion, on-behalf payments do not include contributed services, such as office
space or utilities.

On-behalf payments include payments made by governmental entities on behalf of non-
governmental entities and payments made by nongovernmental entities on behalf of governmental
entities. (For example, a nongovernmental fundraising foundation affiliated with a governmental
college or university may supplement salaries of certain university faculty. Those payments
constitute on-behalf payments for purposes of reporting by the university if they are made to the
faculty members in their capacity as employees of the college or university.)

On-behalf payments may be made not only for paid employees of the employer entity, but
may also be for volunteers, such as state government pension contributions for volunteer
firefighters who work with a city fire department.
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An employer government should recognize revenue and expenditures for on-behalf payments
for fringe benefits and salaries. The employer government should recognize revenue equal to the
amounts that third-party recipients of the payments received and that are receivable at year-end for
the current fiscal year.

GASBS 24 provides the following guidance:

¢ If the employer government is not legally responsible for the payment, it should recognize
expenditures (or expenses if paid out of a fund using proprietary fund—type accounting)
equal to the amount recognized as revenue.

o If the employer government is legally responsible for the payment, it should follow
accounting standards for that type of transaction to recognize expenditures and related
assets or liabilities. For example, expenditures for on-behalf payments for contributions to
a pension plan should be recognized and measured using pension plan accounting
standards for state and local governmental employers. A legally responsible entity is
the entity required by legal or contractual provisions to make the payment. For example,
for a state government’s payments to pension plans that cover local government employ-
ees, state laws generally provide that either the state government or the local government
employer shall make the current payment.

GASBS 24 also includes disclosure requirements for on-behalf payments. Employer gov-
ernments should disclose in the notes to the financial statements the amounts recognized for on-
behalf payments for fringe benefits and salaries. For on-behalf payments that are contributions to
pension plans for which an employer government is not legally responsible, the employer
government should disclose the name of the plan that covers its employees and the name of
the entity that makes the contributions.

Special Considerations—Component Units

In some cases, legally separate entities that are part of the same governmental reporting
entity may make pass-through payments and on-behalf payments to and from each other.
These payments should be reclassified for purposes of the presentation in the governmental
fund financial statements as operating transfers in and out, rather than as revenues and
expenditures.

Special Assessments

Some capital improvements or services provided by local governments are intended to benefit
a particular property owner or group of property owners rather than the general citizenry. Special
assessments for capital improvements are discussed in Chapter 5. Special assessments for special
services, however, are generally accounted for in the general fund or in a special revenue fund, and
therefore are included in this chapter.

Service-type special assessment projects are for operating activities and do not result in the
purchase or construction of fixed assets. The assessments are often for services that are normally
provided to the public as general governmental functions that are otherwise financed by the
general fund or a special revenue fund. Examples of these services include street lighting, street
cleaning, and snow plowing. Financing for these routine services typically comes from general
revenues. However, when routine services are extended to property owners outside the normal
service area of the government or are provided at a higher level or more frequent intervals than for
the general public, a government sometimes levies a special assessment on those property owners
who are the recipients of the higher level of service.
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GASB Statement 6 (GASBS 6), Accounting and Financial Reporting for Special Assess-
ments, eliminated a separate fund type for special assessments and directed that these arrange-
ments be accounted for in a general fund, special revenue fund, capital projects fund, or debt
service fund, depending on the nature of the special assessment.

The general fund or special revenue funds should be used to account for special service-type
assessments. Without special legal restrictions to create a separate fund, the general fund is usually
a good choice to account for these activities and the related revenue. Service-type special
assessment revenues should be treated in a manner similar to user fees and should be recorded
in accordance with the modified accrual basis of accounting. The related expenditures should also
be accounted for similarly to other expenditures of the general fund and special revenue fund.
Accounting for expenditures of these funds is discussed in a later section of this chapter.

Miscellaneous Revenues

In addition to the major categories of revenues described above, the general and special
revenue funds are used to account for various miscellaneous revenues that the government
receives. Examples of these miscellaneous revenues include fines and forfeitures, golf and
swimming fees, inspection charges, parking fees, and parking meter receipts. These miscellaneous
revenues should theoretically be accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting in
the funds and the accrual basis of accounting in the government-wide financial statements.
However, sometimes these are de minimis amounts and recording these types of revenues on the
cash basis may be acceptable since the difference between the cash basis and the modified accrual
and accrual basis would be very small.

Expenditures

The measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on expenditures rather than
expenses. Expenditures in the general and special revenue funds result in net decreases in financial
resources. Since most expenditures and transfers out of the fund are measurable, they should be
recorded when the related liability is incurred.

General and special revenue funds should therefore generally record expenditures when a
liability is incurred and payment is due. In the simplest example, goods and services received prior
to the end of the fiscal year should be accrued as expenditures because the liability for the goods or
services has been incurred and the payment is due to the vendor that provided the goods and
services. The special nature of the current financial resources measurement focus used by
governmental funds results in eight different types of expenditures to not be recognized when
the liability is incurred. These types of expenditures (and the chapter in which they are addressed)
are as follows:

e Compensated absences (Chapter 18).

e Judgments and claims (Chapter 21).

¢ Unfunded pension contributions (Chapter 17).

e Special termination benefits (Chapter 17).

e Landfill closure and postclosure costs (Chapter 16).

e Debt service (Chapter 6).

¢ Supplies inventories and prepaids (discussed below).

e Operating leases with scheduled rent increases (Chapter 19).

The exceptions referred to above arise because governmental funds such as the general fund
and special revenue funds record expenditures when a liability is incurred, but only record the
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liability for the fund when the liability will be liquidated with expendable available financial
resources. In addition, the focus on current financial resources means that the accounting for the
purchase of long-term assets is different than that encountered in commercial organizations. These
concepts are more fully discussed below and in Chapter 3.

NOTE: For governments that have fundraising activities, readers should be aware of the guidance of
AICPA Statement of Position 98-2, Accounting for Costs of Activity of Not-for-Profit Organizations and
State and Local Governmental Entities That Include Fundraising. This SOP, now included in the FASB
Accounting Standards Codification at 958-720, is discussed more fully in Chapter 23. This SOP was
cleared by the GASB and includes governmental entities in its scope, and thus is category (b) guidance for
governmental entities.

ACCOUNTING FOR ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND FUND BALANCES OF
GENERAL AND SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

The balance sheets of the general fund and special revenue funds should contain only assets
that are current financial resources and the liabilities that those current financial resources will be
used to pay.

On the asset side of the balance sheet, the following are the typical assets normally found on
general and special revenue fund balance sheets, along with the location in this Guide where the
accounting and financial reporting requirements are discussed:

Cash and investments (Chapter 12).

Receivables (discussed with related revenue accounts in this chapter and Chapter 20).
Interfund receivables (Chapter 9).

¢ Inventories and prepaids (discussed below).

On the liability side of the balance sheet, the following are the typical liabilities normally
found on general and special revenue fund balance sheets, along with the location in this Guide
where the accounting and financial reporting requirements are discussed:

e Accounts payable and accrued expenses (addressed with related expenditure recognition
in this chapter).

¢ Interfund payables (Chapter 9).

e Deferred revenues (discussed with the related revenue accounts in this chapter).

e Revenue anticipation notes and tax anticipation notes (Chapter 7).

As can be seen from the previous paragraphs, there are limited accounts and balances that are
reported on the balance sheets of the general fund and special revenue funds. Two areas that are
not covered elsewhere in this guide relating to the balance sheets of these fund types are the
accounting and financial reporting for inventories and prepaids and the classification of fund
balances. These two topics are discussed in the following sections.

Inventories and Prepaids

There are alternative expenditure and asset recognition methods at the final financial
statement level for materials and supplies and prepaids.

¢ Inventory items, such as materials and supplies, may be considered expenditures when
purchased (referred to as the purchase method) or when used (referred to as the
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consumption method). (Exhibit 2 provides an example of the journal entries resulting
from the use of the consumption method.) However, when a government has significant
amounts of inventory, it should be reported on the balance sheet. The credit amount that
offsets the debit recorded on the balance sheet for inventories is “reserved fund
balance,” discussed in the following section on fund balance reservations. A similar
reservation of fund balance is recorded when prepaid items are recorded as assets on the
balance sheet.

¢ Expenditures for insurance and similar services extending over more than one accounting
period need not be allocated between or among accounting periods, but may be accounted
for as expenditures in the period of acquisition.

Exhibit 2

The following journal entries illustrate the use of the consumption method of accounting for
supplies inventory. Assume that the city of Anywhere purchases $50,000 of supplies inventory
during the fiscal year. It began the fiscal year with $25,000 of supplies inventory on hand (that is, an
asset was recorded for $25,000 and a reservation of fund balance was recorded for $25,000 at the
beginning of the year). All of these beginning-of-the-year supplies were consumed. At the end of the
fiscal year, $10,000 of supplies remain on hand.

The following journal entries would be recorded during this fiscal year.

1. Expenditures—Supplies 25,000
Supplies 25,000

To record the consumption of supplies on hand at the beginning of the year

2. Fund balance—Reserved for supplies 25,000

Fund balance 25,000
To record the removal of the reservation of the beginning of the year fund balance for supplies
consumed
3. Supplies 50,000
Cash (or accounts payable) 50,000
To record the purchase of supplies during the year
4. Expenditures—Supplies 40,000
Supplies 40,000
To record the consumption of supplies that were purchased during the current year
5. Fund balance 10,000
Fund balance—Reserved for supplies 10,000

To record a reservation of fund balance for supplies on hand at the end of the fiscal year

Thus, at the end of the year, the balance sheet will reflect an asset for the $10,000 of supplies
remaining on hand, along with a reservation of fund balance for an equal amount. Expenditures for
the year for supplies will be $65,000, which reflects consumption of the $25,000 of supplies on
hand at the beginning of the year in addition to the consumption of $40,000 of supplies that were
purchased during the year.

For accounting for inventories at the government-wide financial statement level, the
consumption method would be used. In addition, there would be no restriction on net position
to correspond to the reservation of fund balance recorded above.



Chapter 4 / General Fund and Special Revenue Funds 59

Fund Balances

The equity (assets less liabilities) of the general fund and any special revenue funds reported
as fund balance. GASBS 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Definitions,
resulted in significant changes to the way that fund balance information is disclosed in fund
financial statements. Fund balances are reported as restricted, committed, assigned, and
unassigned. These distinctions are more fully described in Chapter 9. Note, however, that
only a general fund would report a positive amount of its fund balance as “unassigned” under
GASBS 54.

SUMMARY

This chapter discussed appropriate uses of the general fund and special revenue funds, when
the government is required or elects to establish special revenue funds. It also addressed some of
the more common types of revenues, expenditures, assets, and liabilities found in the general fund
and special revenue funds. This guidance should be used in conjunction with the other specialized
accounting treatments for various types of transactions and balances discussed throughout this
guide.
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INTRODUCTION

Governments often use the capital projects fund type to account for and report major capital
acquisition and construction activities. GASBS 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental
Fund Definitions, provides that capital projects funds should be used to *“. . . account for and
report financial resources that are restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditure for capital
outlays, including the acquisition of construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.”
GASBS 54 further provides that capital projects funds should exclude those types of capital
related outflows financed by proprietary funds or for assets that will be held in trust for individuals,
private organizations, or other governments.

This is actually a broader definition of the use of capital projects funds than previously
existed under GAAP, which provided that capital projects funds be used to account for the
acquisitions or construction of major capital facilities. Despite the previous GAAP definition,
many governments in practice used capital projects funds to account for the acquisitions of all
capital assets, not just major capital facilities. The GASB had originally proposed keeping the
existing definition essentially unchanged. As current practice had evolved away from promul-
gated GAAP, the new standard would have ironically resulted in many governments having to
change what they accounted for in capital projects funds, despite the definition not changing.
The GASB responded to this inconsistency and broadened the definition that was adopted by
GASBS 54 so that there should be little, if any, change in practice upon implementation of
GASBS 54.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

As a governmental fund type, capital projects funds use the modified accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues are recorded when they are susceptible to accrual (that is, they are accrued
when they become measurable and available). Expenditures are recorded when the liability is
incurred. The expenditure recognition exceptions (inventories, prepaid items, judgments and
claims, etc.) described in Chapter 4 relating to general and special revenue funds would also apply
to capital projects funds.

61
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MEASUREMENT FOCUS

As a governmental fund type, capital projects funds use the current financial resources
measurement focus. The operating statement of the capital projects fund reports increases and
decreases in spendable resources. Increases in spendable resources are reported in the operating
statement as “revenues’ and “other financing sources, “ while decreases in spendable resources are
reported as “expenditures” or “other financing uses.” As such, it is worthy to note that while
capital projects funds are used to account for resources used in major acquisition or construction
projects, the resulting assets are not reported as assets of the capital projects fund. Rather, these
assets are reported only in the government-wide financial statements. The capital projects fund
accounts for the acquisition and construction of assets as expenditures.

NOTE: The reader should refer to Chapter 9, which describes changes to the reporting of amounts related to
revenue recognition in governmental funds upon the effectiveness of GASB Statement No. 65, Items
Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. Revenue and other governmental fund financial resources
should be recognized in the accounting period in which they become both measurable and available. When
an asset is recorded in governmental fund financial statements but the revenue is not available, the
government should report a deferred inflow of resources until such time as the revenue becomes available.

WHEN ARE CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS USED?

In most cases, governments are permitted, but not required, to establish capital projects funds
to account for resources used for major acquisition and construction of assets. The majority of
governments use one or more capital projects funds to account for these activities. As seen in the
following discussion, the significance of the dollar amounts that flow through the capital projects
fund to the general fund might well result in an overshadowing of the general governmental
activities reported in the general fund. Capital projects funds are also used to account for special
revenues that relate to capital projects as well as capital improvements financed by special
assessments. A later section of this chapter describes the accounting and financial reporting when
special assessment debt is issued to finance capital projects.

While GAAP does not require the use of capital projects funds, their use may sometimes be
required by particular grants, contracts (including debt covenants), or local laws. They are often
used when debt proceeds are required to be used for capital projects.

Once a government determines that it desires to establish a capital projects fund, the
government needs to decide how many capital projects funds should be established. A government
may well determine that it can adequately account for and manage its capital projects with one
capital projects fund. This serves to simplify financial reporting and provide the government with
the opportunity to utilize its accounting system to track and manage individual projects within its
capital projects funds.

On the other hand, a government may decide that establishing a number of capital projects
funds will better serve its accountability and financial management needs. While governmental
financial statement preparers will certainly have their own views on when using multiple capital
projects funds is appropriate, it would seem that when there are two to five major capital projects
that dominate the major asset acquisition or construction activities of the government, using an
individual capital projects fund for each of these few significant capital projects would be
appropriate.
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REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

The number of categories and types of revenues and other financing sources that are typically
found in capital projects funds are usually far fewer than those found in the general and special
revenue funds. Since governments typically finance major acquisitions and construction of capital
assets through the use of debt, the issuance of debt is typically the most significant source of
resources for capital projects funds, and it is reported as an “other financing” source. In addition,
capital projects funds may account for receipt of resources in the form of nonexchange
transactions from federal, state, or other aid programs, transfers from other funds, such as the
general fund, and capital leases. The following paragraphs describe some of the accounting issues
that governments may encounter in accounting for these resources in capital projects funds.

Proceeds from Debt Issuance

This section describes the appropriate accounting for the proceeds from debt issuance. In
addition to the general concept of accounting for debt proceeds in the capital projects fund,
specific guidance that relates to bond anticipation notes, demand bonds, special assessment debt,
and arbitrage rebate considerations are discussed.

Basic journal entries to record the issuance of debt. As mentioned above, proceeds from
the sale of debt to finance projects accounted for by the capital projects funds should be recorded
as an other financing source of the capital projects fund. To illustrate the proper accounting within
the capital projects fund, assume that a government issues debt with a face amount of $100,000.
The basic journal entry that would be recorded is

Cash 100,000
Other financing sources—proceeds from the sale of bonds 100,000

To record the sale of bonds

However, the simplicity of this journal entry is rarely encountered in practice. For example,
when bonds are issued, there are underwriter fees, attorney fees, and other costs that are typically
deducted from the proceeds of the bonds. Assume in the above example that such fees are $5,000.
A government has two ways to account for these fees. It can record the proceeds from the bonds
net of the issuance costs and fees, or it can record the proceeds of the debt at the gross amount and
record an expenditure for the issuance fees and costs. The GAAFR recommends that the latter
method be used, in which an expenditure is recorded for the issuance fees and costs. Using this
recommended approach, the following journal entry would be recorded:

Cash 95,000
Expenditures—bond issuance costs 5,000
Other financing sources—proceeds from the sale of bonds 100,000

To record the issuance of bonds and the payment of bond issuance costs
If the government were to record the proceeds of the bond issuance net of applicable issuance
costs and expenses, the following journal entry would be recorded:

Cash 95,000
Other financing sources—proceeds from the sale of bonds 95,000

To record the proceeds from the sale of bonds, net of issuance costs
There are two other instances that represent a departure from the simplified first journal entry
provided above. These instances are when bonds are issued at a premium or a discount.
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Bonds are issued at a discount when the prevailing market interest rate at the time of issuance
is higher than the stated or coupon rate of interest for the particular bonds being issued. If the
$100,000 of face-amount bonds were actually sold for $97,500 and there was still $5,000 of
issuance costs, the recommended journal entry is

Cash 92,500
Expenditures—bond issuance costs 5,000
Other financing sources—proceeds from the sale of bonds 97,500

To record the sale of bonds at a discount, net of issuance costs and fees

If the prevailing market rate of interest is lower than the stated or coupon rate of interest of the
specific bonds being issued, the bonds would be sold at a premium. Assuming the same facts as in
the previous journal entry, except that the bonds were sold at a $2,500 premium instead of a
$2,500 discount, the following journal entry would be recorded:

Cash 97,500
Expenditures—bond issuance costs 5,000
Other financing sources—proceeds from the sale of bonds 102,500

To record the sale of $100,000 face-amount bonds at a premium, net of bond issuance costs
and fees

Note that no further journal entries to amortize the premium or discount would be required by the
capital projects fund. Because the measurement focus of the capital projects fund is on current financial
resources, the fund simply records the bond proceeds (that is, the current financial resources received)
which willlikely reflect premium or discount. Since the debtis notrecorded in the capital projects fund,
there is no need to record amortization of the premium or discount. Amortization of premium or
discount (as well as issuance costs) would be recorded in the government-wide financial statements.

Bond Anticipation Notes

Bond anticipation notes are a mechanism for state and local governments to obtain financing in
the form of a short-term note that the government intends to pay off with the proceeds of a long-term
bond. Revenue and tax anticipation notes are also sources of short-term financing for governments.
However, these short-term notes are not anticipated to be repaid from bond proceeds. They are
expected to be paid from future collections of tax revenues, often real estate taxes, or other sources of
revenue, often federal or state categorical aid. The accounting for transactions of the capital projects
fund is most concerned with bond anticipation notes, since bonds are the most likely source of
proceeds to finance the capital projects accounted for by the capital projects fund. The accounting
question for bond anticipation notes is whether the notes should be recorded as a short-term liability
and recorded in the fund, or whether certain prescribed conditions are met to enable the notes to be
treated as long-term obligations and recorded only in the government-wide financial statements.

NCGA Interpretation 9 (NCGAI9), Certain Fund Classifications and Balance Sheet Accounts,
addresses the question of how bond, revenue, and tax anticipation notes should be reflected in the
financial statements of a government, particularly how they should be accounted for by governmental
funds. This guidance is particularly relevant for the capital projects funds because these are the funds
that usually receive the proceeds of bonds issued to finance major asset acquisitions or construction.

NCGALI 9 prescribes that if all legal steps have been taken to refinance the bond anticipation
notes and the interest is supported by an ability to consummate refinancing the short-term notes on a
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long-term basis in accordance with the criteria originally set forth in FASB Statement 6 (SFAS 6),

Classification of Short-Term Obligations Expected to Be Refinanced (now at FASB Accounting

Standards Codification Topic 470), they should not be shown as a fund liability, although they would

be recorded as a liability on the government-wide statement of net position. However, if the

necessary legal steps and the ability to consummate refinancing criteria have not been met, then the

bond anticipation notes should be reported as a fund liability in the fund receiving the proceeds.
The requirements (referred to above) are as follows:

The enterprise’s intent to refinance the short-term obligation on a long-term basis is supported
by an ability to consummate the refinancing demonstrated in either of the following ways:

a. Post-balance-sheet date issuance of long-term obligation or equity securities. After the
date of an enterprise’s balance sheet, but before that balance sheet is issued, a long-term
obligation . . . has been issued for the purpose of refinancing the short-term obligation
on a long-term basis; or

b. Financing agreement. Before the balance sheet is issued, the enterprise entered into a
financing agreement that clearly permits the enterprise to refinance the short-term
obligation on a long-term basis on terms that are readily determinable, and all of the
following conditions are met:

i. The agreement does not expire within one year (or operating cycle) from the date of
the enterprise’s balance sheet and during that period the agreement is not cancelable
by the lender or the prospective lender or investor (and obligations incurred under
the agreement are not callable during that period) except for the violation of a
provision with which compliance is objectively determinable or measurable.

ii. No violation of any provision of the financing agreement exists at the balance sheet
date and no available information indicates that a violation has occurred thereafter
but prior to the issuance of the balance sheet, or, if one exists at the balance sheet
date or has occurred thereafter, a waiver has been obtained.

iii. The lender or the prospective lender or investor with which the enterprise has entered
into the financing agreement is expected to be financially capable of honoring the
agreement.

For purposes of applying the above provisions, a “violation of a provision” is a failure to meet
a condition set forth in the agreement or breach or violation of a provision such as a restrictive
covenant, representation, or warranty, whether or not a grace period is allowed or the lender is
required to give notice. In addition, when a financing agreement is cancelable for violation of a
provision that can be evaluated differently by the parties to the agreement (for instance, when
compliance with the provision is not objectively determinable or measurable), it does not comply
with the condition of b(ii) above.

NOTE: To meet the above-described conditions to not record short-term bond anticipation notes as a fund
liability, a government has to either have completed the financing after the balance sheet date but before the
financial statements are issued, or has to have a solid agreement in place to obtain the long-term financing
after the financial statements are issued. This appears to be a fairly narrow opening to avoid recording the
financing as a long-term liability in the general long-term debt account group. However, the chances of
complying with these conditions may be better than they appear, since the requirements of the bond
anticipation notes themselves will likely require that concrete agreements to issue the long-term bonds are in
place before the lenders provide the short-term financing through the bond anticipation notes.
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If bond anticipation notes are not recorded as a liability of the fund because the criteria have
been satisfied, the notes to the financial statements should include a general description of the
financing agreement and the terms of any new obligation incurred or expected to be incurred as a
result of a refinancing. Exhibits 1 and 2 illustrate the journal entries that should be recorded for
bond anticipation notes.

NOTE: For a further understanding of the entries of the debt service fund and the government-wide financial
statements, readers should refer to Chapters 6 and 8, respectively.

Exhibit 1

The following journal entries demonstrate the accounting for bond anticipation notes.

Assume that the city of Anywhere issues $1,000,000 of bond anticipation notes. The criteria
established by FASB ASC 740 have been satisfied so that the liability for the debt is included in the
government-wide statement of net position, rather than the capital projects fund. When the bond
anticipation notes are issued, the following journal entries are recorded:

Capital projects fund

Cash 1,000,000
Other financing sources—proceeds from the 1,000,000
issuance of bond anticipation notes

To record the receipt of funds from the issuance of bond anticipation notes

Government-wide financial statements:
Cash 1,000,000
Bond anticipation notes payable 1,000,000

To record the issuance of bond anticipation notes

When the city of Anywhere issues the long-term debt that is “anticipated” by the bond anticipation
notes, the following journal entries are recorded. (Assume that the long-term debt is issued the next day
and that there are no interest payments.)

General fund

Cash 1,000,000
Other financing sources—proceeds from sale of 1,000,000
long-term bonds

To record the issuance of long-term bonds
Other financing sources—transfer to the debt 1,000,000
service fund
Cash 1,000,000

To record the transfer to the debt service fund
(Note that a government may record the proceeds of the long-term debt in the debt service fund, if that
coincides with the facts of the actual transaction.)
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Debt service fund

Cash 1,000,000
Other financing sources—transfer from the general fund 1,000,000

To record receipt of a transfer from the general fund

Other financing uses—repayment of bond anticipation notes 1,000,000
Cash 1,000,000

To record the repayment of bond anticipation notes
Government-wide financial statements:

Bond anticipation notes 1,000,000
Bonds payable 1,000,000

To record the issuance of long-term bonds

Exhibit 2

Assume the same facts as in Exhibit 1, except that the city of Anywhere has not satisfied the criteria
and must record the bond anticipation notes as a fund liability.

The following journal entries would be recorded at the time that the bond anticipation notes are
issued:

Capital projects fund

Cash 1,000,000
Bond anticipation notes payable 1,000,000

To record the issuance of bond anticipation notes

Government-wide financial statements

Same entry as above. Assume that the city of Anywhere then issues long-term bonds (assume
that the proceeds are received directly by the capital projects fund) and pays off the bond
anticipation notes.

Capital projects fund

Cash 1,000,000
Other financing sources—proceeds from sale of bonds 1,000,000

To record the issuance of long-term bonds

Bond anticipation notes payable 1,000,000
Cash 1,000,000

To record the repayment of bond anticipation notes

Government-wide financial statements

Bond anticipation notes payable 1,000,000
Bonds payable 1,000,000

To record the issuance of long-term bonds
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Demand Bonds

Demand bonds are financial instruments that create a potential call on a state or local
government’s current financial resources. A similar accounting question arises in relation to
demand bonds as for bond anticipation notes: Should the debt be recorded as a liability of the
capital projects fund (assuming the most typical case where the debt is used to finance major
acquisitions or construction of capital projects) or only on the government-wide statement of net
position? The GASB issued guidance through GASB Interpretation 1 (GASBI 1), Demand Bonds
Issued by State and Local Governmental Entities, discussed below.

Demand bonds are debt issuances that have demand provisions (termed put provisions) as one
of their features that gives the bondholder the right to require that the issuer redeem the bonds
within a certain period, after giving some agreed-upon period of notice, usually 30 days or less. In
some cases, the demand provisions are exercisable immediately after the bonds have been issued.
In other cases, there is a waiting period of, for example, five years, until the put provisions of the
bonds may be exercised by the bondholder. These provisions mean that the bondholder is less
subject to risks caused by rising interest rates. Because the bondholder is assured that he or she can
receive the par value of the bond at some future date, a demand bond has some features and
advantages of a short-term investment for the bondholder in addition to being a potential long-
term investment. Accordingly, depending on the current market conditions, governments can
issue these types of bonds at a lower interest rate than would be possible with bonds that did not
have the demand bonds’ put provision.

Because the issuance of demand bonds represents significant potential cash outlays by
governments, steps are usually taken to protect the government from having to fund, from its own
cash reserves, demand bonds redeemed by bondholders. First, governments usually appoint
remarketing agents whose function is to resell bonds that have been redeemed by bondholders. In
addition, governments usually obtain letters of credit or other arrangements that would make funds
available sufficient to cover redeemed bonds.

To provide for long-term financing in the event that the remarketing agents are unable to sell
the redeemed bonds within a specified period (such as three to six months), the government
issuing demand bonds generally enters into an agreement with a financial institution to convert the
bonds to an installment loan repayable over a specified period. This type of arrangement is known
as a “take-out” agreement and may be part of the letter of credit agreement or a separate agreement.

As addressed by GASBI 1, demand bonds are those that by their terms have demand
provisions that are exercisable at the balance sheet date or within one year from the date of the
balance sheet. These bonds should be reported by governments in the capital projects fund unless
all of the following conditions delineated in GASBI 1 are met:

e Before the financial statements are issued, the issuer has entered into an arm’s-length
financing (take-out) agreement (an arm’s-length agreement is an agreement with an
unrelated third party, with each party acting in his or her own behalf) to convert bonds put
(but not resold) into some other form of long-term obligation.

o The take-out agreement does not expire within one year from the date of the issuer’s
balance sheet.

o The take-out agreement is not cancelable by the lender or the prospective lender during
that year, and obligations incurred under the take-out agreement are not callable during
that year.

e The lender, prospective lender, or investor is expected to be financially capable of
honoring the take-out agreement.



Chapter 5 / Capital Projects Funds 69

Regarding the conditions above, if the take-out agreement is cancelable or callable because of
violations that can be objectively verified by both parties and no violations have occurred prior to
issuance of the financial statements, the demand bonds should be classified and recorded as long-
term debt in the government-wide financial statements and not a liability of the fund. If violations
have occurred and a waiver has been obtained before issuance of the financial statements, the
bonds should also be classified and recorded as long-term debt in the government-wide financial
statements and not a liability of the fund. Otherwise, the demand bonds should be classified and
recorded as liabilities of the governmental fund and included as a current liability in the
government-wide financial statements.

If the take-out agreement is cancelable or callable because of violations that cannot be
objectively verified by both parties, the take-out agreement does not provide sufficient assurance
of long-term financing capabilities, and the bonds should be classified as liabilities of the fund and
as a current liability in the government-wide financial statements.

If a government exercises a take-out agreement to convert demand bonds that have been
redeemed into an installment loan, the installment loan should be reported as a long-term liability
in the government-wide statement of net position.

If the above conditions are not met, the demand bonds should be recorded as a liability of a
governmental fund, such as the capital projects fund. The selection of the fund to record the
liability is determined by which fund receives the bond proceeds from the issuance of the demand
bonds. Most often, this is the capital projects fund.

In addition, if a take-out agreement expires while its related demand bonds are still
outstanding, the government should report a fund liability in the fund for the demand bonds
that were not previously reported as a liability of the fund. The liability is reported as a liability of
the fund that originally reported the proceeds of the bond. A corresponding debit to “Other
financing uses” should be made at this time to record the fund liability.

In addition to the accounting requirements relative to demand bonds, GASBI 1 requires
that a number of disclosures be made about this type of bond and the related agreements. These
disclosures are in addition to the normal disclosures required about debt and include the
following:

¢ General description of the demand bond program.

e Terms of any letters of credit or other standby liquidity agreements outstanding.

e Commitment fees to obtain the letters of credit and any amounts drawn on them
outstanding as of the balance sheet date.

¢ A description of the take-out agreement, including its expiration date, commitment fees to
obtain that agreement, and the terms of any new obligation under the take-out agreement.

e The debt service requirements that would result if the take-out agreement were to be
exercised.

Special Assessment Debt

The capital projects fund typically accounts for capital projects financed with the proceeds of
special assessment debt. (Service-type special assessments are described in Chapter 4.) More often
than not, special assessments projects are capital in nature and are designed to enhance the utility,
accessibility, or aesthetic value of the affected properties. The projects may also provide
improvements or additions to a government’s capital assets, including infrastructure. Some of
the more common types of capital special assessments include streets, sidewalks, parking
facilities, and curbs and gutters.
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The cost of a capital improvement special assessment project is usually greater than the
amount the affected property owners can or are willing to pay in one year. To finance the project,
the affected property owners effectively mortgage their property by allowing the government to
attach a lien on their property so that the property owners can pay their pro rata share of the
improvement costs in installments. To actually obtain funds for the project, the government
usually issues long-term debt. Ordinarily, the assessed property owners pay the assessments in
installments, which are timed to be due based on the debt service requirements of the debt that was
issued to fund the projects. The assessed property owners may also elect to pay for the assessment
immediately or at any time thereafter, but prior to the installment due dates. When the assessed
property owners satisfy their obligations, the government removes the liens from the respective
properties.

GASB Statement 6 (GASBS 6), Accounting and Reporting for Special Assessments, defines
special assessment debt as those long-term obligations that are secured by a lien on the assessed
properties, for which the primary source of repayment is the assessments levied against the
benefiting properties. Often, however, the government will be obligated in some manner to
provide resources for repayment of special assessment debt in the event of default by the assessed
property owners. It is also not uncommon for a local government to finance an improvement
entirely with the proceeds of a general obligation debt and to levy special assessments against the
benefiting property owners to provide some of the resources needed to repay the debt.

The primary source of funds for the repayment of special assessment debt is the assessments
against the benefiting property owners. The government’s role and responsibility for the debt may
vary. The government may be directly responsible for paying a portion of the project cost, either as
a public benefit or as a property owner benefiting from the improvement. General government
resources repay the portion of the debt related to the government’s share of the project cost. These
costs of capital projects would be expenditures of the capital projects fund. On the other hand, the
government may have no liability for special assessment debt issues. Between these two extremes,
the government may pledge its full faith and credit as security for the entire special assessment
bond issue, including the portion of the bond issue to be paid by assessments against the benefiting
property owners.

GASBS 6 states that the special assessment fund type previously used in governmental
accounting should no longer be used. Legal or other requirements to account for special
assessment transactions in accounts or funds separate from other accounts or funds of the
government can usually be satisfied by maintaining separate special revenue, capital projects, and
debt service funds for the individual special assessment projects.

Government obligation for special assessment debt. The manner in which capital projects
financed with special assessment debt recorded in the capital projects fund is affected by whether
or not the government is obligated in some manner for the special assessment debt. If the
government is obligated in some manner to assume the payment of related debt service in the event
of default by the property owners, all transactions related to capital improvements financed by
special assessments should be reported in the same manner, and on the same basis of accounting,
as any other capital improvement and financing; that is, transactions of the construction phase of
the project should be reported in a capital projects fund (or other appropriate fund), and
transactions of the debt service phase should be reported in a debt service fund, if a separate
debt service fund is being used.

At the time of the levy of a special assessment, special assessments receivable should be
recorded in the capital projects fund, offset by the same amount recorded as deferred revenue. The
government should consider the collectibility of the special assessment receivables and determine
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whether the receivable should be offset by a valuation allowance. The deferred revenue amount
should then be decreased because revenues are recognized when they become measurable and
available. On the government-wide financial statements the same receivable would be recorded
but revenue would be recognized and described as “contributions from property owners” or some
similar title.

Further information on accounting for the debt portion of the special assessment debt when
the government is obligated in some manner is provided in Chapters 6 and 15 on debt service
funds and the general long-term debt account group.

There is one aspect of the determination of whether the government is obligated for special
assessment debt that affects the capital projects fund, and this effect is principally in the source of
funds and the terminology used to record the source of funds. The debt service transactions of a
special assessment issue for which the government is not obligated in any manner should be
reported in an agency fund, rather than a debt service fund, to reflect the fact that the government’s
duties are limited to acting as an agent for the assessed property owners and the bondholders.
When a government is not obligated for special assessment debt, the construction phase should,
however, be reported like other capital improvements—in a capital projects fund or other
appropriate fund. The source of funds in the capital projects fund, however, should be identified
by a description other than “bond proceeds, ““ such as “contributions from property owners.” The
capital assets constructed or acquired with this debt for which the government is not obligated in
any manner should be reported in the government-wide statement of net position.

Arbitrage Rebate Accounting

The interest paid by state and local governments on debt issued for public purposes is
generally not subject to federal taxation. Since this interest is not subject to federal taxes, the
interest rates at which the government is able to issue debt is generally lower than the interest rate
required for comparable debt whose interest payments are taxable to the debt holder.

Accordingly, a government has the opportunity for “arbitrage” earnings on the spread between
its tax-exempt interest rate and the rate that it is able to earn on taxable investments purchased in the
open market. Subject to certain safe-harbor requirements in which the bond proceeds are disbursed
within a limited period, the state or local government is required to “rebate” these arbitrage earnings
to the federal government. Typically, arbitrage rebate payments must be made to the federal
government every five years and within 60 days of the related debt’s financial maturity.

Although a government may not be required to remit the arbitrage rebate payments until
several years have passed, the government should recognize a liability for rebatable arbitrage as
soon as it is both probable and measurable that a liability has been incurred. In determining the
amount of the liability, it must be considered that the excess arbitrage earnings earned in one year
may be offset by lesser earnings in a subsequent year. Therefore, the liability recognized for the
year should be only that portion of the estimated future payment that is attributable to earnings of
the current period. In other words, the government should take into consideration whether its
earnings on the same investments in subsequent years will offset excess earnings in the first year,
for example, so that it is not necessarily required to record a liability for the full amount of any
excess earnings in the first or beginning years of a debt issue.

All interest income, regardless of whether it is rebatable, should be reported as revenue of the
capital projects fund. The liability for the arbitrage rebate is then reported only in the government-
wide statement of net position. However, when the amounts become due and payable to the federal
government, they would be reported as a fund liability. This approach is the only one permitted by
the GAAFR.
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SUMMARY

Governments often establish capital projects funds to account for the major acquisition and
construction of capital assets. This chapter focused on the basic accounting for the typical
transactions of the capital projects fund and also on some unique areas of accounting, which
primarily involve the issuance of debt providing the funds for capital projects. The reader should
also consider the information in Chapters 6, 14, and 15, which describe the accounting and
reporting for debt service funds, capital assets, and the general long-term debt for additional
information on transactions that affect the accounts of the capital projects fund.
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INTRODUCTION

Governments often issue long-term debt to finance various governmental projects. Generally,
this long-term debt is repaid from a governmental fund called a debt service fund. In some cases,
although not legally required, a government may choose to establish a debt service fund to account
for the accumulation of resources that will be used for debt service.

This chapter discusses the following topics in relation to the establishment and use of debt
service funds:

e Situations in which a debt service fund is required or desirable.
¢ Basis of accounting and measurement focus.

¢ Expenditure recognition for debt service payments.

e Accounting for the advance refunding of long-term debt.

In addition to the above topics, useful information relative to a government’s issuance and
repayment of long-term debt is provided in Chapters 8 and 11.

SITUATIONS WHEN A DEBT SERVICE FUND IS
REQUIRED OR DESIRABLE

GASB Statement No. 54 (GASBS 54), Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund
Type Definitions, describes the purpose of a debt service fund as to account for and report financial
resources that are restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditure for principal or interest.
GASBS 54 provides that debt service funds should be used to report resources if legally mandated.
In addition, financial resources that are being accumulated for principal and interest maturing in
future years should be reported in debt service funds. This definition and requirements for use are
generally consistent with preexisting GAAP.

In deciding to establish one or more debt service funds, a government should first determine
whether it is required to establish such a fund or funds. The first requirement to consider is whether
there are any laws that require the government to use a debt service fund. In addition to any legal
requirements that might be established through the legislative process of the government, another
potential source of legal requirement is the bond indenture agreements executed when long-term
obligations are issued and sold. These agreements may require that debt service funds be used for
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the protection of the bondholders. The requirement to establish debt service funds as an
accounting and financial reporting mechanism is different from the requirement in many bond
indentures or similar agreements that establish reserve funds or other financial requirements.
These other requirements may well be met through other mechanisms, such as restricted cash
accounts, rather than the establishment of a debt service fund. Financial statement preparers
should review these legal requirements carefully to ensure compliance with the requirements,
which does not automatically lead to the use of a debt service fund.

In addition to the legal requirements described above, GAAP requires the use of a debt service
fund if financial resources are being accumulated for principal and interest payments maturing in
future years. This requirement might be interpreted to mean that if a government has resources at
the end of a fiscal year to use to pay debt service in the following year, a debt service fund would be
required. This would result in almost all governments with long-term debt outstanding to be
required to establish a debt service fund. In practice this requirement is interpreted more narrowly.
An accumulation is only deemed to have occurred for determining whether a debt service fund is
required if the government has accumulated resources for debt service payments in excess of one
year’s worth of principal and interest payments.

As is consistent with GAAP, the number of funds established should be kept to the minimum
either required to be established by law, or considered necessary by the government for the
appropriate financial management of its resources. When considering these two instances, the
government also needs to determine whether it is required to establish one or more debt service
funds. Ideally, in keeping with the goal of minimizing the number of funds that a government uses,
a government would establish one debt service fund. This one fund should provide an adequate
mechanism for the government to use to account for the accumulation of resources and payment of
long-term debt. However, the legal requirements of the government itself or the bond indentures
mentioned above may actually result in more than one debt service fund, perhaps even a separate
debt service fund for bond issues of the government.

It should be noted that the debt service fund should be used to account for the accumulation
and payment of debt service. There are other long-term obligations, such as those for capital
leases, judgments and claims, and compensated absences, considered to be nondebt long-term
obligations. The payments of these obligations should be reported in the fund that budgets for their
payment, which is most often the general fund. The debt service fund should be used only for the
accumulation of resources and payment of debt service for long-term obligations that are
considered to be debt, and not for other nondebt long-term obligations.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND MEASUREMENT FOCUS

As a governmental fund, the debt service fund should use the modified accrual basis of
accounting and the current financial resources measurement focus. Revenues are recorded when they
are susceptible to accrual. That is, they are accrued when they become measurable and available.
Expenditures are recorded when the liability is incurred. However, recognition of expenditures for
debt service principal and interest payments are unique for debt service funds. The recognition
criteria for debt service payments are discussed in the following section of this chapter.

As a governmental fund type, the debt service fund uses the current financial resources
measurement focus. The operating statement of the debt service fund reports increases and
decreases in spendable resources. Increases in spendable resources are reported in the operating
statement as “revenues” and “other financing sources,” while decreases in spendable resources are
reported as “expenditures” or “other financing uses.”
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In applying these accounting principles to debt service funds, the financial statement preparer
may encounter the situation where a specific revenue source, such as property taxes or sales taxes,
is restricted for debt service on general long-term debt. Assuming that the government has
established a debt service fund, the government must determine whether these restricted tax
revenues should be recorded directly into the debt service fund, or whether they should be
recorded as revenues of the general fund, and then recorded as a transfer to the debt service fund.

When taxes are specifically restricted for debt service, generally they should be reported
directly in the debt service fund, rather than as a transfer from the general fund to the debt service
fund. However, circumstances such as a legal requirement to account for all of the restricted taxes
in the general fund may sometimes require that restricted taxes be reported first in the general fund.
In this case, an operating transfer from the general fund to the debt service fund would be recorded
for the amount of the specific tax.

NOTE: In many cases, the taxes that are restricted to debt service may present only a portion of the total of
the particular tax reported as revenue for the reporting entity as a whole. For example, a city may collect
3100 million of property taxes, required to be pledged to cover the city’s annual debt service payments of $40
million. Once the $40 million of debt service requirements are collected, the balance of the property tax
revenue, or $60 million, is available for the government’s general use. It may be that the government’s full
$100 million of property tax revenue is budgeted in the general fund, along with a transfer of $40 million to
the debt service fund for debt service. In this case, it may be more appropriate to record the $100 million of
property tax revenue in the general fund and then record an operating transfer of $40 million from the
general fund to the debt service fund to reflect the transfer for debt service.

EXPENDITURE RECOGNITION FOR DEBT SERVICE PAYMENTS

As stated above, debt service funds should use the modified accrual basis of accounting and
recognize expenditures when the liability is incurred. NCGAS 1, as subsequently amended by
GASBS 6, provides a significant exception to this recognition criterion for debt service payments.
The exception relates to unmatured principal and interest payments on general long-term debt,
including special assessment debt for which the government is obligated in some manner.

Financial resources are usually appropriated in other funds for transfer to a debt service fund in
the period in which maturing debt principal and interest must be paid. Theoretically, these amounts
are not current liabilities of the debt service fund because their settlement will not require expenditure
of existing resources of the debt service fund. If the debt service fund accrued an expenditure and
liability in one period but recorded the transfer of financial resources for debt service payments in a
later period, it would result in an understatement of the fund balance of the debt service fund.

Thus, the NCGA and the GASB concluded that debt service payments are usually appropri-
ately accounted for as expenditures in the year of payment. Therefore, there is no accrual of
interest or principal payments prior to the actual payments. Principal and interest expenditures are
essentially recognized in the debt service fund on a cash basis, with only disclosure of subsequent-
year debt service requirements. The cash basis is a practical way to consider recognition of debt
service expenditures, although there is an assumption that debt is paid when it is due. Technically,
debt service expenditures are actually recognized when the expenditure is due. Therefore, if there
is a default on the payment of debt service (or if debt service is not paid because a payee cannot be
located) an expenditure and corresponding liability would be recorded in the debt service fund.

The above discussion is based on the premise that the resources to actually make the debt service
payment are not transferred into the debt service fund until the time that the debt service payment is
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actually going to be made. There is an additional consideration that must be made when the
government has transferred or provided the resources for debt service payments that are due in a
subsequent period. Under GAAP, if the debt service fund has been provided the resources during the
current year for the payment of principal and interest due early in the following year, the expenditure
and the related liability may be recognized in the debt service fund. This consideration often arises
when resources are provided to a paying agent before year-end for debt due very early in the next fiscal
year, such as when a fiscal year ends on June 30, and debt holders are entitled to an interest payment on
July 1. In addition, the debt principal amount may be removed from the long-term debt account group.

It is important to note that the recognition of expenditures in the debt service fund for
unmatured debt service principal and interest is optional for the government. Governments are not
required to recognize debt service expenditures in debt service funds until they are due.

In instances where the government has an option to accrue debt service payment expenditures
for unmatured debt service payments because resources have been provided in the current year for
payments to be made early in the subsequent year, the GAAFR addresses the requirements that
must be met in order to use this option. If a government elects to follow the early recognition
option described in the preceding paragraph, the GAAFR provides that the following three
conditions are met:

e The government uses a debt service fund to account for debt service payments.

e The advance provision of resources to the debt service fund is mandatory rather than
discretionary.

e Payment is due within a short time period, usually one to several days and not more than
one month.

These conditions reflect those promulgated by GASB Interpretation 6, Recognition and
Measurement of Certain Liabilities and Expenditures in Governmental Fund Financial Statements.
The following are illustrative journal entries that would be recorded by a typical debt service
fund that obtains the resources for debt service payments from transfers from the general fund:

1. The government transfers $10,000 from the general fund to the debt service fund for
annual debt service payments.

Cash 10,000
Other financing sources—operating transfers 10,000
in—general fund

To record the receipt of $10,000 from the general fund.
2. The government invests $6,000 of the cash transfer from the general fund that will not be
needed until the next semiannual debt service payment is due.

Investments 6,000
Cash 6,000

To record the investment of cash not immediately needed for debt service
3. The government transfers $4,000 to its fiscal agent, which will disburse interest and
principal payments to individual bondholders.

Cash with fiscal agent 4,000
Cash 4,000

To record the transfer of cash for the immediately due semiannual debt service payment.
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4. The principal and interest payments on debt service reach the maturity date.

Expenditures—debt service 4,000
Matured debt service payable 4,000

To record an expenditure and liability for matured debt service requirements.
5. The fiscal agent disburses the cash to the individual bondholders for matured interest and
principal payments.

Matured debt service payable 4,000
Cash with fiscal agent 4,000

To record the debt service payment to bondholders by the fiscal agent
6. The government accrues interest on the balance of the operating transfer that it holds.

Interest receivable on investments 500
Revenues—interest 500

To record accrued interest receivable on investments.

7. Entry 6. demonstrates that interest on investments should follow the usual revenue accrual
procedures using the modified accrual basis of accounting. If, in addition to the accrued
interest recorded above, the debt service fund received $100 of interest during the fiscal
year, the following entry would be recorded:

Cash 100
Revenues—interest income 100

To record the receipt of $100 of interest on investments.

NOTE: The reader should refer to Chapter 9, which describes changes to the reporting of amounts related to
revenue recognition in governmental funds upon the effectiveness of GASB Statement No. 65, Items
Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. Revenue and other governmental fund financial resources
should be recognized in the accounting period in which they become both measurable and available. When
an asset is recorded in governmental fund financial statements but the revenue is not available, the
government should report a deferred inflow of resources until such time as the revenue becomes available.

ACCOUNTING FOR THE ADVANCE REFUNDING OF LONG-TERM DEBT

One of the more unique accounting transactions likely to be accounted for in a debt service fund
is the advance refunding of long-term debt. While this topic is closely related to the requirements of
GAAP as to when the refunded debt can be removed from the government-wide statement of net
position, it has an effect on the debt service fund as well, because it is the most likely place where
refundings, including advance refundings, of long-term debt are reported. GASB Statement 7
(GASBS 7), Advance Refundings Resulting in Defeasance of Debt, provides significant background
and accounting guidance for determining the appropriate accounting for these activities.

There are several reasons why a government might desire to refund its debt in advance of the
debt’s maturity date. Three of these reasons are:

1. Most frequently, governments refinance debt to take advantage of more favorable interest
rates. If interest rates have declined for similar securities, it is likely that the government
can realize savings by refunding its older debt in advance.



78 Wiley GAAP for Governments 2017

2. Governments may also refinance debt to change the structure of debt service payments,
such as by shortening or lengthening the period of debt service.

3. Governments might also refinance debt to escape from unfavorable bond covenants, such
as restrictions on issuing additional debt.

NOTE: Another reason that governments refund debt in advance is related to the second reason listed above.
Debt may be refinanced to change the period that debt service payments are due. For example, assume that a
government’s fiscal year ends on June 30, and in refinancing the debt the government changes the maturity
and interest payment date from June 30 to July 1 for the debt issued to refinance the original debt. Because
debt service payments are recognized essentially on the cash basis, the government might effectively skip a
debt service payment, which, assuming these payments are originally funded by the general fund, can provide
an immediate savings in the general fund. Alternatively, the government may effectively capitalize a debt
service payment by obtaining the resources for the payment from the proceeds of the new debt issued to
refinance the old debt. The variations of these themes are limited only by the imagination of the bond
underwriters proposing these types of transactions.

Because the benefits a government may realize from the above reasons are likely to be
available before the debt is actually due or redeemable, it is necessary for a government to advance
refund the debt. A government accomplishes an advance refunding by taking the proceeds of a
new debt that is issued to refinance the old debt by placing the proceeds of the new debt in an
escrow account that is subsequently used to provide funds to do the following, at minimum:

e Meet periodic principal and interest payments of the old debt until the call or maturity date.
e Pay the call premium, if redemption is at the call date.
¢ Redeem the debt at the call date or the maturity date.

Most advance refunding transactions result in a defeasance of the debt, enabling the
government to remove the amount of the old debt from the general long-term debt account
group. A defeasance can be either legal or in-substance.

¢ A legal defeasance occurs when debt is legally satisfied based on certain provisions in the
instrument, even though the debt is not actually repaid.

¢ An in-substance defeasance is the far more common type of defeasance. An in-substance
defeasance occurs when debt is considered defeased for accounting purposes even though
a legal defeasance has not occurred.

GASBS 7 prescribes the criteria that must be met before debt is considered defeased in
substance for accounting and reporting purposes. The government must irrevocably place cash or
assets with an escrow agent in a trust to be used solely for satisfying scheduled payments of both
interest and principal of the defeased debt, and the possibility that the debtor will be required to
make future payments on that debt is remote. The trust is restricted to owning only monetary assets
that are essentially risk-free as to the amount, timing, and collection of interest and principal. The
monetary assets should be denominated in the currency in which the debt is payable. GASBS 7
also prescribes that for debt denominated in US dollars, risk-free monetary assets are essentially
limited to

¢ Direct obligations of the US government (including State and Local Government Series
securities [SLGS] that the US Treasury issues specifically to provide state and local
governments with required cash flows at yields that do not exceed the Internal Revenue
Service’s arbitrage limits).
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e Obligations guaranteed by the US government.
e Securities backed by US government obligations as collateral and for which interest and
principal payments generally flow immediately through to the security holder.

The following describes the accounting treatment for advance refundings of debt in the debt
service fund. Chapter 7 provides a significantly different model for accounting for advance
refundings of the debt of proprietary funds. In addition, disclosure requirements for advance
refundings are included in Chapter 15.

For advance refundings that result in defeasance of debt reported in the government-wide
statement of net position, the proceeds from the new debt should be reported as “other financing
source—proceeds of refunding bonds” in the fund receiving the proceeds, which, for purposes of
this guide, is assumed to be the debt service fund. Payments to the escrow agent from resources
provided by the new debt should be reported as “other financing use—payment to the refunded
bond escrow agent.” Payments to the escrow agent made from other resources of the entity should
be reported as debt service expenditures. Exhibit 1 provides an example, and the related journal
entries will help to clarify this accounting.

Exhibit 1

Assume that the city of Anywhere has $10,000 of general long-term debt bonds outstanding that it
wishes to advance refund, resulting in an in-substance defeasance. To accomplish this, the city of
Anywhere needs to put $13,000 in an escrow account, of which it already has $1,000 available in the
debt service fund and will issue new bonds with proceeds set to be $12,000. The city of Anywhere will
record the following journal entries:

1. The city of Anywhere issues the $12,000 of new debt, the proceeds of which are immediately
placed in the escrow account.

Other financing uses—payment to refunded 12,000
bond fiscal agent

Other financing source—proceeds of 12,000
refunding bonds

To record issuance of refunding bonds and their payment to the escrow account.

2. The $1,000 already available in the debt service fund is paid to the escrow account.

Expenditures—debt service—advance 1,000
refunding escrow
Cash 1,000

To record debt service fund cash paid to the escrow account

The above journal entries would be different if the refunding either was not a legal defeasance
or did not meet all of the requirements for the transaction to be considered an in-substance
defeasance.

Crossover Transaction and Refunding Bonds

A crossover refunding transaction is a transaction in which there is no legal or insubstance
defeasance and the debt is not removed from the general long-term debt account group. In fact,
both the new bonds that were issued and the original bonds that were refunded appear in the long-
term debt account group. In a crossover refunding transaction, the escrow account is not
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immediately dedicated to debt service principal and interest payments on the refunded debt.
Instead, the resources in the escrow account are used to temporarily meet the debt service
requirements on the refunding bonds themselves. At a later date, called the crossover date, the
resources in the escrow account are dedicated exclusively to the payment of principal and interest
on the refunded debt. While an in-substance defeasance does not occur when the refunding bonds
are issued, an in-substance defeasance may occur at the crossover date if the in-substance
defeasance requirements of GASBS 7 are met.

There are circumstances when refunding bonds are issued in a transaction that is not
immediately accounted for as an insubstance or legal defeasance. In these circumstances, the
assets in the escrow account would be accounted for in the debt service fund. In addition, the
liability for the debt that is eventually refunded is not removed from the government-wide
statement of net position until the debt is actually repaid or defeased legally or in substance.
Assuming the same facts as in Exhibit 1, the following journal entry would be recorded in the debt
service fund:

Cash with fiscal agent—escrow account 13,000
Other financing source—refunding bonds 12,000
Cash 1,000

To record the establishment of an escrow account for refunded debt

SUMMARY

Debt service funds provide a useful mechanism for governments to account for transactions
relating to the payment of principal and interest on long-term debt. Governments should consider
both their legal and financial management requirements in determining whether to use a debt
service fund and how many funds are to be established.

In determining the proper accounting for debt service transactions, governments also need to
consider transactions accounted for in the general fund and the government-wide statement of net
position.
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INTRODUCTION

Proprietary funds are used to account for a government’s ongoing organizations and activities
that are similar to those found in the private sector. In other words, these activities resemble
commercial activities performed by governments, and the basis of accounting and measurement
focus of these funds reflect this resemblance. There are two types of proprietary funds—enterprise
funds and internal service funds.

This chapter describes the basic characteristics and accounting for proprietary funds, both
enterprise and internal service funds. The following specific topics are addressed:

e Basis of accounting and measurement focus for proprietary funds.
¢ Enterprise funds: Background and uses.

e Specific accounting issues: Restricted assets.

e Debt.

¢ Contributed capital.

e Advance refundings of debt.

e Tap fees.

e Regulated industries.

¢ Fixed assets—Infrastructure and contributions of general fixed assets.
¢ Internal service funds: Background and uses.

e Specific accounting issues: Duplications of revenues and expenses.
e Surpluses and deficits.

¢ Risk financing activities.

While GASBS 34 did not affect the basis of accounting and measurement focus of proprietary
funds (the same are used in both the government-wide and fund financial statements), it did affect
certain aspects of how and when these funds are used. These points will be highlighted throughout
the chapter.

81



82 Wiley GAAP for Governments 2017

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND MEASUREMENT FOCUS FOR
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

In general terms, proprietary funds use the same basis of accounting and measurement focus
as commercial enterprises. Proprietary funds use the accrual basis of accounting and the economic
resources measurement focus. Accordingly, proprietary funds recognize revenues when they are
earned and recognize expenses when a liability is incurred. Revenue recognition is sometimes
difficult to determine in the commercial accounting arena. However, the types of goods and
services typically provided by governmental units through proprietary funds should make this
difficulty rare.

For example, a municipal water utility would recognize revenue for water provided to
customers at the time that it actually provides the water to the customers. In contrast to the
modified accrual basis of accounting, the timing of the billing of the water customers does not
enter into the revenue recognition criteria. Under the accrual basis of accounting, even if a
water customer does not pay his or her bill for a year, the revenue is still recognized by the
proprietary fund. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenue not collected for a
year after its billing will likely be determined not to meet the “available” criterion for revenue
recognition.

For expenses recognition, the timing of the recognition of expenses (i.e., when the liability
is incurred) is virtually the same as that for the modified accrual basis of accounting. The
difference between “expenses” recognized by proprietary funds and “expenditures” recognized
by governmental funds is in what “costs” are included in expenses and expenditures. This is
determined by the different measurement focuses used by proprietary funds and governmental
funds. Proprietary funds use the flow of economic resources measurement focus. Governmental
funds use the current financial resources measurement focus, which recognizes as expenditures
those costs that result in a decrease in current financial resources. Under the flow of economic
resources measurement focus, costs are recognized when the related liability is incurred,
including the recognition of depreciation expense. In addition to depreciation, the most
significant differences in recognizing expenses in proprietary funds (compared with expendi-
tures in governmental funds) are related to the recognition of the liability and expense for the
longer-term portions of liabilities for vacation and sick leave, judgments and claims, landfill
liabilities, and accrued interest expense. The accounting for these activities is specifically
described either later in this chapter or in separate chapters of this guide; however, at this point
it is important to understand the conceptual difference between the two. For example, a
proprietary fund that incurs costs for vacation and sick leave will recognize an expense for these
costs as it accrues a liability for vacation and sick leave pay, regardless of when these amounts
will be paid. In contrast, a governmental fund would not record an expenditure for vacation and
sick leave costs that will not be paid from current financial resources. Accordingly, govern-
mental funds generally record expenditures for vacation and sick leave costs when these
amounts are actually paid to the employees.

In addition to the long-term liabilities described above, a proprietary fund records long-term
bonded debt and other notes as a fund liability. On the other side of the balance sheet, assets that
are capitalized are recorded as long-term assets of the proprietary fund (net of accumulated
depreciation), which would not be the case for governmental funds.

The equity section of a proprietary fund’s balance sheet also differs significantly from that of a
governmental fund. Under GASBS 34, proprietary fund net position is categorized as invested in
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capital assets, net of related debt, restricted, and unrestricted. Designation of unrestricted net
position should not be reported by proprietary funds on the face of the financial statements. Capital
contributions are not shown separately as a component of net position.

NOTE: Under GASBS 34, there are no “retained earnings” to report as reserved, so this concept is
essentially replaced by the restricted versus unrestricted presentation. Furthermore, GASBS 34 states that
there should be no “designations” of unrestricted net position reported by proprietary funds on the face of
the financial statements.

Accounting Requirements under GASBS 62

It is conceptually simple to state that proprietary funds should use the commercial accounting
model. However, the actual application of this concept is much more difficult because some
accounting principles and standards promulgated by the (FASB) for commercial enterprises may
conflict with pronouncements promulgated by the GASB. A proprietary fund attempting to apply
accounting principles applicable to commercial enterprises would be unclear as to which of the
conflicting accounting principles should be applied.

As also discussed in Chapter 2 the GASB issued Statement No. 62 (GASBS 62),
Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November
30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, which incorporates into the GASB standards
certain accounting and financial reporting guidance that is included in pronouncements of the
FASB and AICPA issued on or before November 30, 1989, which do not conflict with or
contradict GASB pronouncements.

GASBS 62 includes the accounting and financial reporting requirements previously con-
tained in FASB and AICPA pronouncements applicable to proprietary funds and governmental
entities that use proprietary accounting in governmental GAAP.

GASBS 62 addresses the following general accounting topics:

e Capitalization of Interest Cost.

¢ Revenue Recognition for Exchange Transactions.
¢ Revenue Recognition When Right of Return Exists.
e Statement of Net Position Classification.

e Special and Extraordinary Items.

e Comparative Financial Statements.

¢ Related Parties.

e Prior Period Adjustments.

¢ Accounting Changes and Error Corrections.

e Disclosure of Accounting Policies.

¢ Contingencies.

¢ Construction-Type Contracts—Long-Term.

¢ Extinguishments of Debt.

e Troubled Debt Restructuring.

¢ Foreign Currency Transactions.

¢ Interest Costs—Imputation.

¢ Inventory.

¢ Investments in Common Stock.

e Leases.
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e Nonmonetary Transactions.

e Sales of Real Estate.

e Costs and Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate Projects.
e Research and Development Arrangements.

GASBS 62 also addresses the following industry-specific standards:

¢ Broadcasters.

¢ Cable Television Systems.

e Insurance Entities—Other Than Public Entity Risk Pools.
¢ Lending Activities.

e Mortgage Banking Activities.

e Regulated Operations.

¢ Right of Offset.

While substance of the above content is onerous (GASBS 62 is hundreds of pages long),
the GASB used the approach of adopting the accounting and reporting requirements essen-
tially as they existed in the applicable pre-November 30, 1989, FASB and AICPA pronounce-
ments, modifying the language as appropriate to recognize the effects of the governmental
environment without affecting the substance of the provisions. Accordingly, GASBS 62 is not
intended to establish new financial reporting requirements or modify existing requirements.
Rather, it incorporates FASB and AICPA accounting and reporting guidance applicable to
governments and governmental entities into the GASB literature. While the GASB’s intent
was not to change accounting of financial reporting requirements, in the Basis for Conclusions
of GASBS 62, the GASB does state that it recognizes that practitioners in exercising
professional judgment may have reached different conclusions in applying the hierarchy
without specific guidance.

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Background and Uses
Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that fall within two basic categories:

1. Operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business
enterprises, where the intent of the governing body is to finance or recover costs
(expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods and services to the general public
on a continuing basis primarily through user charges.

2. Operations where the governing body has decided that periodic determination of revenues
earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance,
public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes.

Enterprise funds are primarily used to account for activities that are financed through user
charges. However, the total cost of the activity does not have to be paid for by the user charges.
The government (or other governmental entity) may subsidize a significant portion of the costs of
the enterprise fund.

For example, a government may establish a water authority to provide water to its residential
and commercial water users. In this case, the water rates are generally set to recover the full cost of
the water authority’s operations. On the other hand, there may be circumstances where public
policy determinations result in the user charges not covering the total costs of the operations. For
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example, a transit authority might be established to provide public transportation by buses, trains,
or subways. Often, fares charged to the customers of the transit means provided by transit
authorities do not cover the full cost of operation of the transit authority. Usually, the local
government would subsidize the transit authority’s operations. In addition, there may be state and
federal mass transportation grants that help to subsidize the operations of the transit authority.
These subsidies sometimes result in the transit fares covering a relatively small percentage of the
total cost of the transit authority.

The decision to account for a particular operation as an enterprise fund is based both on
whether the cost recovery through user charges is fundamental to the enterprise fund, and on
whether the government finds it useful to have information on the total cost of providing a service
to the government’s citizens. This decision disregards the degree to which the charges to the users
of the service cover the total cost of providing the service.

GASBS 34 continued the previous practice that an enterprise fund may be used to report any
activity for which a fee is charged to external users as goods and services. However, GASBS 34
also specifies three situations where the use of an enterprise fund is required. The criteria are to be
applied to the activity’s principal revenue sources, meaning that insignificant activities where fees
are charged would not automatically require the use of an enterprise fund. An enterprise fund is
required to be used if one of the following criteria is met:

e The activity is financed with debt that is secured solely by a pledge of the revenues from
fees and charges of the activity. If the debt is secured in part from its own proceeds, it is
still considered to be payable solely from the revenues of the activity. In other words, if a
portion of the proceeds of a revenue bond issued is placed in a debt service reserve
account, yet the revenue bond is payable solely from the revenues of the activity with the
exception of the potential use of the reserve funds, this criterion is still met and the use of
an enterprise fund would be required. On the other hand, if the debt is secured by a pledge
of the revenues of the activity and the full faith and credit of a related primary government
or component unit, it is not considered payable solely from the fees of the activity, even if
it is not expected that the primary government or other component unit would actually
make any payments on the debt. In this case, the criterion is not met and the use of an
enterprise fund would not be required. In addition, this criterion would not apply to special
assessment debt for which a government is not obligated in any manner.

e Laws or regulations require that the activity’s costs of providing services (including
capital costs such as depreciation or debt service) be recorded from fees and charges,
rather than taxes or similar revenues.

¢ The pricing policies of the activity establish fees and charges designed to recover its costs,
including capital costs such as depreciation or debt service.

Specific Accounting Issues
Restricted Assets

Typically, enterprise funds are used to issue long-term bonds to provide financing for their
activities. The benefit of issuing bonds by the enterprise fund, rather than by the general
government, is that there is typically a dedicated revenue stream in the enterprise fund that
can be pledged to the service of the related debt. Often, this dedicated and pledged revenue results
in a higher rating on the enterprise fund’s long-term debt, resulting in a lower interest cost for the
government. For example, a water utility may issue long-term debt to finance investments in water
and sewer infrastructure, such as water filtration plants or sewage treatment plants. Water and
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sewer charges may represent a fairly constant source of revenue that may be judged by the
investment community to be more reliable than general tax revenues. Accordingly, if the
enterprise fund pledges its receipts for water and sewer charges to debt service, the related
debt, commonly referred to as a revenue bond, will probably carry a lower interest rate than the
government’s general long-term debt.

As a result of the high level of debt issuance typically found in enterprise funds, these funds
can often be found to have restricted assets. These restricted assets normally represent cash and
investments whose availability to the enterprise fund is restricted by bond covenant. The following
are examples of commonly found restricted assets:

e Revenue bond construction (such as cash, investments, and accrued interest segregated by
the bond indenture for construction).

¢ Revenue bond operations and maintenance (such as accumulations of resources equal to
operating costs for a specified period).

¢ Revenue bond current debt service (such as accumulations of resources for principal and
interest payments due within one year).

¢ Revenue bond future debt service (such as accumulations of resources for principal and
interest payments beyond the subsequent 12 months).

¢ Revenue bond renewal and replacement (such as accumulations of resources for
unforeseen repairs and maintenance of assets originally acquired from bond proceeds).

One other form of restricted assets results from the enterprise fund holding deposits from its
customers. Typically, the cash and investments related to these deposits are recorded as a restricted
asset with a related offsetting liability that reflects the fact that the enterprise fund must return the
deposits to its customers.

Debt

As stated earlier in this chapter, long-term debt applicable to the financing of the activities of
proprietary funds is recorded in the funds as a fund liability. Some enterprise debt may be backed
by the full faith and credit of the government. Even though the debt may be a general obligation of
the government, it should be reported as a liability of the enterprise fund if the debt was issued for
enterprise fund purposes and is expected to be repaid from enterprise fund resources. Therefore, it
is the expected source of repayment for the debt (rather than the security interest for the debt) that
is the primary factor in determining whether a liability for debt is recorded as a liability of the
enterprise fund.

An additional consideration relating to the issuance of long-term debt that will be repaid from
the resources of an enterprise fund concerns the accounting for arbitrage rebate. As more fully
described in Chapter 8, governments that earn excess interest on the proceeds resulting from the
issuance of tax-exempt debt must rebate these arbitrage earnings after a period of time to the
federal government.

Contributed Capital

Because enterprise funds use an accounting and financial reporting model that resembles in
many aspects the commercial accounting and reporting model, the concept of capital, or how the
funds obtain their resources for operations (other than the issuance of debt) must be addressed.

Under GASBS 34, the accounting for capital contributions to proprietary funds changed
significantly. There is no “contributed capital” classification of net position for proprietary funds
as there had been in prior practice. Net position is categorized as invested in capital assets, net of
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related debt (which would include within it the resulting net position from capital contributions),
restricted and unrestricted. Contributed capital is not displayed separately on the face of the
financial statements.

The more significant change under the new financial reporting model, however, was that
capital contributions are not recorded directly as an increase in the net assets (now net position) of
the proprietary fund. Instead they flow through the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes
in net position, where they are reported separately from operating revenues and expenses. The
following presents an example of an abbreviated operating statement that reflects how capital
contributions would be reported under the new financial reporting model:

Operating revenues:

(Details of operating revenues) XXX

Operating expenses:

(Details of operating expenses, including depreciation on  Xxx
all depreciable fixed assets)

Operating income (loss) XXX
Nonoperating revenues/expenses

(Details of nonoperating revenues) XXX
Income (loss) before other revenues (expenses, gains, XXX

losses, and transfers, if applicable)

Capital contributions XXX
Increase (decrease) in net position XXX
Net position—beginning of period XXX
Net position—end of period XXX

Refundings of Debt

The underlying background and general principles of refundings of debt for governments are
fully described in Chapters 6 and 15. Statement 23 (GASBS 23), Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Refundings of Debt Reported by Proprietary Activities, addresses the accounting
issues related to advance refundings of debt for proprietary funds. Because these funds have an
income determination focus, previous guidance resulted in the entire amount of the gain or loss
being recognized for financial reporting purposes in the year of the advance refunding.

GASBS 23 applies to both current refundings and advance refundings of debt resulting in
defeasance of debt reported by proprietary activities, which includes proprietary funds and other
governmental entities that use proprietary fund accounting, such as public benefit corporations and
authorities, utilities, and hospitals and other health care providers.

Refundings involve the issuance of new debt whose proceeds are used to repay previously
issued, or old, debt. The new debt proceeds may be used to repay the old debt immediately, which
is a current refunding. The new debt proceeds may also be placed with an escrow agent and
invested until they are used to pay principal and interest on the old debt in the future, which is an
advance refunding. An advance refunding of debt may result in the in-substance defeasance,
provided that certain criteria (described in Chapter 13) are met. GASBS 23 applies to both current
refundings and advance refundings that result in a defeasance of debt.

GASBS 23 requires that for current refundings and advance refundings resulting in a
defeasance of debt reported by proprietary activities, the difference between the reacquisition
price and the net carrying amount of the old debt should be deferred and amortized as a component
of interest expense in a systematic and rational manner over the life of the old or new debt,
whichever is shorter.
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In applying the guidance of GASBS 23, two special terms need to be defined:

1. Reacquisition price. The reacquisition price is the amount required to repay previously
issued debt in a refunding transaction. In a current refunding, this amount includes the
principal of the old debt and any call premium incurred. In an advance refunding, the
reacquisition price is the amount placed in escrow that, together with interest earnings, is
necessary to pay interest and principal on the old debt and any call premium incurred. Any
premium or discount and issuance costs pertaining to the new debt are not considered part
of the reacquisition price. Instead, this premium or discount should be accounted for as a
separate item relating to the new debt and amortized over the life of the new debt.

2. Net carrying amount. The net carrying amount of the old debt is the amount due at
maturity, adjusted for any unamortized premium or discount and issuance costs related to
the old debt.

On the balance sheet of the proprietary fund, the amount deferred should be reported as a
deduction from or an addition to the new debt liability. The new debt may be reported net with
either parenthetical or note disclosure of the deferred amount on refunding. The new debt may also
be reported gross with both the debt liability and the related deferred amount present.

Two other situations involving prior refundings are also addressed by GASBS 23. For current
refundings of prior refundings and for advance refundings of prior refundings resulting in the
defeasance of debt, the difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of
the old debt, together with any unamortized difference from prior refundings, should be deferred
and amortized over the shorter of the original amortization period remaining from the prior
refundings, or the life of the latest refunding debt. In other words, for a subsequent refunding of
debt that was originally used to refund some other debt, add (or subtract) the remaining deferred
gain or loss to the new gain or loss that would normally be calculated for the new refunding
transaction. Amortize this combined amount over the shorter of the previous deferred amount’s
amortization period or the life of the new debt resulting from the new refunding transaction.

NOTE: The reader should refer to Chapter 9, which describes changes to the reporting of amounts related to
debt refunding upon the effectiveness of GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and
Liabilities.

For current refundings and advance refundings resulting in a defeasance of debt reported by
governmental activities, business-type activities, and proprietary funds, the difference between the reac-
quisition price and the net carrying amount of old debt should be reported as a deferred outflow of resources
or a deferred inflow of resources and recognized as a component of interest expense in a systematic and
rational manner over the remaining life of the old debt or the life of the new debt, whichever is shorter.

Prior to the expiration of the lease term, if a change in the provisions of a lease results from a refunding by
the lessor of tax-exempt debt, including an advance refunding, in which (1) the perceived economic advantages
of the refunding are passed through to the lessee and (2) the revised agreement is classified as a capital lease by
the lessee, then the lessee should adjust the lease obligation to the present value of the future minimum lease
payments under the revised lease. The adjustment of the lease obligation to present value should be made using
the effective interest rate applicable to the revised agreement. The resulting difference should be reported as a
deferred outflow of resources or a deferred inflow of resources. The deferred outflow of resources or the
deferred inflow of resources should be recognized as a component of interest expense in a systematic and
rational manner over the remaining life of the old debt or the life of the new debt, whichever is shorter.

In addition, under GASBS 65 issuance costs for debt are no longer reported as assets in the government-
wide or proprietary fund financial statements.
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Tap Fees

Tap fees refer to fees that new customers pay to a governmental utility to “tap into” or connect
to the utility’s existing system. They are also sometimes referred to as connection fees or systems
development fees. The amount of the fee usually exceeds the actual cost to the utility to physically
connect the new customer to the system. The excess profit that is built into tap fees is conceptually
a charge to the new customers for their share of the costs of the existing infrastructure and systems
of the governmental utility or a charge to offset a portion of the cost of upgrading the system.

The accounting issue relates to the treatment of the excess of the tap fee over the actual cost to
the governmental utility to connect the new customer, which is considered an imposed non-
exchange transaction. The GAAFR recommends that the portion of the tap fee that equals the cost
of physically connecting the new customer be reported as operating revenue. This operating
revenue then matches the operating expenses incurred in connecting the new customer. The
amount charged in excess of the actual cost of physically connecting the new customer should be
recorded by the governmental utility as nonoperating revenue as soon as the government has
established an enforceable legal claim to the payment, usually upon connection. Prior to
implementation of GASBS 34, these excess amounts were treated as contributed capital.

Customer and Developer Deposits

Utility-type and similar enterprise funds often require customers to pay a deposit to the
enterprise fund to assure the timely payment for services. These deposits should be recorded by
the enterprise fund as a current liability, until such time as the enterprise fund returns the deposit to
the customers (such as when the service is terminated) or applies the deposit to an unpaid bill.

In some cases, land developers may also be required to make “good-faith” deposits to finance
the cost of the enterprise fund to extend utility service to the new development. These developer
deposits are also recorded as current liabilities of the enterprise fund until such time as they are no
longer returnable to the developer, at which time they should be recorded as revenue. The
subsequent use of these resources is legally restricted to capital acquisition or related debt service
and should be reflected as a restriction of net position rather than as unearned revenue.

Fixed Assets—Infrastructure and Contribution of General Fixed Assets

Infrastructure assets are assets that are not movable and are of value only to the government.
Proprietary funds are required to capitalize all of their assets, including infrastructure, even prior to
the adoption of GASBS 34. For example, a water and sewer authority might have a grid of pipes
and other connections that deliver water and collect waste water. The proprietary fund would be
required to record these assets at their historical cost and depreciate them over their estimated
useful lives.

When general fixed assets are contributed to a proprietary fund from another fund within the
government, the contributed asset should be valued by the proprietary fund as though it had
originally been acquired by that fund and subsequently depreciated. For example, assume that a
general fixed asset with an original cost of $10, 000 and a useful life of ten years is contributed to a
proprietary fund at the end of four years. Assuming that straight-line depreciation is being used,
the proprietary fund would either record the equipment on a net basis at $6,000, or would record
the asset at $10, 000, with a corresponding accumulated depreciation amount of $4,000. The
proprietary fund would then continue to depreciate the asset at $1,000 per year for its remaining
six-year life. This situation applies only when an existing asset of the government is transferred to
a proprietary fund. Under GASBS 34, the accounting is similar, but the asset would be recorded at
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the net book value of the asset as reported in the government-wide statement of net position.
Contributions of fixed assets from parties outside the government are valued at fair value and
depreciation is recorded when the asset is placed in service, similar to when a new asset is
acquired.

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

Background and Uses

Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by
one department or agency of a governmental unit to other departments or agencies of the same
governmental unit on a cost-reimbursement basis. In some cases, blended component units are
reported as internal service funds.

Because internal service funds use the flow of economic resources measurement focus and
accrual basis of accounting (as discussed below), they allow the full cost of providing goods or
services to other departments or agencies to be charged to the receiving department or agency.
Were these activities to be accounted for using a governmental fund, the full cost of the goods or
services would not be determinable because the governmental fund would focus on the effect on
current financial resources, rather than the full cost of the goods or services.

As the main purpose of internal service funds is to identify and allocate costs of goods or
services to other departments, it is generally recommended that governments use separate internal
service funds for different activities. Although the use of internal service funds is not required by
GAAP, it is logical that disparate activities be accounted for in separate internal service funds to
more accurately determine the costs of the goods and services. It should be noted that GAAP does
not require that internal service funds include the full cost of services that are provided. A
government may choose to leave some of the related costs out of the internal service fund, such as
a rent charge or utility charge.

For example, internal service funds are often used to determine and allocate the costs for
activities as diverse as the following:

¢ Duplicating and printing services.
e Central garages.

e Motor pools.

e Data processing.

e Purchasing.

¢ Central stores and warehousing.

Clearly, combining the costs of providing motor pool services with the costs of providing data
processing services in the same internal service fund will not result in a very useful basis on which
to allocate costs. Establishing separate funds will result in a more effective cost-allocation process.

Governments generally use internal service funds to determine and allocate costs of goods
and services to other agencies and departments within the governmental unit, but they may also be
used for other purposes. For example, internal service funds may be used for goods and services
provided on a cost-reimbursement basis to other governmental entities within the reporting entity
of the primary government. In some cases, internal service funds are used for goods and services
provided on a cost-reimbursement basis to quasigovernmental organizations and not-for-profit
organizations. In these circumstances, the government may find it more appropriate to classify
these activities as enterprise funds, rather than internal service funds, depending on the individual
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circumstances. In fact, GASBS 34 specifies that if the reporting government is not the predomi-
nant participant in the activity, the activity should be reported as an enterprise fund.

Specific Accounting Issues

The accounting issues described above for enterprise funds also generally pertain to internal
service funds, and the accounting and financial reporting guidance described above should be used
as required in accounting for internal service funds.

Duplications of Revenues and Expenses

Many of the transactions between internal service funds and other funds take the form of
quasi-external transactions. The funds receiving the goods or services from the internal service
fund report an expenditure or an expense, while the internal service fund reports revenue. The
consequence of this approach is that there is duplicate reporting of expenditures and expenses with
the financial reporting entity of the government. For example, an internal service fund records an
expense to recognize the cost of providing goods or services to another fund. This same expense is
then duplicated in the other funds when the funds that received the goods or services are charged
for their share of the cost. Revenue is also recognized in the internal service fund, based entirely on
a transaction involving the funds of the government—in other words, an internal transaction.
GASBS 34 specifies that eliminations should be made in the statement of activities to remove the
“doubling-up” effect of internal service activities.

Surpluses and Deficits

Surpluses or deficits in internal service funds are likely to indicate that the other funds were
not properly charged for the goods and services that they received. However, the government
should take the view that internal service funds should operate on a breakeven basis over time.
Surpluses or deficits in individual reporting periods may not necessarily indicate the need to adjust
the basis on which other funds are charged for the goods or services provided by the internal
service fund. It is only when internal service funds consistently report significant surpluses or
deficits that the adequacy or inadequacy of charges made to other funds must be reassessed.

If it is determined that the charges made to other funds are either more or less than is needed to
recover cost over a reasonable period, the excess or deficiency should be charged back to the
participating individual funds. The GAAFR prescribes that it is not appropriate to report a material
deficit in an internal service fund with the demonstrable intent and ability to recover that amount
through future charges to other funds over a reasonable period.

In some cases, internal service funds use a higher amount of depreciation in determining
charges to other funds than would ordinarily be calculated using acceptable depreciation methods
in conjunction with historical cost. This is done so that the internal service fund accumulates
enough resources from the other funds to provide for replacement of depreciable assets at what is
likely to be a higher cost at the time of replacement. In this case, the surpluses recorded from the
higher fees will eventually be offset by higher depreciation expense once the asset is replaced at a
higher cost, and the higher cost is used in the depreciation expense calculation.

GASBS 34 has an interesting twist for reporting internal service fund asset and liability
balances on the government-wide statement of net position. Any asset or liability balances that are
not eliminated would be reported in the governmental activities column. While one would expect
that internal service fund balances would be reported in the business-type activities column, the
rationale used by GASBS 34 is that the activities accounted for in internal service funds are usually
more governmental than business-type in nature. However, if enterprise funds are the predominant
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or only participant in an internal service fund, the government would report the internal service
fund’s residual assets and liabilities within the business-type activities column in the statements of
net position.

Risk Financing Activities

Governments are required to use either the general fund or an internal service fund if they
desire to use a single fund to account for all of their risk financing activities. Risk financing
activities are fully described in Chapter 21. However, for purposes of understanding the use of
internal service funds, the following brief discussion is provided.

If a government elects to use an internal service fund to account for its risk financing
activities, inter fund premiums are treated as quasiexternal transactions, similar to external
insurance premiums. In other words, the internal service fund would record an expense and a
liability for the judgments and claims that are probable and measurable for the reporting period.
However, it may charge a higher premium to the other funds (and record the higher amount as
revenue). Because interfund premiums paid to external service funds are treated as quasi-external
transactions rather than as reimbursements, their amounts are not limited by the amount
recognized as expense in the internal service fund, provided that:

e The excess represents a reasonable provision for anticipated catastrophe losses; or

o The excess is the result of a systematic funding method designed to match revenues and
expenses over a reasonable period, for example, an actuarial funding method or a funding
method based on historical cost.

As will be more fully described in Chapter 21, deficits in risk-financing internal service funds
must be charged back as expenditures or expenses to other funds if they are not recovered over a
reasonable period. In addition, surplus retained earnings resulting from premiums charged for
future catastrophe losses should be reported as a designation of retained earnings. This designation
should be reported in the notes to the financial statements, rather than on the face of the financial
statements. This is the sole instance where a designation of retained earnings is required by
generally accepted accounting principles for a proprietary fund, although other designations are
permitted and appropriate.

SUMMARY

The accounting and financial reporting for proprietary funds closely follows the accounting
and financial reporting for commercial activities. However, there are some important differences
and some unique accounting applications described in this chapter that distinguish this accounting
from true commercial accounting. These differences must be understood by financial statement
preparers to provide appropriate financial reports for proprietary activities.
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INTRODUCTION

Governments are often required to hold or manage assets on behalf of others. NCGAS 1
recognized the need for fiduciary funds (known as trust and agency funds prior to GASBS 34), “to
account for assets held by a governmental unit in a trustee capacity or as an agent for individuals,
private organizations, other governmental units, and/or other funds.”

GASBS 34 updated the types of fiduciary funds to include the following:

1. Pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds.
2. Investment trust funds.

3. Private-purpose trust funds.

4. Agency funds.

The funds are reported under GASBS 34 only in fiduciary fund financial statements. They are
not reported as part of the government-wide financial statements.

Each of these fund types is described below. In addition, Chapter 22 describes the accounting
and financial reporting principles used by pension trust funds.

NOTE: As discussed later in this chapter, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, that will
impact the accounting and financial reporting for certain fiduciary funds.

AGENCY FUNDS

Agency funds are used to account for assets held solely in a custodial capacity. As a result,
assets in agency funds are always matched by liabilities to the owners of the assets.

The accounting and financial reporting for agency funds are unique and do not really follow
those of governmental funds or proprietary funds. Agency funds use the modified accrual basis of
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accounting for purposes of recognizing assets and liabilities, such as receivables and payables.
However, agency funds do not have or report operations, and accordingly are said to not have a
measurement focus.

In determining whether an agency fund or a trust fund is used to account for various types of
transactions, there are no clear-cut distinctions for selecting the proper fund to account for a
particular transaction. The degree of the government’s management involvement and discretion
over assets is generally much greater over trust fund assets than over agency fund assets. Private-
purpose trust funds, for example, may require that a government’s management identify eligible
recipients, invest funds long- or short-term, or monitor compliance with regulations. Agency
funds, on the other hand, typically involve only the receipt, temporary investment, and remittance
of assets to their respective owners.

Agency funds are often used by school districts to account for student activity funds that are
held by the school district but whose assets legally belong to the students. Another common use of
agency funds is to account for taxes collected by one government on behalf of other governments.
The collecting government has virtually no discretion on how the funds in the agency fund are to
be spent. They are simply collected and then remitted to the government on whose behalf they
were collected. In addition to this example, there are three instances where the use of an agency
fund is mandated. These mandated uses are described in the following paragraphs.

Pass-Through Grants

GASB Statement 24 (GASBS 24), Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Grants
and Other Financial Assistance, states that as a general rule, cash pass-through grants should be
recognized as revenue and expenditures or expenses in a governmental, proprietary, or trust fund.
GASBS 24 provides, however, that in those infrequent cases where a recipient government only
serves as a cash conduit, the grant should be reported in an agency fund. The GAAFR, using the
guidance of GASBS 24, states that an agency fund should only be used to account for grants if
the government has no administrative involvement with the program and has no direct financial
involvement with the program. Examples provided are as follows:

Administrative requirements:

¢ The government functions solely as an agent for some other government in collecting and
forwarding funds.

e The government undertakes no responsibility for subrecipient monitoring for specific
requirements.

e The government is not responsible for determining the eligibility of recipients.

Direct financial involvement:

e The government has no matching requirements; and
e The government is not liable for grant repayments.

If a grant does not meet these criteria, it is required that the revenues and expenditures or
expenses of the grant be accounted for and reported in one of the other fund types.

Special Assessments

The accounting and financial reporting for special assessments is described in Chapters 4 and
14. The use of an agency fund for special assessments is required when a government is not
obligated in any manner for capital improvements financed by special assessment debt. GASBS 6
requires that “the debt service transactions of a special assessment issue for which the government
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is not obligated in any manner should be reported in an agency fund rather than a debt service fund,
to reflect the fact that the government’s duties are limited to acting as an agent for the assessed
property owners and the bondholders.”

When an agency fund is used for this purpose, any cash on hand from the special assessment
would be shown on the agency fund’s balance sheet. In addition, receivables would be reported for
delinquent assessments. Only delinquent receivables would be reported as receivables on the agency
fund’s balance sheet, however. If the total receivables relating to the special assessment were shown,
they would be offset by a liability that would essentially represent the special assessment debt. This
would violate the requirement that special assessment debt for which the government is not obligated
in any manner should not be displayed in the government’s financial statements.

NOTE: In practice, agency funds are used by governments for the activities described above that are either
repetitive or long-term. For infrequent transactions that will be settled within one or two years (for example,
the asset will be received and the liability paid), many governments choose to simply use asset and liability
accounts of the fund actually receiving the assets and paying the obligations rather than setting up a separate
agency fund. Typically, these asset and liability accounts are set up in the government’s general fund. The
reason for using this approach, instead of setting up a large number of agency funds, is to avoid the
administrative work involved in using a large number of agency funds.

PENSION (AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT) TRUST FUNDS

Governments almost always offer pension benefits to their employees. The pension plans
related to these benefits are reported as pension trust funds in the government’s financial
statements if either of the following criteria is met:

¢ The pension plan qualifies as a component unit of the government.
¢ The pension plan does not qualify as a component unit of the government, but the plan’s
assets are administered by the government.

Pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds are used to account for other employee
benefit funds held in trust by a government, such as an Internal Revenue Code Section 457
Deferred Compensation Plan discussed below. This type of fund would also be used for trust funds
established to fund postemployment benefits other than pensions (OPEBs).

Pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds use the flow of economic resources
measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting, similar to nonexpendable trust
funds and proprietary funds. A separate pension (and other employee benefit) trust fund should be
used for each separate plan. Separate pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds are also
sometimes established to account for supplemental pension benefits.

Governmental pension plans are usually administered by s (PERS). The GASB has specific
pronouncements governing the accounting and financial reporting for both governmental employ-
ers that offer pension plans and the accounting and financial reporting of the plans themselves.
Chapter 18 addresses the governmental employer accounting questions, and Chapter 24 addresses
the accounting for the plans themselves.

Deferred Compensation Plans

Many governments establish and offer participation to their employees in deferred compensa-
tion plans established under Section 457 of the Internal Revenue Code. These plans are often referred
to as Section 457 plans. The laws governing these plans were changed so that as of August 20, 1996,
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new deferred compensation plans would not be considered eligible under Internal Revenue Code
Section 457 unless all assets and income of the plan are held in trust for the exclusive benefit of the
plan participants and their beneficiaries. For existing plans to remain eligible under Internal Revenue
Code Section 457, this requirement was required to be met by January 1, 1999. Thus, the entire
nature of the access to the assets of deferred compensation plans changed under the new
requirements. The assets (and their related earnings) are no longer to be accessible to the
governmental entity and its creditors. They are held in trust for the exclusive benefit of the plan
participants and their beneficiaries. Governments also sometimes offer employees similar deferred
compensation plans established under Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The accounting
guidance discussed in this section would apply to the Section 401(k) plans as well.

In applying the requirements of GASBS 32, the first step for governments is to determine
whether the Internal Revenue Code Section 457 plan should be included as a fiduciary fund of the
reporting government. If the plan meets the criteria of NCGAS 1 for inclusion as a fiduciary fund,
the plan would be reported under GASBS 32 as part of pension (and other employee benefit) trust
funds. If the criteria of NCGAS 1 are not met, then the plan would not be included as a fiduciary
fund of the reporting government.

NCGAS 1 defines fiduciary funds as “Trust and Agency funds to account for assets held by a
governmental unit in a trustee capacity or as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other
governmental units, and/or other funds.” No additional guidance on when to report Internal
Revenue Code Section 457 plans is provided by GASBS 32. The basis for conclusions of GASBS
32 indicates that the GASB’s research indicated at the time of the statement issuance that most
governments had little administrative involvement with their plans and did not perform the
investing function for those plans. This is consistent with the practice that has emerged upon
adoption of GASBS 32 of many governments not reporting their plans as fiduciary funds.

However, whether the plan is reported is a matter of professional judgment, and the extent of
the government’s activities relating to the plan, particularly in selecting investment alternatives
and holding the assets in a trustee capacity needs to be evaluated.

Governments that report Internal Revenue Code Section 457 deferred compensation plans
should apply the valuation provisions of GASB Statement 31 (GASBS 31), Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools. In addition, all
other plan investments should be reported at fair value. Thus, all of the investments of the plan will
be reported at fair value.

GASBS 32 further provides that if it is impractical to obtain investment information from the
plan administrator as of the reporting government’s balance sheet date, the most recent report of
the administrator should be used—for example, reports ending within the reporting government’s
fiscal year or shortly thereafter, adjusted for interim contributions and withdrawals.

INVESTMENT TRUST FUNDS

A special type of trust fund, the investment trust fund, is used by governments that sponsor
external investment pools and that provide individual investment accounts to other legally
separate entities that are not part of the same financial reporting entity. The investment trust
fund is required to be used in these circumstances by GASBS 31, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools. The accounting for these
funds is unchanged by GASBS 34.

Investment trust funds report transaction balances using the flow of economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, the accounting and financial
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reporting for investment trust funds is similar to that used by nonexpendable trust funds (and
proprietary funds).

The two instances where GASBS 31 specifies that investment trust funds be used are as
follows:

1. External portion of external investment pools:

An external investment pool commingles the funds of more than one legally separate
entity and invests on the participants’ behalf in an investment portfolio. GASBS 31 specifies
that the external portion of each pool should be reported as a separate investment trust fund.
The external portion of an external investment pool is the portion of the pool that belongs to
legally separate entities that are not part of the sponsoring government’s financial reporting
entity.

In its financial statements, the sponsoring government should present for each invest-
ment trust fund a statement of net position and a statement of changes in net position. The
difference between the external pool assets and liabilities should be captioned “net position
held in trust for pool participants.” In the combined financial statements, investment trust
funds should be presented in the balance sheet along with the other trust and agency funds. A
separate statement of changes in net position should be presented for the combined
investment trust funds, although GASBS 31 permits that statement to be presented with
similar trust funds, such as pension trust funds.

2. Individual investment accounts:

GASBS 31 requires that governmental entities that provide individual investment
account to other legally separate entities that are not part of the same financial reporting entity
should report those investments in one or more separate investment trust funds. Given the
way that individual investment accounts function, specific investments are acquired for
individual entities and the income from and changes in the value of those investments affect
only the entity for which they were acquired.

The manner of presentation should be consistent with that described above for the external
portion of external investment pools.

PRIVATE-PURPOSE TRUST FUNDS

Private-purpose trust funds are a type of fiduciary fund introduced by GASBS 34. They are
used to report all trust arrangements (other than pension and other employee benefit, and
investment trust funds), under which principal and income benefit individuals, private organiza-
tions, or other governments. Similar to other fiduciary funds, private-purpose trust funds cannot be
used to support a government’s own programs. It is important, therefore, to make sure that an
activity is absent any public purpose of the government before it is accounted for as a private-
purpose trust fund, even if individuals, private organizations, or other governments receive direct
or indirect benefits from the activity. The distinction that a private-purpose trust fund should not be
used to account for a grant program that supports a government’s own programs is an important
one. If a donor provides a government with a grant for the government to use to support its own
programs, that grant should be recorded in the government’s general fund as grant revenue. The
expenditures for this example program then become subject to the budgetary appropriations of the
government’s general fund. However, if the grant does not directly benefit the government or go to
support its own programs, then the grant is properly accounted for as a private-purpose trust fund.
Generally because of their nature, there are no legal budgetary appropriations for these types of



98 Wiley GAAP for Governments 2017

fiduciary funds and the program is administered essentially only in accordance with the grant
agreement.

GASB Statement 84 Fiduciary Activities

In January 2017 the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities (GASBS 84), which
provides some clarifications and changes to fiduciary fund accounting. GASBS 84 establishes
specific criteria for identifying activities that should be reported as fiduciary activities and clarifies
whether and how business-type activities should reported their fiduciary activities.

Identifying Fiduciary Activities

GASBS 84 notes that a primary government or its component units may be engaged in
fiduciary activities. GASBS 84 first describes component units that are engaged in fiduciary
activities. A component unit is a fiduciary activity (a fiduciary component unit) if it meets the
criteria described below, as applicable.

Fiduciary Component Units

GASBS 84 provides that an organization that meets the component unit criteria in GASBS 14,
The Financial Reporting Entity, as amended, is a fiduciary activity if it is one of the following
arrangements:

a. A pension plan that is administered through a trust that meets the criteria in GASBS 67
Financial Reporting for Pension Plans—An Amendment of GASB Statement No. 25.

b. Another postemployment benefit (OPEB) plan that is administered through a trust that
meets the criteria in GASBS 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans
Other Than Pension Plan.

c. A circumstance in which assets from entities that are not part of the reporting entity
are accumulated for pensions as described GASBS 73, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Pensions and Related Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB
Statement 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of GASB Statements 67 and 68,
in paragraph 116.

d. A circumstance in which assets from entities that are not part of the reporting entity are
accumulated for OPEB as described in GASBS 74, paragraph 59.

GASBS 84 notes that, in general, pension plans that are administered through trusts under
GASBS 68 and GASBS 74 are legally separate entities. In determining whether those legally
separate entities are component units, a primary government is considered to have a financial
burden if it is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the obligation to make contributions to
the pension plan or OPEB plan. As such, most pension and OPEB plans administered through
trusts would be expected to be reported as fiduciary component units.

GASBS 84 further provides that a component unit that is not a pension arrangement or OPEB
arrangement as described above is a fiduciary activity if the assets associated with the activity have
one or more of the following characteristics:

a. The assets are (1) administered through a trust agreement or equivalent arrangement
(hereafter referred to as a trust) in which the government itself is not a beneficiary, (2)
dedicated to providing benefits to recipients in accordance with the benefit terms, and (3)
legally protected from the creditors of the government.
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b. The assets are for the benefit of individuals, and the government does not have
administrative involvement with the assets or direct financial involvement with the
assets. In addition, the assets are not derived from the government’s provision of goods
or services to those individuals.

c. The assets are for the benefit of organizations or other governments that are not part of the
financial reporting entity. In addition, the assets are not derived from the government’s
provision of goods or services to those organizations or other governments.

In determining whether a component unit is a fiduciary component unit, control of the assets
of the component unit by the primary government (as discussed below) is not a factor to be
considered.

Pension and OPEB Arrangements That Are Not Component Units

GASBS 84 specifices that, if they are not component units, the following pension and OPEB
arrangements are fiduciary activities if the government controls (as described below) the assets of
the arrangement:

a. A pension plan that is administered through a trust that meets the criteria in GASBS 67.

b. An OPEB plan that is administered through a trust that meets the criteria in GASBS 74.

c. A circumstance in which assets from entities that are not part of the reporting entity are
accumulated for pensions as described in GASBS 73.

d. A circumstance in which assets from entities that are not part of the reporting entity are
accumulated for OPEB as described in GASBS 74.

In applying the criterial listed above, a government has administrative involvement with the
assets under GASBS 84 if, for example, it (a) monitors compliance with the requirements of
the activity that are established by the government or by a resource provider that does not receive the
direct benefits of the activity, (b) determines eligible expenditures that are established by the
government or by aresource provider that does not receive the direct benefits of the activity, or (c) has
the ability to exercise discretion over how assets are allocated. A government has direct financial
involvement with the assets if, for example, it provides matching resources for the activities.

Other Fiduciary Activities

For activities not addressed above, GASBS 84 provides that the activity is a fiduciary activity
if all of the following criteria are met:

a. The assets associated with the activity are controlled by the government (as described
below).
b. The assets associated with the activity are not derived either:

(1) Solely from the government’s own-source revenues (also described below) or

(2) From government-mandated nonexchange transactions or voluntary nonexchange
transactions with the exception of pass-through grants for which the government
does not have administrative involvement or direct financial involvement.

c. The assets associated with the activity have one or more of the following characteristics:

(1) The assets are (a) administered through a trust in which the government itself is not
a beneficiary, (b) dedicated to providing benefits to recipients in accordance with
the benefit terms, and (c) legally protected from the creditors of the government.
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(2) The assets are for the benefit of individuals and the government does not have
administrative involvement with the assets or direct financial involvement with the
assets. In addition, the assets are not derived from the government’s provision of
goods or services to those individuals.

(3) The assets are for the benefit of organizations or other governments that are not part
of the financial reporting entity. In addition, the assets are not derived from the
government’s provision of goods or services to those organizations or other
governments.

Control of Assets

GASBS 84 provides that a government controls the assets of an activity if the government (a)
holds the assets or (b) has the ability to direct the use, exchange, or employment of the assets in a
manner that provides benefits to the specified or intended recipients. However, restrictions from
legal or other external restraints that stipulate the assets can be used only for a specific purpose do
not negate a government’s control of the assets.

Own-Source Revenues

In applying the above criteria, GASBS 84 considers own-source revenues to be revenues
that are generated by a government itself. They include exchange and exchange-like revenues
(for example, water and sewer charges) and investment earnings. Derived tax revenues (such as
sales and income taxes) and imposed nonexchange revenues (such as property taxes) also are
included.

Reporting Fiduciary Activities in Fiduciary Funds

GASBS 84 provides that governments should report fiduciary activities in the fiduciary fund
financial statements of the basic financial statements. The fiduciary fund used to report the
activities should be based on the requirements below.

Pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds are used to report fiduciary activities for the
following:

a. Pension plans and OPEB plans that are administered through trusts that meet the criteria in
GASBS 67 and 74.

b. Other employee benefit plans for which (1) resources are held in a trust that meets the
criteria described above and (2) contributions to the trust and earnings on those
contributions are irrevocable.

Investment trust funds are used to report fiduciary activities from the external portion of
investment pools and individual investment accounts that are held in a trust that meets the
described above in item c (3).

Private-purpose trust funds are used to report all fiduciary activities that (a) are not required to
be reported in pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds or investment trust funds and (b)
are held in a trust that meets the criteria described above in item ¢ (3).

Custodial funds are used to report fiduciary activities that are not required to be reported in
pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds, investment trust funds, or private-purpose trust
funds. The external portion of investment pools that are not held in a trust that meets the criteria
described above in item c (3) should be reported in a separate external investment pool fund
column, under the custodial funds classification.



Chapter 8 / Fiduciary Funds 101

NOTE: The most significant change in these types of fiduciary funds is that agency funds have been replaced
with custodial funds. As will be described below, custodial funds will also present their activities for the
reporting period.

As to business-type activities, including enterprise funds, GASBS 84 provides that they may
report assets with a corresponding liability that otherwise should be reported in a custodial fund in
the statement of net position of the business-type activity if those assets, upon receipt, are normally
expected to be held for three months or less. A business-type activity that chooses to report such
assets and liabilities in its statement of net position should separately report additions and
deductions, if significant, as cash inflows and cash outflows, respectively, in the operating
activities category of its statement of cash flows.

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

The statement of fiduciary net position is used to report the assets, deferred outflows of
resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and fiduciary net position of pension (and
other employee benefit) trust funds, investment trust funds, private-purpose trust funds, and
custodial funds.

Except for pension and OPEB entities discussed below, GASBS 84 provides that a liability to
the beneficiaries of a fiduciary activity should be recognized in a fiduciary fund when an event has
occurred that compels the government to disburse fiduciary resources.

Events that compel a government to disburse fiduciary resources occur when a demand for the
resources has been made or when no further action, approval, or condition is required to be taken
or met by the beneficiary to release the assets. GASBS 84 provides the example that a county
government should recognize a liability when it collects taxes for other governments, even though
it may not be required to distribute the taxes to those governments until a specified time in the
future. Liabilities other than those to beneficiaries should be recognized in accordance with
existing accounting standards using the economic resources measurement focus.

GASBS 84 further provides that a government that reports a pension plan or an OPEB plan in
a pension (or other employee benefit) trust fund should report the plan’s assets, deferred outflows
of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and fiduciary net position in accordance
with GASBS 67 or 74, as applicable.

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

The statement of changes in fiduciary net position is used to report additions to and
deductions from pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds, investment trust funds,
private-purpose trust funds, and custodial funds.

Except for pension and OPEB entities discussed above, or custodial funds discussed below,
GASBS 84 provides that the statement of changes in fiduciary net position should disaggregate
additions by source including, if applicable, separate display of:

a. Investment earnings.

b. Investment costs (including investment management fees, custodial fees, and all other
significant investment-related costs).

c. Net investment earnings (investment earnings minus investment costs).

Investment-related costs are reported as investment costs if they are separable from (a) investment
earnings and (b) administrative costs. The statement of changes in fiduciary net position should
disaggregate deductions by type and, if applicable, should separately display administrative costs.
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GASBS 84 provides that a government may report a single aggregated total for additions and
a single aggregated total for deductions of custodial funds in which resources, upon receipt, are
normally expected to be held for three months or less. The descriptions of the aggregated totals of
additions and deductions should indicate the nature of the resource flows. The example provided is
that of a custodial fund addition description, property taxes collected for other governments. An
example of a custodial fund deduction description is property taxes distributed to other
governments.

In addition, GASBS 84 provides that a government that reports a pension plan or OPEB plan
in a pension (or other employee benefit) trust fund should report changes in the plan’s fiduciary net
position in accordance with GASBS 67 and 74, as applicable.

Reporting Fiduciary Component Units

When reported in the fiduciary fund financial statements of a primary government, a fiduciary
component unit should include the combined information of its own component units that are
fiduciary component units. That combined information should be aggregated with the primary
government’s fiduciary funds based on the classifications of the various types of fiduciary funds
described earlier.

Effective Date

GASBS 84 is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Earlier
application is encouraged. Changes adopted to conform to the provisions of this Statement should
be applied retroactively by restating financial statements, if practicable, for all prior periods
presented. If restatement for prior periods is not practicable, the cumulative effect, if any, of
applying GASBS 84 should be reported as a restatement of beginning net position (or fund balance
or fund net position, as applicable) for the earliest period restated. In the first period that this
Statement is applied, the notes to the financial statements should disclose the nature of the
restatement and its effect.

SUMMARY

Governments frequently hold assets in a fiduciary capacity and should use the appropriate
fiduciary fund to account for the assets and liabilities relating to these fiduciary responsibilities.
The use of fiduciary funds provides the capability to improve accountability and control over these
assets.
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INTRODUCTION

This chapter describes some of the unique aspects of the financial statements prepared by
governments. The information presented in this chapter is consistent with the financial
reporting model promulgated by GASBS 34, as amended. This information also incorporates
the more important guidance provided by GASB staff through the use of Question and Answer
Implementation Guides concerning the financial reporting model. While the basic financial
statement elements of a balance sheet, operating statement, and in some cases cash flow
statement exist in a significantly modified way for governments, there are many concepts
unique to financial reporting for governments. These financial reporting concepts are discussed
throughout this chapter.

This chapter also provides information and discussion on the following topics:

¢ Basic financial statements.

e Interfund and intra-entity transactions.

e Reporting deferred inflows and outflows of resources.
e Comprehensive annual financial report.

¢ Cash flow statement preparation and reporting.

This chapter focuses on the overall financial reporting for governments. There are a number of
specific reporting and presentation issues that relate to specific fund types. These issues are
discussed in later chapters.

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The basic financial statements used for a governmental entity’s fair presentation in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) include both information
reported on a government-wide basis and information presented on a fund basis. Certain
budget to actual comparisons may also be required. Specifically, components of the basic
financial reporting for the governmental entities included in the scope of the financial
reporting model are as follows:

e Management’s discussion and analysis.
¢ Basic financial statements:

o Government-wide financial statements.
e Fund financial statements.

¢ Notes to the financial statements.
¢ Required supplementary information (RSI).

Each of the elements is described more fully below.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) is an introduction to the financial statements
that provides readers with a brief, objective, and easily readable analysis of the government’s
financial performance for the year and its financial position at year-end. The analysis included in
MD&A should be based on currently known facts, decisions, or conditions. For a fact to be
currently known, it should be based on events or decisions that have already occurred, or have
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been enacted, adopted, agreed upon, or contracted. This means that governments should not
include discussions about the possible effects of events that might happen. (Discussion of possible
events that might happen in the future may be discussed in the letter of transmittal that is prepared
as part of a Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.) MD&A should contain a comparison of
current year results with those of the prior year.

GASBS 34 provides a listing of very specific topics to be included in MD&A, although
governments are encouraged to be creative in presenting the information using graphs, charts, and
tables. The GASB would like MD&A to be a useful analysis that is prepared with thought and
insight, rather than boiler-plate material prepared by rote every year. However, the phrase “the
minimum is the maximum” applies. This means that MD&A should address all of the applicable
topics listed in GASBS 34, but MD&A should address only these topics. Of course, governments
preparing Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports can include in the letter of transmittal any
topic that would be precluded from being included in MD&A.

NOTE: In the author’s experience, one thing has unfortunately become clear—many MD&A presen-
tations have become somewhat “boilerplate” and often do not provide any real insight into a
government’s performance or financial position. In some instances, the analysis consists only of a
computation of an increase or decrease in a financial statement line item, along with a corresponding
percentage.

The requirements of GASBS 34 call for an analysis of performance and financial position. To
accomplish this, the reasons for significant increases and decreases in certain financial statement amounts
should be provided to assist the reader in understanding why these fluctuations occurred (or perhaps did not
occur). Financial statement preparers should take care that MD&A provides sufficient information to the
reader to meet the requirements of GASBS 34. This would include providing information beyond simple
fluctuation calculations that readers of the financial statements would otherwise be able to calculate on
their own.

Current year information is to be addressed in comparison with the prior year, although the
current year information should be the focus of the discussion. If the government is presenting
comparative financial data with the prior year in the current year financial statements, the
requirements for MD&A apply to only the current year. However, if the government is presenting
comparative financial statements, that is, a complete set of financial statements for each year of a
two-year period, then the requirements of MD&A must be met for each of the years presented. The
requirements may be met by including all of the required information in the same presentation,
meaning that two completely separate MD&As for comparative financial statements are not
required, provided that all of the requirements relating to each of the years are met in the one
discussion.

In addition, MD&A should focus on the primary government. For fund information, the
analysis of balances and transactions of individual funds would normally be confined to major
funds, although discussion of nonmajor fund information is not precluded. Governments must use
judgment in determining whether discussion and analysis of discretely presented component unit
information is included in MD&A. The judgment should be based upon the significance of an
individual component unit’s significance to the total of all discretely presented component units,
as well as its significance to the primary government.

The minimum requirements for MD&A are as follows:

1. Brief discussion of the basic financial statements, including the relationships of the
statements to each other and the significant differences in the information that they
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provide. (This is where governments should explain the differences in results and
measurements in the government-wide financial statements and the fund financial
statements. This discussion provides the reporting government an opportunity to help
the financial statement reader understand the financial statements and understand the
differences between the fund and government-wide financial statements.)

Condensed financial information derived from the government-wide financial statements,
comparing the current year to the prior year. GASBS 34 specifies that the following
elements are included:

a. Total assets, distinguishing between capital assets and other assets.

b. Total liabilities, distinguishing between long-term liabilities and other liabilities.

c. Total net position, distinguishing among amounts invested in capital assets, net of
related debt; restricted amounts; and unrestricted amounts.

Program revenues, by major source.

General revenues, by major source.

Total revenues.

Program expenses, at a minimum by function.

Total expenses.

The excess or deficiency before contributions to term and permanent endowments or
permanent fund principal, special and extraordinary items.

Contributions.

Special and extraordinary items.

Transfers.

Change in net position.

Ending net position.
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Although charts and graphs may be used to supplement or elaborate on information
contained in the condensed financial information, they cannot be used in place of the
condensed financial information.

. Analysis of the government’s overall financial position and results of operations. This

information should assist users in determining whether financial position has improved or
deteriorated as a result of the current year’s operations. Both governmental and business-
type activities should be discussed. The reasons for significant changes from the prior year
should be described, not simply the computation of percentage changes.

. Analysis of the balances and transactions of individual funds.
. Analysis of significant variations between original and final budgeted amounts and

between financial budget amounts and actual budget results for the general fund (or
its equivalent). MD&A should discuss the reasons for significant budget variances, such as
why the significant variance occurred.

. Description of significant capital asset and long-term debt activity during the year. Note

that special assessment debt for which the government is not obligated in any manner
should not be part of this discussion.

. For governments that use the modified approach to report some or all of their infrastructure

assets, the following should be discussed:

a. Significant changes in the assessed condition of eligible infrastructure assets.
b. How the current assessed condition compares with the condition level the government
has established.
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c. Significant differences from the estimated annual amount to maintain/preserve eligible
infrastructure assets compared with the actual amounts spent during the year.

8. Description of currently known facts, decisions, or conditions that are expected to have a
significant effect on financial position or results of operations.

NOTE: In meeting the MD&A requirements of GASB 34, two matters should be considered:

o First, the relationship between MD&A and the letter of transmittal presented as part of a CAFR must
be addressed. Including any information required in MD&A in a letter of transmittal does not fulfill
any of the requirements for MD&A since MD&A is a required supplement to the basic financial
statements of a government and the letter of transmittal of a CAFR is not. On the other hand, certain
information that is required in MD&A may formerly have been included in the letter of transmittal.
This information may be moved from the transmittal letter to MD&A. However, the Government
Finance Officers Association’s (GFOA) GAFR includes guidance for the requirements of the letter of
transmittal for its Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting program upon
adoption of GASBS 34. Governments that intend to apply for the GFOA Certificate of Achievement
should make sure that they do not remove information from the letter of transmittal that is required by
the Certificate Program.

o MD&A is a required supplement to the basic financial statements of a government. These statements
are frequently included in Official Statements prepared by governments when the governments are
selling debt to the public. Official Statements generally include a significant amount of analytical
information about the financial condition and financial performance of the government. Care must
be taken that analytical information included in MD&A about currently known facts, decisions, and
conditions is consistent with statements made in the Official Statement, after taking into considera-
tion the passage of time between the issuance of financial statements and the issuance of an Official
Statement.

Government-wide Financial Statements

Government-wide financial statements include two basic financial statements—a statement
of net position and a statement of activities. These statements should include the primary
government and its discretely presented component units (presented separately), although they
would not include the fiduciary activities or component units that are fiduciary in nature. The
statements would distinguish between governmental activities (which are those financed
through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange revenues) and business-
type activities (which are those primarily financed through specified user fees or similar
charges). Presentation of prior year data on the government-wide financial statements is
optional. Presenting full prior year financial statements on the same pages as the current
year financial statements may be cumbersome because of the number of columns that might
need to be presented. Accordingly, a government may wish to present summarized prior year
data. On the other hand, if full prior year statements are desired (for presentation in an Official
Statement for a bond offering, for example) the prior year statements may be reproduced and
included with the current year statements. In this case, footnote disclosure should also be
reviewed to make sure that both years are addressed.

Basis of accounting and measurement focus. The government-wide financial statements
are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting
for all activities. Presentation of financial statement balances in the government-wide financial
statements is discussed throughout the various specific topics covered in this guide. The following
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pages address the more important financial statement display issues when reporting under the new
financial reporting model.

The government-wide financial statements should present information about the primary
government’s governmental activities and business-type activities in separate columns, with a
total column that represents the total primary government. Governmental activities generally
include those activities financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonex-
change revenues. Business-type activities are those activities financed in whole or part by fees
charged to external parties for goods or services (i.e., enterprise fund activities). Discretely
presented component units are presented in a separate column. A column that totals the primary
government and the discretely presented component units to represent the entire reporting entity is
optional, as is prior year data.

Reporting for governmental and business-type activities should be based on all applicable
GASB pronouncements including the standards promulgated by GASB Statement No. 62
(GASBS 62), Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in
Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, which incorporates into the
GASB standards certain accounting and financial reporting guidance that was included in
pronouncements of the FASB and AICPA issued on or before November 30, 1989, which do
not conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements.

Statement of Net Position

GASBS 34 provides several examples of how the statement of net position may be presented.
There are several key presentation issues that must be considered in implementing this statement.
These are summarized as follows:

e The net of assets plus deferred outflows of resources and liabilities plus deferred inflows of
resources is labeled “net position.” This difference should not be labeled as equity or fund
balance.

¢ Governments are encouraged to present assets and liabilities in order of their relative
liquidity but may instead use a classified format that distinguishes between current and
long-term assets and liabilities. An asset’s liquidity is determined by how readily it is
expected to be converted to cash and whether there are restrictions on the use of the asset.
A liability’s liquidity is based on its maturity or when cash is expected to be used to
liquidate it. GASBS 34 allows that the liquidity of classes of assets and liabilities may be
assessed using their average liquidity, even if some particular assets or liabilities are more
or less liquid than others within the same class. Liabilities whose average maturities are
greater than one year should be reported in two components—the amount due within one
year and the amount due in more than one year.

Net position is comprised of three components:

o Invested in capital assets, net of related debt.
e Restricted net position (distinguishing among major categories of restrictions).
e Unrestricted net position.

The net position components listed above require some additional explanation and analysis.

o Invested in capital assets, net of related debt. This amount represents capital assets
(including any restricted capital assets), net of accumulated depreciation, and reduced by
the outstanding bonds, mortgages, notes or other borrowings that are attributable to the
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acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. If there are significant unspent
debt proceeds that are restricted for use for capital projects, the portion of the debt
attributable to the unspent proceeds should not be included in the calculation of net
position invested in capital assets, net of related debt. Instead, that portion of the debt
would be included in the same net asset component as the unspent proceeds, which would
likely be net position restricted for capital purposes. This net asset category would then
have both the asset (proceeds) and the liability (the portion of the debt) recorded in the
same net asset component. Note that if the amount of debt issued for capital purposes
exceeds the amount of the net book value of capital assets, this number will be reported as
a negative amount. For example, if a Phase 3 government that elected not to retroactively
record infrastructure assets used debt to finance its infrastructure costs, it will have the debt
issued for these assets recorded, but will have no corresponding asset recorded.

NOTE: Ongoing experience with determining the invested in capital assets net of related debt amount
confirms that its computation can be difficult. For governments that have active capital programs that are
financed with debt, the calculation of this amount can be very problematic. Often capital assets can be
specifically identified with the debt that paid for them at the time that they are purchased or constructed. Over
time, however, this linkage becomes difficult to maintain. The capital assets, in most cases, are being
depreciated over various useful lives and, perhaps, using various depreciation methods. At the same time, the
related debt is impacted by normal principal repayments and may as well be impacted by call features,
premium or discount amortization, and refundings. Matching the book value of capital assets with the
remaining outstanding balance of the debt that paid for them can result in a painstaking process to develop
the financial statement amount. Amounts related to outstanding debt, particularly bond issuance costs, may
also be impacted by the implementation of GASBS 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities.

e Restricted net position. This amount represents those net positions that should be
reported as restricted because constraints are placed on the net asset use that are either:
Externally imposed by creditors (such as those imposed through debt covenants), grantors,
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments.

¢ Imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Basically, restrictions are not unilaterally established by the reporting government itself and
cannot be removed without the consent of those imposing the restrictions or through formal due
process. Restrictions can be broad or narrow, provided that the purpose is narrower than that of the
reporting unit in which it is reported. In addition, the GASB Implementation Guide clarifies that
legislation that “earmarks” that a portion of a tax be used for a specific purpose does not constitute
“enabling legislation” that would result in those assets being reported as restricted. In addition, the
GASB Implementation Guide provides the example of a general state statute pertaining to local
governments that provides that revenues derived from a fee or charge be not used for any purpose
other than that for which the fee or charge was imposed. In this case, the general statute applies to
all jurisdictions in the state and creates a legally enforceable restriction on the use of the resources
raised through fees and charges.

The GASB Implementation Guide also addresses two other common issues in determining
restricted net position. First, when assets in a restricted fund exceed the amounts required to be
restricted by the external parties or the enabling legislation, the excess over the required amounts
would be classified as unrestricted for financial reporting purposes. The second question addresses
which component of net position should be used to report unamortized debt issuance costs and
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deferred amounts from refundings. Basically, these amounts should “follow the debt.” For
example, if the debt is capital-related, the net proceeds of the debt would be used in the calculation
of invested in capital assets, net of related debt.

The GASB issued Statement No. 46 (GASBS 46), Net Assets Restricted and Enabling
Legislation—An Amendment of GASB Statement 34, addressing a specific issue as to classification
of net assets (now net position) into one of its three categories.

GASBS 46 addresses only the issue of net positions that are restricted by enabling legislation.
The basic issue is how to interpret whether enabling legislation of a government imposes a
restriction on net position. In some jurisdictions, for example, a legislature cannot bind a future
legislature. If the current legislature passes a law imposing a new tax that is restricted to a
particular use, are net positions arising from that tax restricted or not? In this example, the
subsequent legislature not only cannot be bound, but arguably, the current legislature has the
ability to pass new legislation to remove the restriction.

GASBS 46 does not allow governments to make a blanket assessment that enabling
legislation does not impose a restriction on net position. GASBS 34 requires that net position
be reported as restricted when constraints are placed on the assets externally (creditors, grantors,
etc.) or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Enabling
legislation is that which authorizes the government to assess, levy, charge, or otherwise mandate
payment of resources and includes a legally enforceable requirement that those resources be used
only for the specific purpose stipulated in the legislation.

GASBS 46 provides a definition of “legally enforceable” to mean that a government can be
compelled by an external party, such as citizens, public interest groups, or the judiciary, to use
resources created by the enabling legislation only for the purposes specified in the legislation. It
provides that generally, the enforceability of an enabling legislation restriction is determined by
professional judgment, which may be based on actions such as analyzing the legislation to
determine if it meets the qualifying criteria for enabling legislation, reviewing determinations
made for similar legislation of the government or other governments, or obtaining the opinion of
legal counsel. Enforceability cannot ultimately be proven unless tested through the judicial
process, which may never occur. In addition, the determination that a particular restriction is not
legally enforceable may lead a government to reevaluate the legal enforceability of similar
enabling legislation restrictions, but should not necessarily lead a government to conclude that all
enabling legislation restrictions are unenforceable.

GASBS 46 provides that if a government passes new enabling legislation that replaces the
original enabling legislation by establishing new legally enforceable restrictions on the resources
raised by the original enabling legislation, then from that period forward, the resources accumulated
under the new enabling legislation should be reported as restricted to the purpose specified by the
new enabling legislation. Professional judgment should be used to determine if remaining balances
accumulated under the original enabling legislation should continue to be reported as restricted for
the original purpose, restricted to the purpose specified in the new legislation, or unrestricted.

GASBS 46 further provides that if resources are used for a purpose other than those stipulated
in the enabling legislation or if there is other cause for reconsideration, governments should
reevaluate the legal enforceability of the restrictions to determine if the resources should continue
to be reported as restricted. If reevaluation results in a determination that a particular restriction is
no longer legally enforceable, then from the beginning of that period forward the resources should
be reported as unrestricted. If it is determined that the restrictions continue to be legally
enforceable, then for financial reporting purposes, the restricted net position should not reflect
any reduction for resources used for purposes not stipulated in the enabling legislation.
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GASBS 46 requires that net position at the end of the reporting period that are restricted by
enabling legislation be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

When permanent endowments or permanent fund principal amounts are included in restricted
net position, restricted net position should be displayed in two additional components—expend-
able and nonexpendable. Nonexpendable net positions are those that are required to be retained in

perpetuity.
¢ Unrestricted net position. This amount consists of net positions that do not meet the

definition of restricted net position or net position invested in capital assets, net of related
debt.

NOTE: As discussed later in the chapter, governmental funds also report restricted assets on their
statement of financial position. GASBS 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Definitions
adopted the same basic definition of restricted net asset used in government-wide and proprietary fund
reporting to governmental fund reporting. This results in consistency between the government-wide
financial statements and the governmental fund financial statements. GASBS 54 is more fully described
later in this chapter.

Exhibit 1 presents a sample classified statement of net position, based on the examples
provided in GASBS 34.

Exhibit 1: Sample classified statement of net position

City of Anywhere
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 20XX

Primary Government

Govermental Business- Component
Activites Type Activities Total Units
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ XX, XXX $ XX, XXX $ XX, XXX $ XX, XXX
Investments XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Receivables (net) XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Internal balances XX, XXX (XX, XXX) -
Inventories XX,XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total current assets XXX,XXX XXX,XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX -
Capital assets
Land and infrastructure XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Depreciable buildings, property, and XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
equipment, net
Total noncurrent assets XXX, XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX
Total assets $XXX, XXX $xXX, XXX $XXX, XXX $XXX, XXX
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ XX, XXX $ XX, XXX $ XX, XXX $ XX, XXX

Deferred revenue XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
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Current portion of long-term XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
obligations
Total current liabilities XXX, XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX
Noncurrent liabilities:
Noncurrent portion of long-term XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
obligations
Total liabilities XXX, XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX
Net Position
Invested in capital assets, net of XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX

related debt
Restricted for:

Capital projects XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX, XXX
Debt service XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX -
Community development XX, XXX - XX, XXX -
projects
Other purposes XX, XXX - XX, XXX -
Unrestricted XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total net position XXX,XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX
Total liabilities and net position $XXX, XXX $XXX, XXX $XXX, XXX $XXX, XXX

Statement of Activities

GASBS 34 adopts the net (expense) revenue format, which is easier to view than describe.
See Exhibit 2 for an example of a statement of activities based on the examples provided in
GASBS 34.

The objective of this format is to report the relative financial burden of each of the reporting
government’s functions on its taxpayers. The format identifies the extent to which each function of
the government draws from the general revenues of the government or is self-financing through
fees or intergovernmental aid.

The statement of activities presents governmental activities by function (similar to the current
requirements) and business-type activities at least by segment. Segments are identifiable activities
reported as or within an enterprise fund or another stand-alone entity for which one or more
revenue bonds or other revenue-backed debt instrument are outstanding.

Expense Presentation

The statement of activities should present expenses of governmental activities by function
in at least the level of detail required in the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances. Categorization and level of detail are basically
the same for governmental activities by function in pre-GASBS 34 financial statements.
Expenses for business-type activities are reported in at least the level of detail as by segment,
which is defined as an identifiable activity reported as or within an enterprise fund or another
stand-alone entity for which one or more revenue bonds or other revenue-backed debt
instruments are outstanding. A segment has a specific identifiable revenue stream pledged
in support of revenue bonds or other revenue-backed debt and has related expenses, gains and
losses, assets, and liabilities that can be identified.

Governments should report all expenses by function except for those expenses that meet the
definitions of special items or extraordinary items, discussed later in this chapter. Governments
are required, at a minimum, to report the direct expenses for each function. Direct expenses are
those that are specifically associated with a service, program, or department and, accordingly, can
be clearly identified with a particular function.
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Exhibit 2: Sample statement of activities

City of Anywhere
Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 20XX

Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position

Program Revenues Primary Government
Charges Operating Capital Business-
for Grants and Grants and  Governmental Type Component
Functions/Programs Expenses Services  Contributi Contributi Activities Activities  Total Units
Primary government:
Governmental activities:
General government $ XX, XXX $ XX, XXX $ XX, XXX $ - $ (XX,XXX) $ - $(xxxxx) $ -
Public safety XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX (XX,XXX) - (XX,XXX) -
Public works XX, XXX XX, XXX - XX, XXX (XX, XXX) - (XX,XXX) -
Health and sanitation XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX - (XX,XXX) - (XX,XXX) -
Community development XX, XXX - - XX, XXX (XX,XXX) - (XX,XXX) -
Education XX, XXX - - - (XX,XXX) - (XX,XXX) -
Interest on long-term XX, XXX - - - (XX, XXX) - (XX,XXX) -
debt
Total governmental XXX, XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX (XXX,XXX) - (XXX,XXX) -
activities
Business-type activities:
Water and sewer XX, XXX XX, XXX - XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX,XXX -
Parking facilities XX, XXX XX, XXX - - - (XX,XXX)  (XX,XXX) -
Total business-type activities XXX,XXX XXX, XXX - XXX, XXX — XXX,XXX  XXX,XXX —
Total primary government $XXX,XXX $XXX, XXX  $XXX,XXX $ XXX,XXX XXX, XXX XXX,XXX  (XXX,XXX) -
Component units:
Landfill $ XX, XXX $ XX, XXX - $  xx,xxx - - - $ xx,xxx
Public school system XX, XXX XX, XXX $ XX, XXX - - - - (XX,XXX)
Total component units $XXX, XXX $XXX, XXX $XXX, XXX $  xx,xxx - - - $(XX,XXX)
General revenues:
Taxes:
Property taxes XX,XXX - XX,XXX -
Franchise taxes XX, XXX - XX, XXX -
Payment from city of - - - XX, XXX
Anywhere
Grants and XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX, XXX
contributions not
restricted to specific
programs
Investment earnings XX, XXX XX,XXX XX, XXX XX,XXX
Miscellaneous XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Special item—Gain XX, XXX - XX, XXX -
on sale of baseball
stadium
Transfers XX, XXX (XX,XXX) - -
Total general XXX, XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX XXX,XXX
revenues, special
items, and transfers
Change in net position (XXX,XXX) XXX, XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX
Net position— XXX, XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX XXX, XXX

beginning
Net position—ending $XXX, XXX $XXX, XXX $XXX, XXX $XXX,XXX




114 Wiley GAAP for Governments 2017

There are numerous government functions—such as the general government, support
services, and administration—that are actually indirect expenses of the other functions. For
example, the police department of a city reports to the mayor. The direct expenses of the police
department would likely be reported under the function “public safety” in the statement of
activities. However the mayor’s office (along with payroll, personnel, and other departments)
supports the activities of the police department although they are not direct expenses of the
police department. Governments are permitted, but not required, to allocate these indirect
expenses to other functions. Governments may allocate some but not all indirect expenses, or
they may use a full-cost allocation approach and allocate all indirect expenses to other functions. If
indirect expenses are allocated, they must be displayed in a column separate from the direct
expenses of the functions to which they are allocated. Governments that allocate central expenses
to funds or programs, such as through the use of internal service funds, are not required to
eliminate these administrative charges when preparing the statement of activities, but should
disclose in the summary of significant accounting policies that these charges are included in direct
expenses.

The reporting of depreciation expense in the statement of activities requires some careful
analysis. Depreciation expense for the following types of capital assets is required to be included
in the direct expenses of functions or programs:

o (Capital assets that can be specifically identified with a function or program.
¢ Capital assets that are shared by more than one function or program, such as a building in
which several functions or programs share office space.

Some capital assets of a government may essentially serve all of the functions of a
government, such as a city hall or county administrative office building. There are several
options for presenting depreciation expense on these capital assets. These options are:

¢ Include the depreciation expense in an indirect expense allocation to the various functions
or programs.

e Report the depreciation expense as a separate line item in the statement of activities
(labeled in such a way as to make clear to the reader of the financial statements that not all
of the government’s depreciation expense is included on this line).

e Reported as part of the general government (or its equivalent) function.

Depreciation expense for infrastructure assets associated with governmental activities should
be reported in one of the following ways:

e Report the depreciation expenses as a direct expense of the function that is normally used
for capital outlays for and maintenance of infrastructure assets.

e Report the depreciation expense as a separate line item in the statement of activities
(labeled in such a way as to make clear to the reader of the financial statements that not all
of the government’s depreciation expense is included on this line).

Interest expense on general long-term liabilities should be reported as an indirect expense. In
the vast majority of circumstances, interest expense will be displayed as a separate line item on the
statement of activities. In certain limited circumstances where the borrowing is essential to the
creation or continuing existence of a program or function and it would be misleading to exclude
interest from that program or function’s direct expenses, GASBS 34 would permit that interest
expense to be reported as a direct expense. The GASBS 34 Implementation Guide also prescribes
that interest on capital leases or interest expense from vendor financing arrangements should not
be reported as direct expenses of specific programs.



Chapter 9 / Financial Statements Prepared by Governments 115

Revenue Presentation

Revenues on the statement of activities are distinguished between program revenues and
general revenues.

Program revenues are those derived directly from the program itself or from parties
outside the government’s taxpayers or citizens, as a whole. Program revenues reduce the
net cost of the program that is to be financed from the government’s general revenues. On
the statement of activities, these revenues are deducted from the expenses of the functions
and programs discussed in the previous section. The GASB Implementation Guide
provides that separate columns may be presented under a particular revenue category
heading. For example, if fines are a significant part of charges for services (defined below),
a government may elect (but is not required) to have a separate column under the charges
for services heading that breaks out fines as a separate column. There are three categories
into which program revenues should be distinguished.

¢ Charges for services. These are revenues based on exchange or exchange-like transactions.
This type of program revenues arises from charges to customers or applicants who purchase,
use, or directly benefit from the goods, services, or privileges provided. Examples include
water use charges, garbage collection fees, licenses and permits such as dog licenses or
building permits, and operating assessments, such as for street cleaning or street lighting.

¢ Program-specific operating grants and contributions. (See the following discussion
on program-specific capital grants and contributions.)

¢ Program-specific capital grants and contributions. Both program-specific operating and
capital grants and contributions include revenues arising from mandatory and voluntary
nonexchange transactions with other governments, organizations, or individuals, that are
restricted for use in a particular program. Some grants and contributions consist of capital
assets or resources that are restricted for capital purposes, such as purchasing, constructing,
or renovating capital assets associated with a particular program. These revenues should be
reported separately from grants and contributions that may be used for either operating
expenses or capital expenditures from a program, at the discretion of the government
receiving the grant or contribution. The GASB Implementation Guide addresses the
question of the accounting for revenues that meet the definition of program revenues,
but the grants specify amounts for specific programs that are spread in the statement of
activities over several functions. If a grant meets the definition of program revenue, it should
be recorded as such. If the grant is detailed by program and the statement of activities is
detailed by function, a reasonable allocation method should be used to assign the program
revenues to the appropriate functions. This issue, however, is different from when a
government has the discretion to use a particular grant for more than one program or
function. In this case, the grant would be considered a general revenue instead of a program
revenue because of the discretion that the government can exert in how the grant amounts
are used.

General revenues are all those revenues that are not required to be reported as program
revenues. All taxes, regardless of whether they are levied for a specific purpose, should be
reported as general revenues. Taxes should be reported by type of tax, such as real estate
taxes, sales tax, income tax, franchise tax, etc. (Although operating special assessments
are derived from property owners, they are not considered taxes and are properly reported
as program revenues.) General revenues are reported after total net expense of the
government’s functions on the statement of activities.
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Extraordinary and special items. GASBS 34 provides that a government’s statement of
activities may have extraordinary and special items. Extraordinary items are those that are unusual in
nature and infrequent in occurrence. This tracks the private sector accounting definition of this term.

Special items are a concept introduced by GASBS 34. They are defined as “significant
transactions or other events within the control of management that are either unusual in nature or
infrequent in occurrence.” Special items are reported separately in the statement of activities
before any extraordinary items.

The GASBS 34 Implementation Guide cites the following events or transactions that may
qualify as extraordinary or special items:

Extraordinary items:

e Costs related to an environmental disaster caused by a large chemical spill in a train
derailment in a small city.

¢ Significant damage to the community or destruction of government facilities by natural
disaster or terrorist act. However, geographic location of the government may determine if
a weather-related natural disaster is infrequent.

e A large bequest to a small government by a private citizen.

Special items:

e Sales of certain general government capital assets.

e Special termination benefits resulting from workforce reductions due to sale of the
government’s utility operations.

e Early-retirement program offered to all employees.

¢ Significant forgiveness of debt.

Eliminations and reclassifications. GASBS 34 requires that eliminations of transactions within
the governmental business-type activities be made so that these amounts are not “grossed-up” on the
statement of net position and statement of activities. Where internal service funds are used, their activities
are eliminated where their transactions would cause a double recording of revenues and expenses.

Fund Financial Statements

There are many similarities between the way in which fund financial statements under the new
financial reporting model are prepared and the way in which they were previously prepared. One
of the most notable similarities is that governmental funds continue to use the modified accrual
basis of accounting and the current financial resources measurement focus in the fund financial
statements. However, there are also many important differences in the way these statements are
prepared. The following discussion highlights these differences.

Fund financial statements are prepared only for the primary government. They are designed to
provide focus on the major funds within each fund type. Fund financial statements include financial
statements for fiduciary funds, but they do not include financial statements for discretely presented
component units. The following are the types of funds included in fund-type financial statements:

o Governmental funds:

e General fund.

e Special revenue funds.
e (Capital projects funds.
e Debt service funds.

e Permanent funds.
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e Proprietary funds:

¢ Enterprise funds.
e Internal service funds.

¢ Fiduciary funds and similar component units:

¢ Pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds.
¢ Investment trust funds.

Private-purpose trust funds.

e Agency funds.

The following are the required financial statements for the various fund types. A reference to
each exhibit that provides a sample of each of these statements is also provided.
Governmental funds:

e Balance sheet (Exhibit 3).
¢ Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances (Exhibit 4).

Proprietary funds:

e Statement of net position or balance sheet (Exhibit 5).

e Statement of revenues, expenses, and change in fund net position or fund equity
(Exhibit 6).

e Statement of cash flows (Exhibit 7).

Fiduciary funds:

e Statement of fiduciary net position (Exhibit 8).
¢ Statement of changes in fiduciary assets (Exhibit 9).

In preparing these fund financial statements, the following significant guidance of GASBS 34
should be considered:

¢ A reconciliation of the governmental fund activities in the government-wide financial
statements with the governmental fund financial statements should be prepared. A
summary reconciliation to the government-wide financial statements should be presented
at the bottom of the fund financial statements or in an accompanying schedule. If the
aggregation of reconciling information obscures the nature of the individual elements of a
particular reconciling item, a more detailed explanation should be provided in the notes to
the financial statements. Exhibits 10 and 11 provide examples of these reconciliations
presented as a separate schedule.

¢ General capital assets and general long-term debt are not reported in the fund financial
statements. (Note that capital assets and long-term debt are reported in proprietary funds,
however.)

e GASBS 34 requires activities to be reported as enterprise funds if any one of the following
criteria is met: The activity is financed with debt that is secured solely by a pledge of the
net revenues from fees and charges of the activity.

e Laws orregulations require that the activity’s costs of providing services, including capital
costs, be recovered with fees and charges, rather than with taxes or similar revenues.

¢ The pricing policies of the activity establish fees and charges designed to recover its costs,
including capital costs.
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Exhibit 3: Governmental funds balance sheet

City of Anywhere
Governmental Funds

Balance Sheet June 30, 20XX

Nonmajor Total
Capital Governmental Governmental
General  Projects Funds Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  $xx,xxx $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX
Investments XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Receivables
Real estate taxes XX, XXX - - - XX, XXX
Federal, state, and XX, XXX XX, XXX - - XX, XXX
other aid
Taxes other than real XX, XXX - - XX, XXX XX, XXX
estate
Other XX, XXX — — — XX, XXX
Due from other funds XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Due from component XX, XXX XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX, XXX
units
Restricted cash and - XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX, XXX
investments
Total assets $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX
Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX
accrued liabilities
Bond anticipation notes - - - XX, XXX XX, XXX
payable
Accrued tax refunds:
Real estate taxes XX, XXX - - - XX, XXX
Other XX, XXX — — — XX, XXX
Accrued judgments and XX, XXX XX, XXX - - XX, XXX
claims
Deferred revenues:
Prepaid real estate XX, XXX - - - XX, XXX
taxes
Uncollected real XX, XXX - - - XX, XXX
estate taxes
Taxes other than XX, XXX — — XX, XXX XX, XXX
real estate
Other XX, XXX XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX, XXX
Due to other funds XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Due to component units XX, XXX - - - XX, XXX
Total liabilities XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
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Fund Balances
Reserved for:

Debt service - - XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX

Noncurrent mortgage — — — XX, XXX XX, XXX
loans

Unreserved reported in:

General fund XX, XXX - - - XX, XXX

Capital Projects Fund - XX, XXX - - XX, XXX

Nonmajor funds - - - XX, XXX XX, XXX

Total fund balances XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
(deficit)

Total liabilities and $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX

fund balances

The reconciliation of the fund balances of governmental funds to the net position of governmental activities in the
statement of net position is presented in an accompanying schedule.

Governmental Fund Balance Reporting under GASBS 54

GASBS 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Definitions, changed the
way in which governmental funds report their fund balance. Total fund balance is still the
residual between a fund’s assets and liabilities. What changed is how the components of that
total fund balance are displayed. Basically, fund balance is classified into these categories, as
applicable:

¢ Nonspendable fund balance.
e Restricted fund balance.

e Committed fund balance.

e Assigned fund balance.

¢ Unassigned fund balance.

As might be gleaned from the above list, the classification hierarchy is based on the extent to
which the government is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in
those funds can be spent.

The following pages describe the definition of these classifications as promulgated by
GASBS 54, certain specific accounting treatments relating to stabilization agreements, and
disclosure requirements.

Nonspendable Fund Balance

GASBS 54 provides that the nonspendable fund balance classification includes amounts that
cannot be spent because they are either:

1. Not in spendable form; or
2. Legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

The “not in spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to be converted to
cash, for example, inventories and prepaid amounts. (In existing GAAP, these amounts were
usually reported as “reserved.”)

This category also includes the long-term amount of loans and notes receivable, as well as
property acquired for resale. However, if the use of the proceeds from the collection of those
receivables or from the sale of those properties is restricted, committed, or assigned, then they
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should be included in the appropriate fund balance classification (restricted, committed, or
assigned), rather than nonspendable fund balance.

The corpus (or principal) of a permanent fund is an example of an amount that is legally or
contractually required to be maintained intact. Permanent funds are used to account for and report
resources that are restricted to the extent that only earnings, and not principal, may be used for
purposes that support the government’s programs (i.e., for the benefit of the government and its
citizenry). For readers familiar with not-for-profit accounting, the equivalent concept in that
financial reporting model is referred to as permanently restricted net assets or, the more common
terminology, an endowment fund.

NOTE: One slight difference in reporting restricted net position on the government-wide financial statements
and restricted fund balance under GASBS 54 relates to nonspendable resources. In the government-wide
statements, resources that are required to be retained in perpetuity are reported as a subcategory of
restricted net position. In the fund financial statements under GASBS 54, such nonspendable resources are
reported in their own classification—nonspendable resources.

Restricted Fund Balance

Amounts that are restricted to specific purposes, pursuant to the definition of “restricted” in
GASBS 34 and 46 (as described previously in this chapter) should be reported as restricted fund
balance, with the slight exception of the matter described in the Note above. Accordingly, under
GASBS 54, fund balance should be reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of
resources are either

1. Externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors,
or laws or regulations of other governments; or
2. Imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Enabling legislation, as the term is used in GASBS 54, authorizes the government to assess,
levy, charge, or otherwise mandate payment of resources (from external resource providers) and
includes a legally enforceable requirement that those resources be used only for the specific
purposes stipulated in the legislation. Legal enforceability means that a government can be
compelled by an external party—such as citizens, public interest groups, or the judiciary—to use
resources created by enabling legislation only for the purposes specified by the legislation.

Committed Fund Balance

The concepts of nonspendable and restricted described above are readily understandable and
have precedents in existing GAAP. Accordingly, their implementation should not result in
significant implementation difficulties. However, the concepts of committed and assigned fund
balances (discussed in this and the following section) are new, so implementation of GASBS 54
for these classifications may be a bit more challenging.

GASBS 54 provides that amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to
constraints imposed by formal action of the government’s highest level of decision-making
authority should be reported as committed fund balance. Those committed amounts cannot be
used for any other purpose unless the government removes or changes the specified use by taking
the same type of action (for example, legislation, resolution, ordinance) it employed to previously
commit those amounts. The authorization specifying the purposes for which amounts can be used
should have the consent of both the legislative and executive branches of the government, if
applicable. Committed fund balance also should incorporate contractual obligations to the extent
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that existing resources in the fund have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those
contractual requirements.

NOTE: The language used in GASBS 54 for committed fund balance may seem vague as it does not specify
what specific formal action of the decision-making body would result in committed resources (i.e.,
resolution, ordinance, etc.). As a practical matter, governments operate very differently from each other
and different powers may be indicated by different types of actions. Committed fund balance represents
resources that are subject to a self-imposed constraint at a level high enough to represent the consensus
objective of the governing body as a whole, meaning they come from the highest level of decision-making
authority.

In contrast to fund balance that is restricted by enabling legislation, as discussed above,
GASBS 54 states that amounts in the committed fund balance classification may be redeployed for
other purposes with appropriate due process. Constraints imposed on the use of committed
amounts are imposed by the government, separate from the authorization to raise the underlying
revenue. Therefore, compliance with constraints imposed by the government that commit amounts
to specific purposes is not considered to be legally enforceable.

GASBS 54 also provides that the formal action of the government’s highest level of decision-
making authority that commits fund balance to a specific purpose should occur prior to the end of
the reporting period, but the amount, if any, which will be subject to the constraint, may be
determined in the subsequent period.

Assigned Fund Balance

GASBS 54 provides that amounts that are constrained by the government’s intent to be used
for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed, should be reported as assigned fund
balance, except for stabilization arrangements, as discussed below. GASBS 54 states that intent
should be expressed by (1) the governing body itself or (2) a body (a budget or finance committee,
for example) or official to which the governing body has delegated the authority to assign amounts
to be used for specific purposes.

In other words, assigned fund balance represents resources where the constraint is less
binding than that for committed resources, but not so available to the government that they would
be considered unassigned.

Both the committed and assigned fund balance classifications include amounts that have
been constrained to being used for specific purposes by actions taken by the government itself.
However, the authority for making an assignment is not required to be the government’s highest
level of decision-making authority. Furthermore, the nature of the actions necessary to remove
or modify an assignment are not as difficult to accomplish as they are for the committed fund
balance classification. GASBS 54 notes that some governments may not have both committed
and assigned fund balances, as not all governments have multiple levels of decision-making
authority.

Applying the logic of the four classifications described above, GASBS notes that assigned
fund balance includes

1. All remaining amounts (except for negative balances) that are reported in governmental
funds, other than the general fund, that are not classified as nonspendable and are neither
restricted nor committed; and

2. Amounts in the general fund that are intended to be used for a specific purpose in
accordance with the definition of assigned fund balance discussed above.
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Why is item 1 always true? By reporting particular amounts that are not restricted or
committed in a special revenue, capital projects, debt service, or permanent fund, the government
has effectively assigned those amounts to the purposes of the respective funds. By reporting
resources in a governmental fund other than the general fund, the government is at least assigning
those resources to the purposes for which those funds exist.

GASBS 54 does provide, however, that governments should not report an assignment for an
amount to a specific purpose if the assignment would result in a deficit in unassigned fund balance. It
also notes that an appropriation of existing fund balance to eliminate a projected budgetary deficit in
the subsequent year’s budget in an amount no greater than the projected excess of expected
expenditures over expected revenues satisfies the criteria to be classified as an assignment of fund
balance. However, again, assignments should not cause a deficit in unassigned fund balance to occur.

Unassigned Fund Balance

Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund. This classification
represents fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds and that has not been restricted,
committed, or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund. The general fund should be
the only fund that reports a positive unassigned fund balance amount.

GASBS 54 provides, however, that in other governmental funds, if expenditures incurred for
specific purposes exceeded the amounts restricted, committed, or assigned to those purposes, it
may be necessary to report a negative unassigned fund balance, as discussed below.

Fund Balance Classifications

Sometimes, a government has expenditures for purposes for which both restricted and
unrestricted (including committed, assigned and unassigned) resources exist. Which resources
should the government consider to have been expended first? The government may adopt an
accounting policy that states which resources it considers to have been spent in this case. In addition,
the government may adopt an accounting policy which states which unrestricted classification of
resources is considered to have been spent in a similar case where more than one classification
of unrestricted resources is available. GASBS 54 permits the adoption and consistent application of
these policies. If a government does not establish a policy for its use of unrestricted fund balance
amounts, it should consider that committed amounts would be reduced first, followed by
assigned amounts, and then unassigned amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes
for which amounts in any of those unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

GASBS 54 notes that in a governmental fund other than the general fund, expenditures
incurred for a specific purpose might exceed the amounts in the fund that are restricted, committed,
and assigned to that purpose and a negative residual balance for that purpose may result. If that
occurs, amounts assigned to other purposes in that fund should be reduced to eliminate the deficit.
If the remaining deficit eliminates all other assigned amounts in the fund, or if there are no amounts
assigned to other purposes, the negative residual amount should be classified as unassigned fund
balance. In the general fund, a similar negative residual amount would have been eliminated by
reducing unassigned fund balance pursuant to the policy described above. A negative residual
amount should not be reported for restricted, committed, or assigned fund balances in any fund.

Stabilization Agreements

GASBS 54 has special requirements pertaining to stabilization agreements. These types of
agreements sometimes are referred to as “rainy day funds” as they are meant to set aside resources
in favorable times to provide resources in times that are less favorable.
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GASBS 54’s requirements relate to those agreements which are formal arrangements for
amounts that are subject to controls that dictate the circumstances under which they can be spent.
Many governments have formal arrangements to maintain amounts for budget or revenue
stabilization, working capital needs, contingencies or emergencies, and other similarly titled
purposes. The authority to set aside those amounts generally comes from statute, ordinance,
resolution, charter, or constitution. Stabilization amounts may be expended only when certain
specific circumstances exist. The formal action that imposes the parameters for spending should
identify and describe the specific circumstances under which a need for stabilization arises. Those
circumstances should be such that they would not be expected to occur routinely.

GASBS 54 provides the example of a stabilization amount that can be accessed “in an
emergency” as not qualifying to be classified within the committed category because the
circumstances or conditions that constitute an emergency are not sufficiently detailed, and it
is not unlikely that an “emergency” of some nature would routinely occur. In addition, GASBS 54
provides that a stabilization amount that can be accessed to offset an “anticipated revenue
shortfall” would not qualify unless the shortfall was quantified and was of a magnitude that would
distinguish it from other revenue shortfalls that occur during the normal course of governmental
operations.

For the purposes of reporting fund balance, GASBS 54 considers stabilization a specific
purpose, as discussed above. Stabilization amounts should be reported in the general fund as
restricted or committed if they meet the criteria for those classifications, based on the source of the
constraint on their use. Stabilization arrangements that do not meet the criteria to be reported
within the restricted or committed fund balance classifications should be reported as unassigned in
the general fund. Further, a stabilization arrangement would satisfy the criteria to be reported as a
separate special revenue fund only if the resources derive from a specific restricted or committed
revenue source.

Fund Balance Display on the Balance Sheet

GASBS 54 provides that amounts for the two components of nonspendable fund balance—
(1) not in spendable form and (2) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact—may be
presented separately, or nonspendable fund balance may be presented in the aggregate. Restricted
fund balance may be displayed in a manner that distinguishes between the major restricted
purposes, or it may be displayed in the aggregate. Similarly, specific purposes information for
committed and assigned fund balances may be displayed in sufficient detail so that the major
commitments and assignments are evident to the financial statement user, or each classification
may be displayed in the aggregate. Where aggregate disclosures are displayed, note disclosure of
details will be required as described in the disclosure section below.

Disclosures

GASBS 54 requires governments to disclose the following about their fund balance
classification policies and procedures in the notes to the financial statements:

1. For committed fund balance: (1) the government’s highest level of decision-making
authority and (2) the formal action that is required to be taken to establish (and modify or
rescind) a fund balance commitment.

2. For assigned fund balance: (1) the body or official authorized to assign amounts to a
specific purpose and (2) the policy established by the governing body pursuant to which
that authorization is given.
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3. For the classification of fund balances:

a. Whether the government considers restricted or unrestricted amounts to have been
spent when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and
unrestricted fund balance is available; and

b. Whether committed, assigned, or unassigned amounts are considered to have been
spent when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of those
unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

The following additional disclosures are also required, where applicable:

1.

For governments that use encumbrance accounting, significant encumbrances should be
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements by major funds and nonmajor funds in the
aggregate in conjunction with required disclosures about other significant commitments.
Encumbered amounts for specific purposes for which resources already have been
restricted, committed, or assigned should not result in separate display of the encumbered
amounts within those classifications. Encumbered amounts for specific purposes for
which amounts have not been previously restricted, committed, or assigned should not be
classified as unassigned, but rather, should be included within committed or assigned fund
balance, as appropriate, based on the definitions and criteria described above.

If nonspendable fund balance is displayed in the aggregate on the face of the balance sheet,
amounts for the two nonspendable components should be disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. If restricted, committed, or assigned fund balances are displayed in
the aggregate, specific purposes information, as required in paragraph 22, should be
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Governments may display the specific
purpose details for some classifications on the face of the balance sheet and disclose the
details for other classifications in the notes to the financial statements.

For stabilization agreements, even if an arrangement does not meet the criteria to be
classified as restricted or committed, the following information should be disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements:

a. The authority for establishing stabilization arrangements (for example, by statute or
ordinance).

b. The requirements for additions to the stabilization amount.

c. The conditions under which stabilization amounts may be spent.

d. The stabilization balance, if not apparent on the face of the financial statements.

If a governing body has formally adopted a minimum fund balance policy (for example, in
lieu of separately setting aside stabilization amounts), the government should describe in
the notes to its financial statements the policy established by the government that sets forth
the minimum amount.
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Exhibit 4: Government funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

City of Anywhere
Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 20XX

Nonmajor Total
Capital Debt Governmental Governmental
General  Projects  Service Funds Funds
Revenues
Real estate taxes $xx,xxx $ - $ — $ — $XX, XXX
Sales and use taxes XX, XXX - - - XX, XXX
Other taxes XX, XXX - - - XX, XXX
Federal, state, and other XX, XXX XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX, XXX
categorical aid
Unrestricted federal and XX, XXX - - - XX, XXX
state aid
Charges for services XX, XXX — - - XX, XXX
Investment income XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Other revenues XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total revenues XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Expenditures
Current operations:
General government XX, XXX XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX, XXX
Public safety and judicial XX, XXX XX, XXX - - XX, XXX
Education XX,XXX XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX, XXX
Social services XX, XXX XX, XXX - - XX, XXX
Environmental XX, XXX XX, XXX - - XX, XXX
protection
Transportation services XX, XXX XX, XXX - - XX, XXX
Parks, recreational, and XX, XXX XX, XXX - — XX, XXX
cultural activities
Housing XX, XXX XX, XXX - - XX, XXX
Health (including XX, XXX XX, XXX - — XX, XXX
payments to HHC)
Pensions XX, XXX - - - XX, XXX
Debt service:
Interest - - XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Redemptions - - XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total expenditures XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Excess (deficiency) or XX, XXX (XX,XxXX)  (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)

revenues over expenditures
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Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers from (to) general - - XX, XXX (XX,XXX) XX, XXX
fund

Proceeds from sale of bonds - XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX, XXX

Capitalized leases - XX, XXX - - XX,XXX

Transfer from capital - - - (XX,XXX) -
projects fund

Transfer to debt service (XX,XXX) - - - (XX,XXX)
fund

Transfer to component units (XX,XXX) - - - (XX,XXX)
for debt service

Transfers to nonmajor debt - - - (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
service fund

Total other financing (XX,XXX) XX, XXX XX, XXX (XX,XXX) XX, XXX
sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)

Fund Balances at XX,XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Beginning of Year

Fund Balances at $xx,xxx  $xX,xXXx  $XX,XXX $(xx,XxX) $(xx,xxX)
End of Year

The reconciliation of the change in fund balances of governmental funds to the change in net position of
governmental activities in the statement of net position is presented in an accompanying schedule.

Exhibit 5: Proprietary funds classified statement of net position

City of Anywhere
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds June 30, 20XX

Enterprise Funds

Water and Electric Internal Service
Sewer Utility Total Funds
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX
Investments - - - XX, XXX
Receivables, net XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Due from other governments XX, XXX - XX, XXX —
Inventories XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total current assets XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - XX, XXX XX, XXX -
Capital assets:
Land and improvements XX, XXX XX,XXX XX, XXX —
Construction in progress XX, XXX - XX, XXX -
Distribution and collection XX, XXX - XX, XXX -
systems

Buildings and equipment XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
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Less accumulated depreciation (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
Total noncurrent assets XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total assets XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Due to other funds XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX, XXX
Compensated absences XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Claims and judgments - - - XX, XXX
Bonds, notes, and loans XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
payable
Total current liabilities XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences XX, XXX XX, XXX XX,XXX -
Claims and judgments XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Bonds, notes, and loans payable XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX —
Total noncurrent liabilities XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total liabilities XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Net Position
Invested in capital assets, net of XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
related debt
Restricted for debt service - XX, XXX XX, XXX -
Unrestricted XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total net position $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX, XXX

Exhibit 6: Proprietary funds statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position

City of Anywhere
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and
Changes in Fund Net Position Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 20XX

Enterprise Funds

Water and Electric Internal Service
Sewer Utility Total Funds
Operating Revenues
Charges for services $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $xX, XXX $XX, XXX
Miscellaneous - XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Total operating revenues XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Operating Expenses
Personal services XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Contractual services XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Utilities XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Repairs and maintenance XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Other supplies and expenses XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Insurance claims and expenses - - - XX, XXX

Depreciation XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
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Total operating expenses XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Operating income (loss) XX, XXX (XX,XXX) XX, XXX (XX,XXX)
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Interest and investment revenue XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Miscellaneous revenue - XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Interest expense (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
Miscellaneous expense - (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
Total nonoperating revenue (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
(expenses)
Income (loss) before XX, XXX (XX,XXX) XX, XXX (XX,XXX)
contributions and transfers
Capital contributions XX, XXX - XX, XXX XX, XXX
Transfers in — - — XX, XXX
Transfers out (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
Change in net position XX, XXX (XX,XXX) XX, XXX (XX,XXX)
Total net position—beginning XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX,XXX
Total net position—ending $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX,XXX $XX, XXX
Exhibit 7: Proprietary funds statement of cash flows
City of Anywhere
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 20XX
Enterprise Funds
Internal
Water and  Electric Service
Sewer Utility Total Funds
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers $XX, XXX $xXX, XXX $XX,XXX $XX, XXX
Payments to suppliers (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)  (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
Payments to employees (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)  (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
Internal activity—payments to other funds (XX,XXX) - (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
Claims paid - - - (XX,XXX)
Other receipts (payments) (XX,XXX) - (XX,XXX) XX, XXX
Net cash provided by operating activities XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing
Activities
Operating subsidies and transfers to other (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)  (XX,XXX) XX, XXX
funds
Cash Flows from Capital and Related
Financing Activities
Proceeds from capital debt XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX -
Capital contributions XX, XXX - XX, XXX -
Purchases of capital assets (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)  (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
Principal paid on capital debt (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)  (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
Interest paid on capital debt (XX,XXX) (XX,XxX)  (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
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Other receipts (payments) - XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Net cash (used) by capital and related (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)  (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
financing activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from sales of investments - - - XX, XXX
Interest and dividends XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Net cash provided by investing activities XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)  (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
Balances—beginning of the year XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Balances—end of the year $XX, XXX $XX, XXX $XX,XXX $XX, XXX
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating income (loss) $XX, XXX $(xx,xxx)  $xX,XXX $(xx,XXX)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation expense XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Change in assets and liabilities:
Receivables, net XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX XX, XXX
Inventories XX, XXX — XX, XXX XX, XXX
Accounts and other payables (XX,XXX) (XX,XxXX)  (XX,XXX) XX, XXX
Accrued expenses (XX,XXX) XX, XXX  (XX,XXX) (XX,XXX)
Net cash provided by operating activities $xx,xxX $xx,xxx  $xx,XxXX $xx, XXX
Noncash capital financing activities:
Capital assets of $xx,xxx were acquired
through contributions from developers.
Exhibit 8: Statement of fiduciary net position
City of Anywhere
Fiduciary Funds
Statement of Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 20XX
(in thousands)
Pension and Other Employee
Benefit Trust Funds Agency Fund
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $XX, XXX $XX, XXX
Receivables:
Receivable for investment securities sold XX, XXX -
Accrued interest and dividend receivable XX, XXX -
Investments:
Other short-term investments XX, XXX -
Debt securities XX, XXX XX, XXX
Equity securities XX, XXX -
Guaranteed investment contracts XX, XXX -
Mutual funds XX, XXX -
Collateral from securities lending transactions XX, XXX -

Due from other funds XX, XXX
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Other XX, XXX
Total assets XX, XXX
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities XX, XXX
Payable for investment securities purchased XX, XXX
Accrued benefits payable XX, XXX
Due to other funds XX, XXX
Securities lending transactions XX, XXX
Other XX, XXX
Total liabilities XX, XXX
Net position
Held in trust for benefit payments $xx,xxX

XX, XXX
XX, XXX

XX, XXX

XX, XXX
XX, XXX

Exhibit 9: Fiduciary funds statement of changes in fiduciary net position

City of Anywhere
Fiduciary Funds

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

For the Year Ended June 30, 20XX

Pension and Other

Employee Benefit
Trust Funds
Additions
Contributions:
Member contributions $XX, XXX
Employer contributions XX, XXX
Total contributions XX, XXX
Investment income:
Interest income XX, XXX
Dividend income XX, XXX
Net depreciation in fair value of investments (XX,XXX)
Less investment expenses XX, XXX
Investment loss, net (XX,XXX)
Payments from other funds XX, XXX
Other XX,XXX
Total additions (XX,XXX)
Deductions
Benefit payments and withdrawals XX, XXX
Payments to other funds XX, XXX
Administrative expenses XX, XXX
Total deductions XX, XXX
Decrease in plan net position (XX,XXX)
Net position
Held in trust for benefit payments
Beginning of year XX, XXX
End of year $xx,xxx
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Exhibit 10: Reconciliation of the fund balances of governmental funds to the net position of
governmental activities
City of Anywhere
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 20XX
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are
different because:
Total fund balances—governmental funds $(xx,XxX)
Inventories recorded in the statement of net position are recorded as expenditures in the XX, XXX
governmental funds
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore XX, XXX
are not reported in the funds
Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period expenditures and XX, XXX
therefore are deferred in the funds
Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and accordingly are
not reported in the funds:
Bonds and notes payable (XX,XXX)
Accrued interest payable (XX,XXX)
Other long-term liabilities (XX,XXX)
Net position (deficit) of governmental activities $(xx,xxX)

Exhibit 11: Reconciliation of the net change in governmental fund balances with the change in
net position of governmental activities

City of Anywhere

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in

Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 20XX

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
are different because:

Net change in fund balances—total governmental funds

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the
amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current period.

Purchases of fixed assets

Depreciation expense

The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets
and other (i.e., sales, trade-ins, and donations) is to decrease net position

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases) provides current financial
resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of
long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental
funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net position. Also,
governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts,
and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are

$XX, XXX
(XX,XXX)

$(xx,XXX)

XX, XXX
(XX,XXX)
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deferred and amortized in the statement of activities. This amount is
the net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and
related items.

Proceeds from sales of bonds (XX,XXX)

Principal payments of bonds XX, XXX
Other (XX,XxXX)  (XX,XXX)
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of (XX,XXX)

current financial resource and therefore are not reported as expenditures in
governmental funds

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial (XX,XXX)
resources are not reported as revenues in the funds
Change in net position—governmental activities $(xx,xxx)

Budgetary Comparison Schedules

GASBS 34 requires that certain budgetary comparison schedules be presented in required
supplementary information (RSI). This information is required only for the general fund and each
major special revenue fund that has a legally adopted annual budget. Governments may elect to
report the budgetary comparison information in a budgetary comparison statement as part of the
basic financial statements, rather than as RSI.

The budgetary comparison schedules must include the originally adopted budget, as well as
the final budget. The government is given certain flexibility in the format in which this information
is present. For example, the comparisons may be made in a format that resembles the budget
document instead of being made in a way that resembles the financial statement presentation. Of
important note, the actual information presented is to be presented on the budgetary basis of
accounting, which for many governments differs from GAAP. Regardless of the format used, the
financial results reported in the budgetary comparison schedules must be reconciled to GAAP-
based fund financial statements.

The GASB issued Budgetary Comparison Schedules—Perspective Differences (GASBS
41) to address the issue of governments which have significant budgetary perspective
differences that result in their not being able to present budgetary comparison information
for their general fund and major special revenue funds. This new statement does not address
instances where there are minor budgetary fund structures that have minor perspective
differences from their fund structure used for reporting under GAAP. These differences are
usually readily handled in the required reconciliation between the budgetary perspective and
the GAAP perspective. GASBS 41 addresses situations where there are significant perspective
differences where budgetary structures prevent governments from associating their estimated
revenues and appropriations from their legally adopted budget to the major revenue sources
and functional expenditures that are reported in the general fund and major special revenue
funds.

GASBS 41 requires that governments with significant budgetary perspective differences that
result in a government’s not being able to present budgetary comparisons for the general fund and
major special revenue funds present budgetary comparison schedules based on the fund,
organization, or program structure that the government uses for its legally adopted budget.
This comparison schedule must be presented as part of required supplementary information (RSI).

GASBS 41 essentially has two main points. First, if there are significant perspective
differences between the budgetary perspective and the GAAP perspective, governments are still
required to present budgetary comparison information for the general fund and major special
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revenue funds. The comparison should be presented in accordance with the format in which the
budget is legally adopted. Second, where such perspective differences exist, governments do not
have the option to present the budgetary comparison schedule as part of the basic financial
statements. It must be presented as part of RSI.

Notes and Other Disclosures

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
Because the basic financial statements and required supplemental information must be “liftable”
from the CAFR (i.e., have the ability to function as freestanding financial statements), the notes to
the financial statements should always be considered to be part of the “liftable” basic financial
statements.

This section provides an overview of certain required disclosures in the notes and the various
areas that the financial statement preparer should consider for disclosure in the notes. Almost
every new accounting pronouncement issued by the GASB, however, contains some additional
disclosures that must be included in the notes. Therefore, to use this book to properly prepare notes
for a state or local government, the reader should consider the following broad outline of the
financial statement notes described below, review each chapter that addresses specific unique
accounting and financial reporting guidance on required disclosures, and consider the “Disclosure
Checklist” included in this guide.

The notes to the financial statements are essential to the fair presentation of the financial
position, results of operations, and, where applicable, cash flows. Notes considered to be essential
to the fair presentation of the financial statements contained in the basic financial statements
include individual discretely presented component units, considering the particular component
unit’s significance to all discretely presented component units, and the nature and significance of
the individual unit’s relationship to the primary government. The notes prepared under the new
financial reporting model should focus on the primary government, which includes blended
component units.

Determining which discretely presented component unit financial statements should be
included in the notes to the financial statements requires that the financial statement preparer
exercise professional judgment. These judgments should be made on a case-by-case basis. Certain
disclosures that may be required and appropriate for one component unit may not be required for
another. As stated above, these considerations should be made based on the relative significance of
a particular discretely presented component unit to all of the discretely presented component units
and the significance of the individual discretely presented component unit to the primary
government.

The GASB issued GASBS 38 as a result of its project to review financial statement note
disclosures. A need to reevaluate note disclosures in the context of the new financial reporting
model established by GASBS 34 provided the impetus for the GASB to issue this statement before
most governments begin implementing the new financial reporting model.

The GASB reevaluated note disclosures that have been in existence since 1994 and
not under reevaluation under some other project. As a result of this evaluation, several new
note disclosures have been added, while relief from previous disclosure requirements was
rare. While the effect of the potential changes will vary from government to government, it
appears that disclosures relating to interfund balances and transfers appear to be the most
significant.

The Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards published
by the GASB (GASB Codification) identifies the more common note disclosures required of state
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and local governments. The broad categories of notes that would normally be included in the
financial statements of a state or local government would include the following:

Summary of significant accounting policies, including:

A description of the government-wide financial statements, noting that neither
fiduciary funds nor component units that are fiduciary in nature are included.

The measurement focus and basis of accounting used in the government-wide
statements.

The policy for eliminating internal activity in the statement of activities.

The policy for capitalizing assets and for estimating the useful lives of those assets
(used to calculate depreciation expense).

Governments that choose to use the modified approach for reporting eligible infra-
structure assets should describe that approach.

A description of the types of transactions included in program revenues and the policy
for allocating indirect expenses to functions in the statement of activities.

The government’s policy for defining operating and nonoperating revenues of
proprietary funds.

The government’s fund balance classification policies and procedures.

The government’s policy regarding whether to first apply restricted or unrestricted
resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and
unrestricted net position are available.

Descriptions of the activities accounted for in each of the following columns (major
funds, internal service funds and fiduciary fund types) presented in the financial
statements.

A brief description of the component units of the overall governmental reporting entity
and the units’ relationships to the primary government. This should include a
discussion of the criteria for including component units in the financial reporting
entity and how the component units are reported. (The determination of the reporting
entity is more fully described in Chapter 11.) The notes should also indicate how the
separate financial statements of the component units may be obtained.

Revenue recognition policies.

The period of availability used for revenue recognition in governmental fund financial
statements.

Policy on capitalization of interest costs on fixed assets.

Definition of cash and cash equivalents used in the statement of cash flows for
proprietary and nonexpendable trust funds.

Cash deposits with financial institutions.

Investments.

Significant contingent liabilities.

Significant effects of subsequent events.

Pension plan and OPEB costs and obligations.

Significant violations of finance-related legal and contractual requirements and actions to
address these violations.

Debt service requirements to maturity, as follows:

Principal and interest requirements to maturity, presented separately for each of the five
succeeding fiscal years and in five-year increments thereafter. Interest requirements for
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variable-rate debt should be made using the interest rate in effect at the financial
statement date.

e The terms by which interest rates change for variable-rate debt.

¢ For capital and noncancelable operating leases, the future minimum payments for each
of the five succeeding fiscal years and in five-year increments thereafter should be
disclosed.

e Details of short-term debt should be disclosed, even if no short-term debt exists at the
financial statement date. Short-term debt results from borrowings characterized by
anticipation notes, uses of lines of credit, and similar loans. A schedule of changes in
short-term debt, disclosing beginning- and end-of-year balances, increases, decreases,
and the purpose for which short-term debt was issued.

Commitments under noncapitalized (operating) leases.
Construction and other significant commitments:

¢ Required disclosures about capital assets.

¢ Required disclosures about long-term liabilities.

¢ Required disclosures about leases.

¢ Interfund balances and transfers.

¢ For each major component unit, the nature and amount of significant transactions with
other discretely presented component units.

¢ Disclosures about donor-restricted endowments.

Any excess of expenditures over appropriations in individual funds.

Deficit fund balances or net position of individual funds.

Balances of receivables and payables reported on the statement of net position and balance
sheet may be aggregations of different components, such as balances due to or from
taxpayers, other governments, vendors, beneficiaries, employees, etc. When the aggrega-
tion of balances on the statement of net position obscures the nature of significant
individual accounts, the governments should provide details in the notes to the financial
statements. Significant receivable balances not expected to be collected within one year of
the date of the financial statements should be disclosed.

For interfund balances reported in the fund financial statements, disclose the following:

¢ Identification of amounts due from other funds by individual major fund, nonmajor
funds in the aggregate, internal service funds in the aggregate, and fiduciary fund type.

e A description of the purpose for interfund balances.

¢ Interfund balances that are not expected to be repaid within one year from the date of
the financial statements.

For interfund transfers reported in the fund financial statements, disclose the following:

¢ Identification of the amounts transferred from other funds by individual major fund,
nonmajor funds in the aggregate, internal service funds in the aggregate and fiduciary
fund type.

A general description of the principal purposes for interfund transfers.
A general description and the amount of significant transfers that:

e Are not expected to occur on a routine basis; and/or
e Are inconsistent with the activities of the fund making the transfer—for example, a
transfer from a capital projects fund to the general fund.
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The GASB Codification identifies the following additional disclosures that may apply to state
and local governments:

Entity risk management activities.

Property taxes.

Segment information for enterprise funds.

Condensed financial statements for major discretely presented component units.
Differences between the budget basis of accounting and GAAP not otherwise reconciled
in the basic financial statements.

Short-term debt instruments and liquidity.

Related-party transactions.

The nature of the primary government’s accountability for related organizations.
Capital leases.

Joint ventures and jointly governed organizations.

Debt extinguishments and troubled debt restructurings.

Nonexchange transactions, including grants, taxes, and contributions, that are not recognized
because they are not measurable.

Fund balance classification details.

Interfund eliminations in the combined financial statements that are not apparent from
financial statement headings.

Pension plans in both separately issued plan financial statements and employer statements.
Postemployment benefit plans other than pensions—both in separately issued plan
financial statements and employer statements.

Bond, tax, or revenue anticipation notes excluded from fund or current liabilities.
Nature and amount of any inconsistencies in the financial statements caused by transac-
tions between component units having different fiscal year-ends or changes in component
unit year-ends.

In component unit separate reports, identification of the primary government in whose
financial report the component unit is included and a description of its relationship to the
primary government.

Deferred compensation plans.

Reverse repurchase and dollar reverse repurchase agreements.

Securities lending transactions.

Special assessment debt and related activities.

Demand bonds.

Landfill closure and postclosure care.

Pollution remediation obligations.

On-behalf payments to fringe benefits and salaries.

Entity involvement in conduit debt obligations.

Sponsoring government disclosures about external investment pools reported as invest-
ment trust funds.

The amount of interest expense included in direct expenses in the government-wide
statement of activities.

Significant transactions or other events that are either unusual or infrequent but not within
the control of management.

Nature of individual elements of a particular reconciling item, if obscured in the
aggregated information in the summary reconciliation of the fund financial statements
to the government-wide statements.
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¢ Discounts and allowances that reduce gross revenues, when not reported on the face of the
financial statements.

¢ Disaggregation of receivable and payable balances.

e Impairment losses, idle impaired capital assets, and insurance recoveries, when not
otherwise apparent from the face of the financial statements.

e The amount of the primary government’s net position at the end of the reporting period
that are restricted by enabling legislation.

e Termination benefits.

e Future revenues that are pledged or sold.

¢ Derivative instruments.

¢ Conditions and events giving rise to substantial doubt about the government’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

e Required disclosures about bankruptcies.

e Stabilization agreements.

e Minimum fund balance policies.

¢ Information about major special revenue funds.

¢ Changes in the manner of or basis for presenting corresponding items for two or more
periods in comparative financial statements.

e Asset valuation allowances.

¢ Short-term obligations.

e Long-term construction-type contracts.

e Effects of prior-period adjustments on the change in net position of prior periods.

e Accounting changes and error corrections.

¢ Investments in common stock.

e Description of receivables and payables that represent contractual rights to receive money
or contractual obligations to pay money on fixed or determinable dates, whether or not
there is any stated provision for interest, including the effective interest rate and face
amount.

e Nonmonetary transactions.

¢ Foreign currency transactions.

e Insurance enterprises.

¢ Lending and mortgage banking activities.

e Retail land sales operations.

e Research and development arrangements.

e Regulated business-type activities.

¢ Information about deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources and the effect on
net position.

¢ Service concession arrangements.

The GASB Codification reiterates that the above list of areas to be considered for note
disclosure is not meant to be all-inclusive, nor is it meant to replace professional judgment in
determining the disclosures necessary for fair presentation in the financial statements. The notes to
the financial statements, on the other hand, should not be cluttered with unnecessary or immaterial
disclosures. The individual circumstances and materiality must be considered in assessing the
propriety of the disclosures in the notes to the financial statements. Notes to the financial
statements provide necessary disclosure of material items, the omission of which would cause the
financial statements to be misleading.
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GASBS 34 requires governments to provide additional information in the notes to the
financial statements about the capital assets and long-term liabilities. The disclosures should
provide information that is divided into the major classes of capital assets and long-term liabilities
as well as those pertaining to governmental activities and those pertaining to business-type
activities. In addition, information about capital assets that are not being depreciated should be
disclosed separately from those that are being depreciated.

Required disclosures about major classes of capital assets include:

e Beginning- and end-of-year balances (regardless of whether beginning-of-year balances
are presented on the face of the government-wide financial statements), with accumulated
depreciation presented separately from historical cost.

e (Capital acquisitions.

e Sales or other dispositions.

¢ Current period depreciation expense, with disclosure of the amounts charged to each of the
functions in the statement of activities.

Required disclosures about long-term liabilities (for both debt and other long-term liabilities
include:

e Beginning- and end-of-year balances (regardless of whether prior year data are presented
on the face of the government-wide financial statements).

¢ Increases and decreases (separately presented).

e The portions of each item that are due within one year of the statement date.

¢ Which governmental funds typically have been used to liquidate other long-term liabilities
(such as compensated absences and pension liabilities) in prior years.

NOTE: Providing required disclosures about increases and decreases to certain long-term liability amounts
can be challenging. The best example of these challenges can be demonstrated using the long-term liability
for compensated absences as an example. Most governments can calculate this liability as of the end of each
fiscal year, using basic assumptions for vesting of sick leave and vacation time to compute the net change in
this liability for a fiscal year. Conceptually, the increase in the compensated absences liability represents all
of the vacation and sick leave time earned by employees that becomes vested during the year. The decrease in
the compensated absences liability represents vested time used by employees, paid to employees who have
left the government, or lost to employees because of other circumstances or employer requirements. Few
governments are likely to have systems in place to capture the increases and decreases in this liability,
particularly in terms of amounts of dollars, rather than number of hours. These governments will need to
devise methodologies to estimate these amounts, focusing on how employees typically accumulate and use
vacation and sick leave time. Sampling individual employees across the government, perhaps using separate
samples for different types of employees, such as civilian and uniformed employees, may provide sufficient
support for estimated amounts of additions and deletions to the long-term compensated absence liability.

The GASBS 34 Implementation Guide notes that for governments reporting a net pension obligation as
a long-term liability, no amount due within one year should be presented for the net pension obligation
liability.

In addition, GASBS 34 requires governments that report enterprise funds or that use
enterprise fund accounting and financial reporting report certain segment information for those
activities in the notes to the financial statements. A segment for these disclosure purposes is
defined as . . . an identifiable activity reported as or within an enterprise fund or another stand-
alone entity for which one or more revenue bonds or other revenue-backed debt instruments (such
as certificates of participation) are outstanding. A segment has a specific identifiable revenue
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stream pledged in support of revenue bonds or other revenue-backed debt, and business-related
expenses, gains and losses, assets, and liabilities that can be identified.” GASBS 34 specifies that
disclosure requirements be met by providing condensed financial statements and other disclosures
as follows in the notes to the financial statements:

1. Type of goods or services provided by the segment.
2. Condensed statement of net position:

a. Total assets—distinguishing between current assets, capital assets, and other assets.
Amounts receivable from other funds or component units should be reported separately.

b. Total liabilities—distinguishing between current and long-term amounts. Amounts
payable to other funds or component units should be reported separately.

c. Total net position—distinguishing among restricted (separately reporting expendable
and nonexpendable components); unrestricted; and amounts invested in capital assets,
net of related debt.

3. Condensed statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position:

a. Operating revenues (by major source).

b. Operating expenses. Depreciation (including any amortization) should be identified
separately.

c. Operating income (loss).

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)—with separate reporting of major revenues and

expenses.

Capital contributions and additions to permanent and term endowments.

Special and extraordinary items.

Transfers.

Change in net position.

Beginning net position.

Ending net position.

&

i R

4. Condensed statement of cash flows:
a. Net cash provided (used) by:

1. Operating activities.

2. Noncapital financing activities.

3. Capital and related financing activities.
4. Investing activities.

b. Beginning cash and cash equivalent balances.
c. Ending cash and cash equivalent balances.

One accounting area of special interest to governments is that of interfund transactions. While the
terminology used to refer to these transactions makes them appear more complicated than they
actually are, the financial statement preparer and auditor must be familiar with the accounting for
these transactions to properly reflect the financial position and results of operations of governmental
entities. In addition, GASBS 34 provides guidance for certain transactions occurring between entities
within the financial reporting entity, and low interfund balances and transactions should be presented.

The following sections describe the nature of and the accounting and reporting requirements
for each of these types of interfund transactions. While this section addresses interfund
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transactions, consideration must also be given to transactions between a primary government and
its component units. Transfers between the primary government and its blended component units
and receivables and payables between the primary government and its blended component units
are reported as described for interfund transactions by this chapter. However, for discretely
presented component units, the amounts of balances and transfers between the primary govern-
ment and its discretely presented component units should be reported separately from interfund
balances and transfers from other funds. In addition, due to and due from amounts between the
same two funds are allowed to be netted when a right of offset exists. Since component units are
legally separate entities, it is not likely that a right of offset will exist for receivables and payables
between one fund and a blended component unit. Care must be taken to ensure that amounts are
not netted for blended component units when there is no right of offset.

New Disclosure Requirements for Tax Abatements

In August 2015 the GASB issued Statement No. 77 (GASBS 77), Tax Abatement Disclosures,
which provides disclosure requirements for certain types of tax abatements. Many governments use
tax abatements, particularly to spur economic development. The GASB believes that the financial
statements should provide information about these tax abatements, particularly the impact on
reducing or limiting tax revenues. GASBS 77 provides a number of disclosure requirements for the
types of tax abatements that are within its scope.

The disclosure requirements of GASBS 77 encompass tax abatements that result from both

a. Agreements that are entered into by the reporting government; and
b. Agreements that are entered into by other governments and that reduce the reporting
government’s tax revenues.

For financial reporting purposes, GASBS 77 defines a tax abatement as:

A reduction in tax revenues that results from an agreement between one or more governments
and an individual or entity in which (a) one or more governments promise to forgo tax revenues to
which they are otherwise entitled and (b) the individual or entity promises to take a specific action
after the agreement has been entered into that contributes to economic development or otherwise
benefits the governments or the citizens of those governments.

In determining whether a particular transaction meets this definition, GASBS 77 provides that
the transaction’s substance, not its form or title, is a key factor in determining whether the
transaction meets the definition of a tax abatement for the purposes of determining whether it is
subject to these disclosure requirements.

NOTE: There are a number of other circumstances where taxes are foregone by a government, but are not
considered tax abatements under GASBS 77. Using real estate taxes as an example, certain types of organizations,
such as not-for-profit organizations or other governmental entities, may be exempt from the tax. Other taxpayers,
such as senior citizens or veterans, may pay a reduced rate. While some might conceptualize that these situations
are a form of “tax abatement,” they are clearly outside the scope of GASBS 77.

GASBS 77 provides the following general principles with regard to tax abatement
disclosures:

a. Disclosures should distinguish between tax abatements resulting from:
1. Agreements that are entered into by the reporting government; and

2. Agreements that are entered into by other governments and that reduce the reporting
government’s tax revenues.
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b. Disclosure information for tax abatements may be provided individually or may be
aggregated.

c. Disclosure information for tax abatements resulting from agreements entered into by the
reporting government (whether presented individually or in the aggregate) should be
organized by each major tax abatement program, such as an economic development
program or a television and film production incentive program.

d. Disclosure information for tax abatements resulting from agreements entered into by other
governments (whether presented individually or in the aggregate) should be organized by the
government that entered into the tax abatement agreement and the specific tax being abated.

e. Disclosure should commence in the period in which a tax abatement agreement is entered into
and continue until the tax abatement agreement expires, except as specified in item d below.

GASBS 77 provides that a government that chooses to disclose information about individual
tax abatement agreements should present individually only those that meet or surpass a
quantitative threshold selected by the government. Those agreements should be presented as
set forth in items c and d above.

The specific disclosure requirements related to tax abatement agreements required by GASBS
77 are as follows:

a. Brief descriptive information, including:

1. Names, if applicable, and purposes of the tax abatement programs.
The specific taxes being abated.

The authority under which tax abatement agreements are entered into.
The criteria that make a recipient eligible to receive a tax abatement.
The mechanism by which the taxes are abated, including:

DA e

a. How the tax abatement recipient’s taxes are reduced, such as through a reduction of
assessed value.

b. How the amount of the tax abatement is determined, such as a specific dollar
amount or a specific percentage of taxes owed.

6. Provisions for recapturing abated taxes, if any, including the conditions under which
abated taxes become eligible for recapture.
7. The types of commitments made by the recipients of the tax abatements.

b. The gross dollar amount, on an accrual basis, by which the government’s tax revenues
were reduced during the reporting period as a result of tax abatement agreements.

c. If amounts are received or are receivable from other governments in association with the
forgone tax revenue:

1. The names of the governments.
2. The authority under which the amounts were or will be paid.
3. The dollar amount received or receivable from other governments.

d. If the government made commitments other than to reduce taxes as part of a tax abatement
agreement, a description of:

1. The types of commitments made.
The most significant individual commitments made. Information about a commitment
other than to reduce taxes should be disclosed until the government has fulfilled the
commitment.
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e. If tax abatement agreements are disclosed individually, a brief description of the
quantitative threshold the government used to determine which agreements to disclose
individually.

f. If a government omits specific information required by this Statement because the
information is legally prohibited from being disclosed, a description of the general
nature of the tax abatement information omitted and the specific source of the legal
prohibition.

As mentioned above, GASBS 77 also applies to tax abatement agreements that are entered
into by other governments and that reduce the reporting government’s tax revenues. In these
circumstances, GASBS 77 requires reporting governments to disclose the following in the notes to
the financial statements:

a. Brief descriptive information, including the names of the governments entering into the
tax abatement agreement and the specific taxes being abated.

b. The gross dollar amount, on an accrual basis, by which the reporting government’s tax
revenues were reduced during the reporting period as a result of tax abatement
agreements.

c. If amounts are received or are receivable from other governments in association with the
forgone tax revenue:

1. The names of the governments.
2. The authority under which the amounts were or will be paid.
3. The dollar amount received or receivable from other governments.

d. If tax abatement agreements are disclosed individually, a brief description of the
quantitative threshold the reporting government used to determine which agreements
to disclose individually.

e. If a government omits specific information required by this statement because the
information is legally prohibited from being disclosed, a description of the general
nature of the tax abatement information omitted and the specific source of the legal
prohibition.

GASBS 77 provides that governments that are legally prohibited from disclosing specific
information that would otherwise be required to be disclosed may omit that information, subject to
the disclosure requirements for these circumstances noted above.

Tax abatement agreements that are entered into by a government’s discretely presented
component units and that reduce the government’s tax revenues should be disclosed as if they
were granted by the reporting government (i.e., the fuller disclosures) if the government
concludes that the information is essential for fair presentation (based on the application of
Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, as amended). Otherwise, such tax abate-
ments should be disclosed as if it were a tax abatement agreement entered into by another
government.

NOTE: The reference to GASBS 14 in the preceding paragraph seems a bit out of place, but is explained
in the Basis for Conclusions of GASBS 77. The example provided is where a government may have
an economic development corporation that is reported as a discretely presented component unit that
enters into a tax abatement agreement that results in the reporting government’s taxes being abated.
The Basis for Conclusions suggests that in these cases, the reduced disclosure requirements for
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circumstances in which the tax abatement agreement is entered into by another government may not be
sufficient and the fuller disclosure requirements may be required for a fair presentation of the financial
statements. Some judgment will be required by the financial statement preparer in making this
determination.

Effective Date

GASBS 77 is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Earlier
application is encouraged. The requirements apply to notes to the financial statements for all
periods presented. If application for prior periods presented is not practical, the reason for not
applying GASBS 77’s requirements to prior periods presented should be disclosed.

Loans

Loans may be the easiest of the interfund transactions to understand and record. Loans
between funds are treated as balance sheet transactions; the borrowing fund reports a liability and
increase in cash, and the loaning fund reports a receivable and a decrease in cash. There is no effect
on the operating statement for loans between funds.

In addition, these loans should be reported as fund assets or liabilities regardless of whether
the loan will be repaid currently or noncurrently. Accordingly, governmental funds should
report all interfund loans in the fund itself, rather than in the government-wide financial
statements. For the funds that record a receivable as a result of an interfund loan, if the
receivable is not considered an expendable available resource, a reservation of fund balance
should be recorded.

Example

Assume that the general fund loans the capital projects fund $10,000 to cover a cash shortage in the
capital projects fund, which will be repaid by the capital projects fund immediately after the end of the
fiscal year. The following journal entries are recorded:

General Fund
Due from capital projects fund 10,000
Cash 10,000

To record a loan to the capital projects fund

Capital Projects Fund
Cash 10,000
Due to general fund 10,000

To record a loan from the general fund

The above example makes clear that the operating statements of the two funds that enter into a
loan transaction are not affected. However, the substance of the transaction should also be
considered. In a loan transaction, there should be an intent to actually repay the amount to the
loaning fund. Without an intent to repay, the transaction might more appropriately be accounted
for as a transfer, which is described more fully later in this chapter.

Reimbursements

A reimbursement is an expenditure or expense that is made in one fund, but is properly
attributable to another fund. Many times, the general fund will pay for goods or services (such as a
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utility bill or rent bill) and is then reimbursed in whole or in part by other funds that benefit from
the purchase. The proper accounting for reimbursements is to record an expenditure (or an
expense) in the reimbursing fund and a reduction of expenditure (or expense) in the fund that is
reimbursed.

Example:

Assume that the general fund pays a telephone bill including telephone calls made by individuals
who work for the government’s water utility, which is accounted for as an enterprise fund of the primary
government. Further assume that of the $5,000 total telephone bill, $1,000 can specifically be identified
as related to the water utility, which will reimburse the general fund for these calls. The following journal
entries are recorded:

General Fund
Expenditures—telephone 5,000
Cash 5,000

To record payment of telephone bill
Due from water utility fund 1,000
Expenditures—telephone 1,000

To record receivable for reimbursement for telephone bill

Alternatively, the receivable could be established at the same time the bill is paid, as follows. (This
is a less likely approach, since determination of the cost allocation for expenditures or expenses usually
takes longer than the time until the bill is paid.)

Expenditures—telephone 4,000
Due from water utility fund 1,000
Cash 5,000

To record payment of telephone bill and reimbursement owed by the water utility fund

Water Utility Fund

The water utility would record the following journal entry to reflect the reimbursement of the
general fund:

Expenses—telephone 1,000
Cash (or due to general fund) 1,000

To record payment (or amount owed) to the general fund to reimburse it for telephone
expenses

INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS—FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GASBS 34 redefined reporting of interfund transactions, which it describes as follows:
Interfund activity within and among the three fund categories (governmental, proprietary, and
fiduciary) should be classified and reported as follows:

a. Reciprocal interfund activity is the internal counterpart to exchange and exchange-like
transactions. It includes:
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1. Interfund loans—amounts provided with a requirement for repayment. Interfund
loans should be reported as interfund receivables in lender funds and interfund
payables in borrower funds. This activity should not be reported as other financing
sources or uses in the fund financial statements. If repayment is not expected within a
reasonable time, the interfund balances should be reduced and the amount that is not
expected to be repaid should be reported as a transfer from the fund that made the loan
to the fund that received the loan.

2. Interfund services provided and used—sales and purchases of goods and services
between funds for a price approximating their external exchange value. Interfund services
provided and used should be reported as revenues in seller funds and expenditures or
expenses in purchaser funds. Unpaid amounts should be reported as interfund receivables
and payables in the fund balance sheets or fund statements of activities.

b. Nonreciprocal interfund activity is the internal counterpart to nonexchange transac-
tions. It includes:

1. Interfund transfers—flows of assets (such as cash or goods) without equivalent
flows of assets in return and without a requirement for repayment. This category
includes payments in lieu of taxes that are not payments for, and are not reasonably
equivalent in value to, services provided. In governmental funds, transfers should be
reported as other financing uses in the funds making transfers and as other financing
sources in the funds receiving transfers. In proprietary funds, transfers should be
reported after nonoperating revenues and expenses.

2. Interfund reimbursements—repayments from the funds responsible for particular
expenditures or expenses to the funds that initially paid for them. Reimbursements
should not be displayed in the financial statements.

INTRA-ENTITY TRANSACTIONS—GOVERNMENT-WIDE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GASBS 34 provides guidance for handling internal balances and transactions when preparing
the government-wide financial statements. The following paragraphs summarize this guidance.

Statement of Net Position

Eliminations should be made in the statement of activities to minimize the grossing-up effect on
assets and liabilities within the governmental and business-type activities columns of the primary
government. Amounts reported as interfund receivables and payables should be eliminated within
the governmental and business-type activities columns of the statement of net position, except for
residual amounts due between the governmental and business-type activities, which should be
presented as internal balances. Amounts reported in the funds as receivable from or payable to
fiduciary funds should be included in the statement of net position as receivable from or payable to
external parties. This is consistent with the nature of fiduciary funds as more external than internal.
All internal balances should be eliminated in the total primary government column.

Statement of Activities

Eliminations should also be made in the statement of activities to remove the doubling-up
effect of internal service fund activity. The effect of similar internal events that are in effect
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allocations of overhead expenses from one function to another or within the same function should
also be eliminated.

The effect of interfund services provided and used between functions should not be
eliminated in the statement of activities because doing so would misstate the expenses of the
purchasing function and the program revenues of the selling function.

Intra-Entity Activity

Resource flows between the primary government and blended component units should be
reclassified as internal activity of the reporting entity and treated as interfund activity is treated.
Resource flows (except those that affect only the balance sheet) between a primary government
and its discretely presented component units should be reported as if they were external
transactions. Amounts payable and receivable between the primary government and its
discretely presented component units or among those component units should be reported
on a separate line.

REPORTING DEFERRED INFLOWS AND OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

GASB issued Statement No. 63 (GASBS 63), Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of
Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position, which describes how deferred
inflows and outflows of resources are reported in a government’s financial statements.

GASB Concepts Statement No. 4 (GASBCS 4), Elements of Financial Statements, defined
deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources separately from assets and liabilities. They
result from transactions that result in the consumption or acquisition of net assets in one period that
are applicable to future periods. Accountants generally refer to the nature of these types of items as
deferred charges or deferred credits; however, this terminology will no longer apply in the realm of
GAAP for governments.

To be considered a “deferred outflow” or “deferred inflow” of resources, the transaction must
be specifically identified as such by a GASB statement. For example, in GASB Statement No. 53,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments, the changes in fair values of
hedging derivative instruments are reported as either deferred inflows or deferred outflows in the
statement of net position. In addition, GASB Statement No. 60, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Service Concession Arrangements, includes instances where accounting for service
concession arrangements results in the recording of deferred inflows and outflows of resources.
However, as described below, the GASB issued Statement No. 65 (GASBS 65) Items Previously
Reported as Assets and Liabilities that defines a number of transactions that previously were
reported as assets and liabilities that will be reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources
(and in some cases, as an expense) when GASBS 65 is implemented.

Display Requirements

GASBS 63 provides that amounts that are required to be reported as deferred outflows of
resources should be reported in a statement of financial position in a separate section following
assets. Similarly, amounts that are required to be reported as deferred inflows of resources should
be reported in a separate section following liabilities. The total for deferred outflows of resources
may be added to the total for assets, and the total for deferred inflows of resources may be added to
the total for liabilities to provide subtotals.
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Statement of Net Position

GASBS 63 replaces the statement of net assets with the statement of net position, which
reports all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net
position. Since what still effectively remains as the government’s “balance sheet” now reports
items other than assets and liabilities, the term net assets is no longer appropriate and has been
replaced with net position. GASBS 63 encourages governments to present the statement of net
position in a format that displays assets, plus deferred outflows of resources, less liabilities, less
deferred inflows of resources, equals net position, although a balance sheet format (assets plus
deferred outflows of resources equals liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources, plus net
position) may be used.

Regardless of the format used, the statement of net position should report the residual amount
as net position, rather than net assets, proprietary or fiduciary fund balance, or equity. Net position
represents the difference between all other elements in a statement of financial position and should
be displayed in three components—net investment in capital assets; restricted (distinguishing
between major categories of restrictions); and unrestricted.

Net Investment in Capital Assets Component of Net Position

The net investment in capital assets component of net position consists of capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of bonds, mortgages, notes, or
other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those
assets. GASBS 63 provides that deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets or related debt
also should be included in this component of net position. If there are significant unspent related
debt proceeds or deferred inflows of resources at the end of the reporting period, the portion of the
debt or deferred inflows of resources attributable to the unspent amount should not be included in
the calculation of net investment in capital assets. Instead, that portion of the debt or deferred
inflows of resources should be included in the same net position component (restricted or
unrestricted) as the unspent amount.

Restricted and Unrestricted Components of Net Position

GASBS 63 provides that the restricted component of net position consists of restricted
assets reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows of resources related to those assets. Generally,
a liability relates to restricted assets if the asset results from a resource flow that also results in
the recognition of a liability or if the liability will be liquidated with the restricted assets
reported.

The unrestricted component of net position is the net amount of the assets, deferred outflows
of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources that are not included in the determination
of net investment in capital assets or the restricted component of net position.

Financial Reporting for Governmental Funds

GASBS 63 provides that deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources that
are required to be reported in a governmental fund balance sheet should be presented in a format
that displays assets plus deferred outflows of resources equals liabilities plus deferred inflows of
resources plus fund balance.
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Disclosures

GASBS 63 notes that balances of deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources reported in a statement of net position or a governmental fund balance sheet may be
aggregations of different types of deferred amounts. Accordingly, GASBS 63 requires that
governments provide details of the different types of deferred amounts in the notes to the financial
statements if significant components of the total deferred amounts are obscured by aggregation.
Disclosure in the notes to the financial statements is required only if the information is not
displayed on the face of the financial statements.

In addition, in some situations, the amount reported for a component of net position (net
investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted) may be significantly affected by a
transaction that has resulted in recognition of a deferred outflow of resources or deferred
inflow of resources. If the difference between a deferred outflow of resources or deferred
inflow of resources and the balance of the related asset or liability is significant, governments
should provide an explanation of that effect on its net position in the notes to the financial
statements.

Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities

In order to identify all of the financial statement items that meet the definition of deferred
inflows and outflows of resources, in March 2012 the GASB issued Statement No. 65 (GASBS 65),
Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. GASBS 65 identifies all of the items previously
reported as assets and liabilities that will need to be reported as deferred outflows and deferred
inflows of resources upon GASBS 65’s effective date.

The following are the items that would be impacted by implementation of GASBS 65.

Refundings of Debt

For current refundings and advance refundings resulting in a defeasance of debt reported by
governmental activities, business-type activities, and proprietary funds, the difference between the
reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of old debt should be reported as a deferred
outflow of resources or a deferred inflow of resources and recognized as a component of interest
expense in a systematic and rational manner over the remaining life of the old debt or the life of the
new debt, whichever is shorter.

Prior to the expiration of the lease term, if a change in the provisions of a lease results from a
refunding by the lessor of tax-exempt debt, including an advance refunding, in which (1) the
perceived economic advantages of the refunding are passed through to the lessee and (2) the
revised agreement is classified as a capital lease by the lessee, then the lessee should adjust
the lease obligation to the present value of the future minimum lease payments under the revised
lease. The adjustment of the lease obligation to present value should be made using the effective
interest rate applicable to the revised agreement. The resulting difference should be reported as a
deferred outflow of resources or a deferred inflow of resources. The deferred outflow of resources
or the deferred inflow of resources should be recognized as a component of interest expense in a
systematic and rational manner over the remaining life of the old debt or the life of the new debt,
whichever is shorter.

Nonexchange Transactions

Imposed nonexchange revenue transactions. Deferred inflows of resources should be
recognized when resources are received or recognized as a receivable before (1) the period for



Chapter 9 / Financial Statements Prepared by Governments 149

which property taxes are levied or (2) the period when resources are required to be used or when
use is first permitted for all other imposed nonexchange revenues in which the enabling legislation
includes time requirements.

Government-mandated nonexchange transactions and voluntary nonexchange trans-
actions. Resources transmitted before the eligibility requirements are met (excluding time
requirements) should be reported as assets by the provider and as liabilities by the recipient.
Resources received or recognized as receivable before time requirements are met, but after all
other eligibility requirements have been met, should be reported as a deferred outflow of resources
by the provider and a deferred inflow of resources by the recipient. GASBS 65 points out that
recognition of assets and revenues should not be delayed pending completion of purely routine
requirements, such as the filing of clients for allowable costs under a reimbursement program.

Sales of Future Revenues and Intra-Entity Transfers of Future Revenues

Sales of future revenues. In a sale of future revenues, the transferor government should
report the proceeds as a deferred inflow of resources in both the government-wide and fund
financial statements except for instances wherein recognition as revenue in the period of sale is
appropriate.

Intra-entity transfers of future revenues. When accounting for intra-entity transfers of
future revenues, a transferee government should not recognize an asset and related revenue until
recognition criteria appropriate to that type of revenue are met. Instead, the transferee
government should report the amount paid as a deferred outflow of resources to be recognized
over the duration of the transfer agreement. The transferor government should report the
amount received from the intra-entity transfer as a deferred inflow of resources in its
government-wide and fund financial statements and recognize the amount as revenue over
the duration of the transfer agreement.

Deferred inflows of resources and deferred outflows of resources resulting from intra-entity
transfers of future revenues and the periodic recognition of those balances as revenue and expense/
expenditure should be accounted for similarly to internal balances and intra-entity activity within
the financial reporting entity.

Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs include all costs incurred to issue the bonds, including but not limited to
insurance costs (net of rebates from the old debt, if any), financing costs (such as rating agency
fees), and other related costs (such as printing, legal, administrative, and trustee expenses). Debt
issuance costs, except any portion related to prepaid insurance costs (net of any rebates from the
old debt), should be recognized as an expense in the period incurred. Prepaid insurance costs
should be reported as an asset and recognized as an expense in a systematic and rational manner
over the life of the related debt.

NOTE: This provision of GASBS 65 has resulted in many governments that previously (and correctly)
reported debt issuance costs as assets and then amortized them to expense now having to restate their prior
year financial statements to reflect these costs as if they had been expensed in the year incurred. While much
of GASBS 63 and GASBS 65 involved display issues of presenting deferred inflows and outflows separately
from assets and liabilities, this particular requirement for debt issuance costs actually impacts net position.
The caution is that GASBS 65 not only requires certain former assets and liabilities to be recorded as
deferred outflows and inflows of resources, but also requires some former assets and liabilities to be treated
as expenses or revenue in the period incurred or earned.
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Leases

Initial direct costs of operating leases. The lessor should recognize initial direct costs of an
operating lease as expense/expenditure in the period incurred.

Sale-leaseback transactions. The gain or loss on the sale of property that is accompanied by a
leaseback of all or any part of the property for all or part of its remaining economic life should be
recorded as a deferred inflow of resources or a deferred outflow of resources, respectively, and
recognized in a systematic and rational manner over the arrangement in proportion to the recognition
of the lease asset if a capital lease, or in proportion to the related gross rental charged to expense/
expenditure over the lease term if an operating lease, subject to certain exceptions.

Acquisition Costs Related to Insurance Activities

Acquisition costs related to insurance activities should be recognized as expense in the period
incurred.

Lending Activities

Lending, committing to lend, refinancing or restructuring loans, arranging standby letters of
credit, and leasing activities are lending activities for purpose of applying these requirements.

Loan origination fees and costs. Loan origination fees, except any portion related to points,
should be recognized as revenue in the period received. Points received by a lender in relation to a
loan origination should be reported as a deferred inflow of resources and recognized as revenue in
a systematic and rational manner. Direct loan origination costs should be recognized as expense in
the period incurred.

Commitment fees. Except as set forth in items 1 and 2 below, fees received for a commitment
to originate or purchase a loan or group of loans should be recorded as a liability and, if the
commitment is exercised, recognized as revenue in the period of exercise. If the commitment
expires unexercised, the commitment fees should be recognized as revenue upon expiration of the
commitment.

1. If the government’s experience with similar arrangements indicates that the likelihood that
the commitment will be exercised is remote, the commitment fee should be recognized as
revenue in the period received.

2. If the amount of the commitment fee is determined retrospectively as a percentage of the
line of credit available but unused in a previous period, and if that percentage is nominal in
relation to the state interest rate on any related borrowing, and, finally, if that borrowing
will bear a market interest rate at the date the loan is made, the commitment fee should be
recognized as revenue as of the determination date.

Purchase of a loan or group of loans. Any fees paid or any fees received related to this
purchase should be recognized as expense or revenue, respectively, in the period that the loan(s)
was purchased.

Mortgage Banking Activities

Similar to lending activities, mortgage banking activities may include the receipt or payment
of nonrefundable loan and commitment fees representing compensation for a variety of services.
Loan origination fees and costs. If the loan is held for investment, loan origination fees,
except any portion related to points, and the direct loan origination costs should be recognized as
revenue or expense, respectively, in the period the loan is originated. Points received by a lender in
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relation to a loan held for investment should be reported as a deferred inflow of resources and
recognized as revenue, in a systematic and rational manner. If the loan is held for sale, origination
fees, including any portion related to points, and direct loan origination costs should be recorded
as a deferred inflow of resources and a deferred outflow of resources, respectively, until the related
loan is sold. Once the related loan is sold, the amount reported as a deferred inflow of resources
related to the loan origination fees, including any portion related to points, and the amount
reported as a deferred outflow of resources related to the direct loan origination costs should be
recognized as revenue and expense, respectively, in the period of sale.

Fees relating to loans held for sale. Fees received for guaranteeing the funding of mortgage
loans to borrowers, builders, or developers should be accounted for as described above for
commitment fees. Fees paid to permanent investors to ensure the ultimate sale of the loans
(residential or commercial loan commitment fees) should be recognized as expense in the period
when the loans are sold to permanent investors or when it becomes evident the commitment will
not be used. Prior to the sale of the loans, the fees paid to permanent investors should be recorded
as a deferred outflow of resources until the sale of the loan occurs.

Regulated Operations

General standards of accounting for the effects of regulation. The result of rate actions of a
regulator can result in a liability or a deferred inflow of resources being imposed on a regulated
business-type activity. Liabilities are usually obligations to the regulated business-type activity.
Liabilities are usually obligations to the regulated business-type activity’s customer and deferred
inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position from the regulated business-type
activity’s customers that are applicable to a future reporting period. The usual ways in which a
transaction results in a liability or a deferred inflow of resources and the resulting accounting are as
follows:

1. A regulator may require refunds to customers. Refunds that meet the criteria for accrual of
loss contingencies should be recorded as liabilities and as reductions of revenue or as
expenses of the regulated business-type activity.

2. A regulator can establish current rates intended to recover costs that are expected to be
incurred in the future with the understanding that if those costs are not incurred, future
rates will be reduced by corresponding amounts. If current rates are intended to recover
such costs and the regulator requires the regulated business-type activity to remain
accountable for any amounts charged pursuant to such rates and not yet expended for the
intended purpose, the regulated business-type activity should not recognize as revenues
amounts charged pursuant to such rates. Those amounts should be recorded as a deferred
inflow of resources and recognized as revenue when the associated costs are incurred.

3. A regulator can require that a gain or other reduction of net allowable costs be given to
customers over future periods. That would be accomplished, for rate-making purposes, by
allocating in a systematic and rational manner, the gain or other reduction of net allowable
costs over those future periods and adjusting rates to reduce revenues in approximately the
amount of the allocation. If a gain or other reduction of net allowable costs is to be
allocated over future periods for rate-making purposes, the regulated business-type
activity should not recognize that gain or other reduction of net allowable costs in the
current period. Instead, it should be recorded as a deferred inflow of resources for future
reductions of charges to customers that are expected to result.
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Revenue Recognition in Governmental Funds

Revenue and other governmental fund financial resources should be recognized in the
accounting period in which they become both measurable and available. When an asset is recorded
in governmental fund financial statements but the revenue is not available, the government should
report a deferred inflow of resources until such time as the revenue becomes available.

NOTE: This will likely be a common instance for many general purpose governments. For example, for real
estate tax receivables that are not expected to be received within the 60 day “available” window, a
corresponding deferred revenue (liability) was recorded. Under GASBS 65, the corresponding amount will
not be a deferred revenue (liability), rather it will be a deferred inflow of resources. There are likely to be
other revenue streams that will have a similar treatment as well.

In addition to the guidance on specific items above, GASBS 65 also provides the following
more general guidance.

Use of the term deferred. The use of the term deferred should be limited to deferred outflows
of resources or deferred inflows of resources.

Major fund criteria. Assets should be combined with deferred outflows of resources and
liabilities should be combined with deferred inflows of resources for purpose of determining which
elements meet the criteria for major fund determination as set forth in Statement 34, as amended.

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT

As described in the beginning section of this chapter, the basic financial statements and
required supplementary information (BFS) under GASBS 34 constitute a significant component
of a state or local government’s comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR). The BFS,
however, represent only one part of the CAFR. The CAFR contains additional sections that are
important components of a government’s external financial reporting.

One of the more challenging aspects of preparing a CAFR can be to distinguish the
requirements of GAAP and the requirements of the GFOA’s Certificate of Achievement for
Excellence in Financial Reporting Program (Certificate of Achievement). As described in
Chapter 2 detailing the history of accounting standards setting for governments, the GFOA
and its predecessor organizations were at one time the accounting standards-setting bodies. When
this role was assumed by the GASB, the GFOA refocused its issuance of documents to set the
requirements for its Certificate of Achievement program. The Certificate of Achievement program
has a number of detailed requirements for the CAFR that are not requirements of the GASB and
GAAP. The Certificate of Achievement requirements for financial statements are included in the
GFOA’s Governmental Accounting, Auditing, and Financial Reporting (GAAFR) and subse-
quent revisions.

The GASB has updated the requirements of a CAFR prepared in accordance with GAAP
through GASB Statement 44, Economic Condition Reporting: The Statistical Section—An
Amendment of NCGA Statement 1, that will change the requirements for CAFR’s statistical
section upon implementation. GASBS 44’s requirements are included in this chapter.

A government desiring to meet only the requirements of GAAP need only meet the
requirements for the CAFR specified by the GASB. In this case, the government might still
use the guidance of the GAAFR as level 4 guidance in the hierarchy of GAAP for governments.
The GAAFR presents many instances and examples that constitute industry practices that are
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widely recognized as acceptable and are often the prevalent practice of an accounting or disclosure
treatment used by state or local governments.

A government desiring to meet the requirements of the Certificate of Achievement program
will need to prepare a CAFR in compliance with both GASB and GAAFR standards.

This book describes the characteristics and contents of a CAFR as required by GAAP as
promulgated by the GASB. This guidance is supplemented with more substantive suggestions
contained in the GAAFR. Where possible, a distinction is made between the requirements of
GAAP and those of the Certificate of Achievement program.

CAFR Requirements

What should constitute a government’s annual financial report—a CAFR or that part of the
CAFR known as the basic financial statements? The GASB concludes that, while no governmental
financial statements are actually required, the annual financial report of a government should be
presented as a comprehensive annual financial report—a CAFR.

The GASB does not preclude a government, however, from issuing basic financial
statements separately from the CAFR. Basic financial statements are often issued for inclusion
in official statements on bond offerings and are sometimes used for wide distribution to users
who require less detailed information about a government’s finances than is contained in the
CAFR. A transmittal letter from the government accompanying the separately issued BFS
should inform users of the availability of the CAFR for those requiring more detailed
information.

The CAFR should encompass all funds of the primary government, including its blended
component units. The CAFR also encompasses all of the discretely presented component units of
the reporting entity.

The CAFR should contain:

e The basic financial statements, including any required supplementary information.

¢ Combining statements for the nonmajor funds of the primary government, including
its blended component units. For GAAFR purposes, the combining statements present
information for nonmajor funds and component units, since information on the major
funds and major component units is presented in the basic financial statements.

¢ Individual fund statements and schedules for the funds of the primary government,
including its blended component units.

¢ Introductory, supplementary, and statistical information.

¢ Schedules needed to demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal and contractual
provisions.

The general outline and minimum content of the CAFR specified by the GASB Codification
are as follows:

I. Introductory section—includes table of contents, letter of transmittal, and other material
deemed appropriate by management.
II. Financial section—includes the following:

e Auditor’s report.
¢ Basic financial statements, including any required supplementary information.
¢ Combining nonmajor fund or component unit statements and schedules.

III. Statistical tables.
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The GAAFR provides much more detailed information on each of these sections of the CAFR.
The following pages use the more substantive guidance of the GAAFR to assist the reader in
understanding the detailed information included in the three main sections of the CAFR listed above.

NOTE: Not all of the detailed requirements for the Certificate of Achievement program are included in the
following discussion; only the more substantive requirements are included. For example, the GAAFR
specifies the contents of the title page of the CAFR. The following discussion does not include these detailed
comments, because they can easily be obtained directly from the GAAFR or from the checklist used to qualify
CAFRs that received the Certificate of Achievement. On the other hand, the GAAFR describes what should be
included, at a minimum, in the letter of transmittal. This is a substantive contribution to the contents of the
CAFR and is included in the following discussion.

Introductory section. The introductory section is generally excluded from the scope of the
independent audit. This section includes the following:

e Report cover and title page.

e Table of contents. This table should list the various statements and schedules included in
the CAFR, broken down by location in the introductory, financial, and statistical sections.
In addition, the table of contents should clearly indicate which financial statements
constitute the BFS and should also make clear that the notes to the financial statements are
a part of the BFS.

e Letter of transmittal. The GASB requires that the introductory section include a letter of
transmittal, but the GAAFR provides significant guidance on the topics to include in the
letter of transmittal.

The letter of transmittal requirements in the GAAFR are significantly different from those of
the previous GAAFR because a fair amount of the content that was previously required in the letter
of transmittal is now part of MD&A, and the GFOA suggests that duplication of information in the
letter of transmittal and MD&A must be avoided. Accordingly, the following are the basic
requirements for the letter of transmittal as contained in the GAAFR:

¢ Formal transmittal of the CAFR. This section is the actual communication of the CAFR to
its intended users. For example, the letter of transmittal might cite the legal requirements
for preparing the CAFR and then indicate that the submission of the CAFR is in fulfillment
of those requirements. Other topics that are suggested for inclusion are:

¢ Management’s framework of internal controls.

e Independent audit of the financial statements, including limitations inherent in a
financial statement audit.

e Reference to other independent auditor reports, such as those resulting from a single
audit of federal awards programs.

e Direction of readers’ attention to the MD&A contained in the financial section of the
CAFR.

e Profile of the government. This would include a brief description of the government’s
structure and the types of services it provides. This section might also briefly discuss the
inclusion of component units and the budget process.

e Information useful in assessing the government’s financial position. The GAAFR
distinguishes financial condition from financial position in that financial condition focuses
on both existing and future resources and claims on those resources. Because this future-
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looking information is generally precluded from inclusion in the MD&A, the letter of
transmittal should serve as a vehicle to discuss these subjective factors affecting financial
condition. The GAAFR specifically lists the following subtopics that would be included in
this section of the transmittal letter:

e Local economy.

¢ Long-term financial planning.

¢ (Cash management and investments.
e Risk financing.

e Pension benefits.

¢ Postemployment benefits.

e Awards and acknowledgments. This would include any Certificate of Achievement from
the GFOA received by the previous year’s CAFR, as well as other awards and acknowl-
edgments of those contributing to the preparation of the CAFR.

NOTE: Letters of transmittal for governments can be made more useful if the “cookbook” approach of taking
wording directly out of the GAAFR is avoided. While the sample transmittal letter contained in the GAAFR is a
useful guide for governments, the writer of the actual transmittal letter should customize the letter to the actual
circumstances of the government. This is particularly true if there are topics of unique importance to a
particular government that are not included in the GAAFR’s sample transmittal letter. Reporting on these topics
in the transmittal letter is likely to improve the reader’s understanding of the government and its finances.

The GASB encourages governments to include “other material deemed appropriate by
management” in the introductory section. The GAAFR includes the following suggestions:

¢ A reproduction of the Certificate of Achievement on the prior year’s financial statements,
if this award was in fact obtained.

e A list of the principal officials of the government.

¢ An organizational chart of the government showing the assignment of responsibilities of
personnel.

e Audit committee letter that may be issued by a government’s audit committee.

Financial section. The financial section of the CAFR is composed of these main components:

¢ The independent auditor’s report.

e Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A).

e The basic financial statements.

¢ Required supplementary information (RSI).

e The combining and individual nonmajor fund and component unit financial statements
and schedules.

The following discussion provides additional detail on the independent auditor’s report and
the combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules. The contents of the
general-purpose and basic financial statements and MD&A were described in detail in the
previous sections of this chapter and RSI is discussed in other chapters of this book.

Independent auditor’s report. The independent auditor’s report should be the first item
included in the financial section of the CAFR preceding MD&A. The independent auditor should
report on whether the financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with GAAP. The
auditor may also provide an opinion on the combining financial statements and schedules “in
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relation to” the financial statements (this “in relation to” coverage of the combining is required for
the Certificate of Achievement program). The auditor should also indicate whether he or she has
audited the other financial information in the CAFR. The independent auditor generally indicates
that the information in the statistical section of the CAFR has not been audited.

Combining and individual nonmajor fund and nonmajor component unit financial
statements and schedules. As mentioned earlier, the combining and individual fund financial
information prepared in a CAFR after implementation of GASBS 34 focuses on information about
nonmajor fund and nonmajor component unit financial information, rather than information about
fund types that was previously reported. Since the basic financial statements provide information
about major funds, the GAAFR uses the combining and individual fund presentation to complete
the financial reporting picture by providing information about nonmajor funds and nonmajor
component units. A government with a full range of fund types and component units would
conceivably have the following sets of combining statements:

e Nonmajor governmental funds.

¢ Nonmajor enterprise funds.

¢ Internal service funds.

e Private-purpose trust funds.

e Pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds.
¢ Investment trust funds.

e Agency funds.

e Nonmajor discretely presented component units.

Note that using these combining statements of nonmajor funds, for example, governmental
funds, combines nonmajor funds of more than one fund type. The GAAFR suggests that columnar
headings be used on these combining statements to identify the fund type of each individual fund
presented in that statement. In addition, when there are too many nonmajor funds to fit on a
particular combining statement, subcombining statements can be used, with the totals of the
subcombining statements carrying forward to the combining statements. Note that if subcombin-
ing statements are used, breaking the subcombining statements into fund types would appear to be
a good way to preserve some of the nonmajor fund-type information within the combining
statement section.

The GAAFR presents the following examples of situations where individual fund financial
presentations would need to be included in this section:

e Budgetary comparisons not required in connection with the basic financial statements.
While budgetary comparisons statements are required in the basic financial statements for
the general fund and major special revenue funds that adopt budgets, CAFR budgetary
comparisons are required for any other individual governmental fund for which annual
appropriated budgets have been adopted.

e Detailed budgetary comparisons for the general fund and major individual funds.
Governments that prepare CAFRS are required to present budgetary comparisons at a
level of detail sufficient to demonstrate legal compliance. Additional individual fund
financial presentations would be included in this section to meet this requirement.

e Comparative data. Individual fund presentations in the financial section of the CAFR are
often used by governments to present comparative financial data.

e QGreater detail. Governments may use the individual fund presentations to present
information about individual funds.
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The GAAFR also specifies that governments may also present supplementary information
that is believed to be useful to financial statement readers, such as cash receipt and disbursements
information for the general fund, and this information should be included in the financial section if
so desired by the government.

Statistical tables. The third section of the CAFR is the statistical section. The statistical
section provides both financial and nonfinancial information that is often very useful to investors,
creditors, and other CAFR users. The statistical section presents certain information on a trend
basis; that is, summary information is provided for each year in a ten-year period.

The GASB issued GASBS 44 to address the schedules and other disclosures that are
contained in the statistical section of the CAFR prepared by governments. GASBS 44 only
addresses disclosures that are required when a government prepares a CAFR.

The GASB addressed the statistical section to consider and incorporate information relating to
the government-wide financial statements. In addition, the requirements for the statistical section
had not been addressed for a long period of time and were in need of refreshing.

Some of the schedules that are described below are the same as those previously required in
statistical sections of CAFRs. One important feature of GASBS 44, however, is that there are more
specific requirements for each schedule than had existed in the past. For example, a government
may be currently providing a schedule of property tax levies and collections. GASBS 44 has
specific instructions for preparing this schedule, which a government’s previous schedule may not
meet. The GASB deliberately included these specific instructions and requirements to facilitate the
comparability of reports among different governments.

As will be described later, GASBS 44 also requires narrative explanations to be included in
the statistical section. The requirements are very general as to when an explanation is required and
will require a fair amount of judgment on the part of a government to implement.

From an implementation perspective, GASBS 44 has many requirements that will take a fair
level of effort to interpret and implement. It encourages, but very importantly does not require, any
retroactive restatement of information from years prior to implementation.

GASBS 44 describes five categories of information in which ten-year trend information is to
be presented. The information should focus on the primary government, including blended
component units. However, GASBS 44 acknowledges that providing additional information about
individual discretely presented component units may be advantageous in providing information
about the economic condition of a government.

The following summarizes the five categories of information and lists the statistical tables that
would be required for each:

1. Financial trends information. This category is intended to help understand and
assess how a government’s financial position has changed over time. The required
schedules are:

¢ Information about net position, presented for each of the three categories of net position
(invested in capital assets net of related debt, restricted and unrestricted) for govern-
mental activities, business-type activities, and the total primary government.

¢ Information about changes in net position that includes expenses, program revenues,
and net (expense) revenue by function or program, general revenues, and other changes
in net position, along with a total change in net position. The most significant charges
for services revenue should also be presented, categorized by function, program, or
identifiable activity.

¢ Information about governmental funds including:
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¢ Reserved and unreserved fund balances for both the general fund and all other
governmental funds in the aggregate.
¢ For total governmental funds, the following should be presented:

¢ Revenues by source.

¢ Expenditures by function.

e Other financing sources and uses, and other changes in fund balance.
e Total change in fund balances.

Interest and principal components of debt service expenditures should be shown
separately.

2. Revenue capacity information. This information is intended to help understand and
assess the factors affecting a government’s ability to generate its own-source revenues by
providing information about a government’s most significant own-source revenue. The
required schedules are:

Information about revenue bases shown by major component, such as real and personal
property, including the total direct rate applied to the revenue base.

Information about revenue rates applied by the government to the revenue base.
Information about principal revenue payers.

Information about property tax levies and collections, including:

e The amount levied for the period.

e The amount collected prior to the end of that period and the percentage of the total
levy that amount represents.

o The amount of the levy collected in subsequent years, the total amount collected to
date, and the percentage of the total levy that has been collected year to date.

3. Debt capacity information. This information is intended to help understand and assess
a government’s debt burden and its ability to issue additional debt. The required
schedules are:

Information about ratios of outstanding debt for each type of debt and divided between
debt for governmental activities and business-type activities. The ratio of outstanding
debt to total personal income should also be presented.

Information about ratios of general bonded debt. The ratio of general bonded debt to
the total estimated value of property should be presented if the debt is to be repaid with
property taxes. An alternative revenue base should be used when bonded debt is not
repaid with property taxes.

Information about direct and overlapping debt.

Information about debt limitations, including the relevant revenue base, debt limit
amount, debt applicable to the limit and legal debt margin amount.

Information about pledged-revenue coverage for nongeneral obligation debt that is
secured by a pledge of a specific revenue stream. Government should present gross
revenues, principal and interest requirements, and a coverage ratio.

4. Demographic and economic information. This information is intended to help under-
stand the socioeconomic environment within which a government operates and to provide
information that enables comparisons of financial statement information over time and
among governments. The required schedules are:
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e Demographic and economic information, including population, personal income, per
capita personal income, and unemployment rates.

¢ Information about principal employers for the current year and the period nine years
prior.

5. Operating information. This information is intended to provide information about a

government’s operations and resources to assist in understanding a government’s eco-
nomic condition. The required schedules are:

¢ Information about government employees, including the number of persons employed
by function, program, or identifiable activity.

¢ Information about operating indicators by function, program, or identifiable activities
presents indicators of the demand for services or the level of services provided.

¢ Information about capital assets, including indicators of the volume, usage, or nature of
capital assets by function, program, or identifiable activities.

Operating information for each individual pension and other postemployment benefit plan
should be presented that includes:

Information about retired members by type of benefit for the current year.

Information about the average monthly benefit, average final salary, and number of retired
members.

For multiemployer plans, information about the principal participating employers, the
number of covered employees each has, and the percentage of total covered employees
that each represents.

Narrative Explanations

One of the more important changes resulting from GASBS 44 is the requirement to include
narrative explanations in the statistical section. Explanations should be analytical in nature, but
may be data explanations as well. GASBS 44 states that judgment should be used in deciding
whether to present narrative explanations and, if so, what type of explanation and its extent. The
four types of explanations listed in GASBS 44 are:

Explanations of the objects of statistical information in general and the five categories of
statistical information, as well as individual schedules, if appropriate.

Explanations of basic concepts that may be unfamiliar to users of the statements.
Explanations that identify relationships between information in various statistical schedules,
as well as between the statistical schedule and information in other sections of the report.
Explanations of atypical trends and anomalous data that users of the report would not
otherwise understand.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT PREPARATION AND REPORTING

The cash flow statement prepared by governments differs from those of a commercial
enterprise in three basic ways:

Not all of the fund types that are reported by the governmental entity are required to
prepare a cash flow statement. A cash flow statement of a commercial enterprise would
include all of the operations of the enterprise.
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¢ Differences exist in the categorization of cash receipts and cash disbursements and in
some of the related disclosure requirements.

¢ Governmental entities that are required by GASBS 34 to present a cash flow statement
must use the direct method, which is explained later in this chapter.

The following paragraphs provide detailed guidance on when a cash flow statement is
required and how a cash flow statement for a governmental entity is prepared.

When Is a Cash Flow Statement Required?

Generally, a cash flow statement is required for each period that an operating statement is
presented in the government’s financial statements. However, not all of the fund types must be
included in the statement of cash flows. Statements of cash flows must be prepared for proprietary
funds and special-purpose governments that are engaged in business-type activities, such as public
benefit corporations and authorities, governmental utilities, governmental hospitals and other
health care providers, and governmental colleges and universities. Public employee retirement
systems (PERS) and pension and other employee benefit trust funds are exempt from the
requirement to present a statement of cash flows. PERS and pension trust funds are not precluded,
however, from presenting a statement of cash flows. A government-wide cash flow statement is
not required by GASBS 34.

For purposes of this book, the entities that are required to prepare a statement of cash flows
will be referred to as governmental enterprises. This is for convenience, but also for consistency
with GASBS 9, Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and
Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting.

Objectives of the Statement of Cash Flows

In presenting a statement of cash flows, the preparer of the government’s financial statements
should keep in mind the purpose of the statement of cash flows. GASBS 9 highlights that the
information about cash receipts and disbursements presented in a statement of cash flows is
designed to help the reader of the financial statements assess (1) an entity’s ability to generate
future net cash flows, (2) its ability to meet its obligations as they come due, (3) its needs for
external financing, (4) the reasons for differences between operating income or net income, if
operating income is not separately identified on the operating statement, and (5) the effects of the
entity’s financial position on both its cash and its noncash investing, capital, and financing
transactions during the period.

Cash and Cash Equivalents Definitions

While a statement of cash flows refers to and focuses on cash, included in the definition of the
term cash for purposes of preparing the statement are cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are short-
term, liquid investments that are so close to cash in characteristics that for purposes of preparing
the statement of cash flows, they should be treated as if they were cash.

GASBS 9 provides specific guidance as to what financial instruments should be considered
cash equivalents for the purposes of preparing a statement of cash flows. Cash equivalents are
defined as short-term, highly liquid investments that are:

¢ Readily convertible to known amounts of cash.
e So near their maturity that they present insignificant risk of changes in value because of
changes in interest rates.
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In general, only those investments with original maturities of three months or less are
considered in GASBS 9 to meet this definition. Original maturity means the maturity to the entity
holding the investment. Under GASBS 9, both a three-month US Treasury bill and a three-year
Treasury note purchased three months from maturity qualify as cash equivalents. On the other
hand, if the three-month US Treasury note was purchased three years ago, it does not become a
cash equivalent as time passes and it only has three months left until maturity.

Common examples of cash equivalents are Treasury bills, commercial paper, certificates of
deposit, money-market funds, and cash management pools. When these cash equivalents are
purchased and sold during the year as part of the entity’s cash management practices, these
purchases and sales are not reported as cash inflows or outflows on the statement of cash flows. To
do so would artificially inflate inflows and outflows of cash that are reported.

The total amount of cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and end of the period shown in
the statement of cash flows should be easily traceable to similarly titled line items or subtotals
shown in the statement of financial position as of the same dates. Cash and cash equivalents are
included in the statement of cash flows regardless of whether there are restrictions on their use.
Accordingly, when comparing the cash and cash equivalents on the statement of financial position
with the statement of cash flows, both restricted and unrestricted cash and cash equivalents on the
statement of financial position must be considered.

The governmental enterprise should establish an accounting policy on which securities will
be considered cash equivalents within the boundaries established above. In other words, a
governmental entity may establish an accounting policy that is more restrictive than that permitted
by GASBS 9 regarding what is considered a cash equivalent. The accounting policy should be
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

NOTE: Given that transactions involving purchases and sales of cash equivalents are not reported as
cash inflows and outflows on the statement of cash flows, a more restrictive policy on the definition of a
cash equivalent under GASBS 9 will result in more transactions being reported in the statement of cash
flows as purchases and sales of securities. This “inflation” of the amounts on the statement of cash flows
should be considered by the governmental entity when establishing its accounting policy for defining cash
equivalents.

Classification of Cash Receipts and Cash Disbursements

A statement of cash flows should classify cash receipts and disbursements into the following
categories:

e (Cash flows from operating activities.

¢ Cash flows from noncapital financing activities.

e Cash flows from capital and related financing activities.
¢ Cash flows from investing activities.

Gross and net cash flows. In applying the categorization of cash flows into these
classifications, governmental enterprises should consider that the GASB concluded that reporting
gross cash receipts and payments during a period is more relevant than information about the net
amount of cash receipts and payments. However, the net amount of cash receipts and disburse-
ments provides sufficient information in certain instances that GASBS 9 permits “net” reporting
rather than displaying the gross amounts of cash receipts and cash payments. These specific
instances are as follows:
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Transactions for the purchase and sale of cash equivalents as part of the cash management
activities of the governmental enterprise may be reported as net amounts.

Items that qualify for net reporting because of their quick turnovers, large amounts, and
short maturities are cash receipts and disbursements relating to investments (other than
cash equivalents), loans receivable, and debt, provided that the original maturity of the
asset or liability is three months or less. (Amounts that are due on demand meet the
requirement of having a maturity of three months or less.)

In certain circumstances, governmental enterprises may report the net purchases and sales
of their highly liquid investments rather than report the gross amounts. These requirements
are somewhat onerous and one would not expect many governmental enterprises to meet
this circumstance when net reporting would be permitted. Such net reporting is allowed if
both of the following conditions are met:

¢ During the period, substantially all of the governmental enterprise’s assets were highly
liquid investments, such as marketable securities and other assets for which a market is
readily determinable.

e The government enterprise had little or no debt, based on average debt outstanding
during the period, in relation to average total assets.

The following paragraphs provide guidance on classifying transactions into these categories
and provide examples of the types of cash inflows and outflows that should be classified.

Cash flows from operating activities. Operating activities generally result from providing
services and producing and delivering goods. On the other hand, operating activities include all
transactions and other events that are not defined as capital and related financing, noncapital
financing, or investing activities, and therefore could be viewed as a “catchall” for transactions that
don’t meet the definition of the other cash flow classifications. Cash flows from operating activities
are generally the cash effects of transactions and other events that enter into the determination of
operating income. Although operating income is not defined in the literature for governments, it is
generally agreed to represent operating revenues less operating expenses.

GASBS 9 provides the following examples of cash inflows from operating activities:

Cash inflows from sales of goods and services, including receipts from collection of
accounts receivable and both short- and long-term notes receivable arising from those
sales.

Cash receipts from quasi-external operating activities with other funds.

Cash receipts from grants for specific activities considered to be operating activities of the
grantor government. (A grant agreement of this type is considered to be essentially the
same as a contract for services.)

Cash receipts from other funds for reimbursement of operating transactions.

All other cash receipts that do not result from transactions defined as capital and related
financing, noncapital financing, or investing activities.

Some examples of cash outflows from operating activities are the following:

Cash payments to acquire materials for providing services and manufacturing goods for
resale, including principal payments on accounts payable and both short- and long-term
notes payable to suppliers for those materials or goods.

Cash payments to other suppliers for other goods or services.

Cash payments to employees for services.



Chapter 9 / Financial Statements Prepared by Governments 163

e Cash payments for grants to other governments or organizations for specific activities
considered to be operating activities of the grantor government.

e Cash payments for taxes, duties, fines, and other fees or penalties.

e (Cash payments for quasi-external operating transactions with other funds, including
payments in lieu of taxes.

¢ All other cash payments that do not result from transactions defined as capital and related
financing, noncapital financing, or investing activities.

In addition to the cash flows described above, the government may also need to consider some
of its loan programs as having cash flows from operations if the loan programs themselves are
considered part of the operating activities of the governmental enterprise. For example, program-
type loans such as low-income housing mortgages or student loans are considered part of a
governmental enterprise’s program in that they are undertaken to fulfill a governmental enter-
prise’s responsibility. Accordingly, the cash flows from these types of loan activities would be
considered operating activities, rather than investing activities, the category in which loan cash
flows are included.

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities. As its title indicates, cash flows from
noncapital financing activities include borrowing money for purposes other than to acquire,
construct, or improve capital assets and repaying those amounts borrowed, including interest. This
category should include proceeds from all borrowings, including revenue anticipation notes not
clearly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of capital assets, regardless of
the form of the borrowing. In addition, this classification of cash flows should include certain other
interfund and intergovernmental receipts and payments.

GASBS 9 provides the following examples of cash inflows from noncapital financing activities:

e Proceeds from bonds, notes, and other short- or long-term borrowing not clearly
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of capital assets.

e (Cash receipts from grants or subsidies (such as those provided to finance operating
deficits), except those specifically restricted for capital purposes and specific activities that
are considered to be operating activities of the grantor government.

¢ Cash received from other funds except (1) those amounts that are clearly attributable to
acquisition, construction, or improvement of capital assets, (2) quasi-external operating
transactions, and (3) reimbursement for operating transactions.

e (Cashreceived from property and other taxes collected for the governmental enterprise and
not specifically restricted for capital purposes.

Examples of cash outflows for noncapital purposes include the following:

e Repayments of amounts borrowed for purposes other than acquiring, constructing, or
improving capital assets.

¢ Interest payments to lenders and other creditors on amounts borrowed or credit extended
for purposes other than acquiring, constructing, or improving capital assets.

e Cash paid as grants or subsidies to other governments or organizations, except those for
specific activities that are considered to be operating activities for the grantor government.

e Cash paid to other funds, except for quasi-external operating transactions.

Special considerations are needed to properly classify grants made by a governmental
enterprise (the grantor). For the grantor’s classification purposes, it is irrelevant whether the
grantee uses the grant as an operating subsidy or for capital purposes. The grantor should classify
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all grants as noncapital financing activities, unless the grant is specifically considered to be part of
the operating activities of the grantor governmental enterprise.

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities. This classification of cash flows
includes those cash flows for (1) acquiring and disposing of capital assets used in providing
services or producing goods, (2) borrowing money for acquiring, constructing, or improving
capital assets and repaying the amounts borrowed, including interest, and (3) paying for capital
assets obtained from vendors on credit.

GASBS 9 includes the following examples of cash inflows from capital and related financing
activities:

¢ Proceeds from issuing or refunding bonds, mortgages, notes, and other short- or long-term
borrowing clearly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of capital
assets.

¢ Receipts from capital grants awarded to the governmental enterprise.

e Receipts from contributions made by other funds, other governments, and the cost of
acquiring, constructing, or improving capital assets.

¢ Receipts from sales of capital assets and the proceeds from insurance on capital assets that
are stolen or destroyed.

e Receipts from special assessments or property and other taxes levied specifically to
finance the construction, acquisition, or improvement of capital assets.

Examples of cash outflows for capital and related financing activities include the following:

e Payments to acquire, construct, or improve capital assets.

¢ Repayments or refundings of amounts borrowed specifically to acquire, construct, or
improve capital assets.

e Other principal payments to vendors who have extended credit to the governmental
enterprise directly for purposes of acquiring, constructing, or improving capital assets.

e Cash payments to lenders and other creditors for interest directly related to acquiring,
constructing, or improving capital assets.

NOTE: In determining whether cash flows are related to capital or noncapital activities, the financial
statement preparer should look to the substance of the transaction to determine proper classification. The
classification of the transaction in the balance sheet and statement of operations should indicate classifica-
tion in the statement of cash flows. (Is the asset capitalized on the balance sheet?) In addition, GASBS 9
provides specific guidance to assist in making this determination, discussed below.

Determining whether cash flows represent capital or noncapital activities. The classification of
cash flows as capital or noncapital activities is an important difference between the statements of cash
flows prepared by commercial organizations and those prepared by governmental enterprises. In most
cases, distinguishing between “capital and related financing” and “noncapital financing” is relatively
simple. For example, when a governmental enterprise uses mortgages, capital improvement bonds, or
time-payment arrangements to construct a capital asset, these financing activities clearly fall within
the category of capital and related financing activities. However, in some cases, the distinction is not
clear, and GASBS 9 provides limited guidance on making this determination. For example:

¢ Debt that is clearly attributable to capital construction, acquisition, or improvement should
be considered capital debt, and the debt proceeds should be classified as capital and related
financing.
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Debt that is not clearly attributable to capital construction, acquisition, or improvement
should be considered noncapital debt, and the debt proceeds and subsequent payments of
principal and interest should be classified as noncapital financing.

Principal and interest payments on debt that was issued to acquire, construct, or improve
capital assets that have been sold or otherwise disposed of should remain classified as
capital and related financing.

In a defeasance of debt, the proceeds of a debt issue used to provide proceeds that will be
set aside in a trust to pay the debt service on an existing issue of capital debt should be
reported as a cash inflow in the capital and related financing category, and the payment to
defease the existing capital debt should be reported as an outflow in that category.
Chapter 13 provides additional information on refundings and defeasances. Subsequent
principal and interest payments on the refunding debt should also be reported as cash
outflows in the capital category. An exception arises when the refunding issue is in excess
of the amount needed to refund the existing capital debt. In this situation, the total
proceeds and the subsequent principal and interest payments should be allocated between
the capital financing category and the noncapital financing category based on the amounts
used for capital and noncapital purposes.

Cash flows from investing activities. The final category of cash flows is cash flows from
investing activities. Investing activities include buying and selling debt and equity instruments and
making and collecting loans (except loans considered part of the governmental enterprise’s
operating activities, as described above).

GASBS 9 provides the following examples of cash inflows from investing activities:

Receipts from collections of loans (except program loans) made by the governmental
enterprise and sales of the debt instruments of other entities (other than cash equivalents)
that were purchased by the governmental enterprise.

Receipts from sales of equity instruments and from returns on the investments in those
instruments.

Interest and dividends received as returns on loans (except program loans), debt instru-
ments of other entities, equity securities, and cash management or investment pools.
Withdrawals from investment pools that the governmental enterprise is not using as
demand accounts.

Examples of cash outflows that should be categorized as cash flows from investing activities
include the following:

Disbursements for making loans (except program loans) made by the governmental
enterprise and payments to acquire debt instruments of other entities (other than cash
equivalents).

Payments to acquire equity instruments.

Deposits into investment pools that the governmental enterprise is not using as demand
accounts.

Direct Method of Reporting Cash Flows from Operating Activities

GASBS 34 requires the direct method of reporting cash flows from operating activities to be
used. The direct method reports the major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash payments;
the sum (the total receipts less the total payments) equals the net cash provided by operating
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activities. The term net cash used by operating activities should be used if the total of the gross
cash payments exceeds the amount of gross cash receipts. Governmental enterprises that use the
direct method should report separately, at a minimum, the following classes of operating cash
receipts and payments, where applicable:

e (Cash receipts from customers.

e Cash receipts from interfund services provided.

e Other operating cash receipts, if any.

e (Cash payments to employees for services.

e (Cash payments to other suppliers of goods or services.

e Cash payments for interfund services used, including payments in lieu of taxes that are
payments for, and reasonably equivalent in value to, services provided.

e Other operating cash payments, if any.

In addition to the minimum classes listed above, the GASB encourages governmental enter-
prises to provide further detail of operating cash receipts and cash payments if it is considered useful.

When governmental enterprises use the direct method as described above, the statement of
cash flows should also present a reconciliation between the net cash flows provided or used by
operations with the amount of net operating income. This reconciliation requires adjusting
operating income to remove the effects of depreciation, amortization, or other deferrals of
past operating cash receipts and payments, such as changes during the period in inventory,
deferred revenue, and similar accounts. In addition, accruals of expected future operating cash
receipts and payments must be reflected, including changes in receivables and payables.

The governmental enterprise may also present a reconciliation of net cash flows provided by
or used by operations to net income if an amount for operating income is not separately identified
on the statement of operations.

Format of the Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows should report net cash provided or used by each of the four
categories described above. The total of the net effects of each of the four categories should
reconcile the beginning and ending cash balances reported in the statement of financial position.
The following paragraphs describe some additional formatting and disclosure requirements that
the financial statement preparer should consider when preparing a statement of cash flows.

¢ Cash inflows and outflows in the capital financing, noncapital financing, and investing
activities categories should be shown in the statement of cash flows on a gross, not a net,
basis. In other words, payments for purchases of capital assets would be shown separately
from the proceeds of the sales of capital assets. The statement of cash flows should report
the two gross amounts, not a line such as “net increase in capital assets.” Similarly, the
amounts of repayments of debt should be reported separately from the amounts of new
borrowings.

¢ Statements of cash flows for individual funds should report the gross amounts of interfund
transfers in the appropriate categories using the guidance described above. On the other
hand, interfund transfers may be eliminated in the combined and combining statements of
cash flows for all proprietary funds if the interfund transfers are also eliminated in the
combining process for other financial statements.

e Disclosures of information about noncash activities. GASBS 9 requires that information
about all investing, capital, and financing activities of a governmental enterprise during a
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period that affect recognized assets or liabilities but do not result in cash receipts or cash
payments in the period should be disclosed. The information should be presented in a
separate schedule that may be in either narrative or tabular format, and should clearly
describe the cash and noncash aspects of the transactions involving similar items.
Examples of noncash transactions are the acquisition of assets by assuming directly
related liabilities, obtaining an asset by entering into a capital lease, and exchanging
noncash assets or liabilities for other noncash assets or liabilities. If some transactions are
part cash and part noncash, the cash portion should be included in the statement of cash
flows. The noncash portion should be reported in the separate schedule described in this
paragraph.

SUMMARY

This chapter provided a broad summary of the financial reporting requirements of govern-
ments. The level and extent of the detailed reporting requirements included in governments’
CAFRs is extensive and presents a challenge to financial statement preparers and auditors.
Specific information about accounting and reporting for individual funds is provided in Chapters 4
through 8 and should be used in conjunction with the overview requirements presented in this
chapter.
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INTRODUCTION

Almost all organizations—governmental, commercial, or not-for-profit—operate using some
form of budgeting to ensure that resources are used in accordance with management’s intentions
and to facilitate obtaining results of operations consistent with management’s plans. In the
governmental environment, budgets take on greater importance, because they provide the
framework in which public resources are spent. From an accounting and financial reporting
viewpoint, budgets in government are a key component in achieving the accountability objective
described in Chapter 2. Budgets in government generally represent adopted law, which is far more
significant than simply a financial planning tool. Because many governments do not follow GAAP
to prepare their budgets, achieving the accountability objective by comparing a non-GAAP-based
budget with GAAP-based results presents some unique challenges. GASBS 34 affirmed the
importance of budgetary reporting by governments by incorporating such reporting, in certain
circumstances, into the financial reporting model of governments. These requirements are
described in this chapter.

This chapter provides an overview of the budgeting process in governments and highlights
the important areas in which budget information is incorporated into the financial statements of
governments.

BUDGET BACKGROUND

NCGAS 1, Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Principles, and NCGA
Interpretation 10 (NCGALI 10), State and Local Government Budgetary Reporting, provide useful
background information on the budgeting process typically found in state and local governments.
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One of the difficulties in understanding the budgeting process is the definition of a fypical
budgetary process, because it is the result of legislative actions, and accordingly, many
governmental units are far from typical. However, the following discussion provides sufficient
general information on the subject to enable governmental accountants and auditors to handle any
budgeting situation encountered in any particular state or local governmental unit.

There are various components of a governmental budget:

¢ Executive budget.
e Appropriated budget.
e Nonappropriated budget.

Executive Budget

The budgetary process typically begins with the preparation of an executive budget by the
executive branch of the government (for example, the governor, mayor, or county executive) for
submission to the legislature. NCGAI 10 defines the executive budget as “the aggregate of
information, proposals, and estimates prepared and submitted to the legislative body by the chief
executive and the budget office.” This budget represents the efforts of the chief executive to
accumulate and filter all of the budget requests for spending authority submitted by the various
agencies and departments of the government. It also includes estimates of the expected revenues
and other financing sources that will be used to pay for that spending authority. In addition to
specific agency requests, the executive budget should also reflect the executive branch’s
calculations of expenditures for required payments. For example, expenditures for debt service
are seldom at the discretion of the government in terms of amounts to be paid or whether the
payments will be made. Pension contributions are another example of expenditures that are
usually determined centrally by the executive branch.

Appropriated Budget

The executive branch usually submits the executive budget to the legislative branch of
the government. After discussion and negotiation between the executive branch and the
legislature, the legislature will pass the budget for signature by the executive branch. At this
point, the budget is known as an appropriated budget. NCGAI 10 defines an appropriated
budget as “the expenditure authority created by the appropriation bills or ordinances which
are signed into law and related estimated revenues. The appropriated budget would include all
reserves, transfers, allocations, supplemental appropriations, and other legally authorized
legislative and executive changes.” The importance of the appropriated budget is that it
contains the legally authorized level of expenditures (the appropriations) that the government
cannot legally exceed.

Nonappropriated Budget

Certain aspects of the government may operate under a financial plan that does not need to go
through the formal appropriations process described above. This type of budget is referred to as a
nonappropriated budget. A nonappropriated budget is defined by 